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PREFACE

HE account here published of the explorations of

David Thompson in the western parts of Canada

and the United States was written by Thompson
himself when he was about seventy years old and still in the
full possession of all his faculties, but after the active part of
his life-work was completed and when he had retired to
Montreal in the hope of enjoying his remaining years in
quietude. While he was writing this history of the portion
of his life in which he undoubtedly took the most interest,
he kept his note-books before him, and with their assistance
he retraced the scenes through which he had passed in the
days of his youth and strength. He tells his story with an
accuracy that has rarely been equalled in the case of an old
man who is recounting the experiences of his younger days.
I have carefully compared his narrative with his note-books,
written by him from day to day as he travelled through the
country, and in comparatively few instances were discrep-
ancies found ; where these occur they are indicated in the
notes at the bottom of the pages.

Part IT of the Narrative covers in detail the years 1807
to 1812, which were spent as a partner in the North-West
Company in the provinces of Alberta and British Columbia,
and the states of Montana, Idaho, and Washington, while
Part I is a more general account of his life while in the
employ of the Hudson’s Bay and North-West Companies
between the years 1784 and 1807, in the country from Lake
Superior and Hudson Bay westward to the Rocky Mountains.

It must be clearly understood, however, that this narrative
Xv b
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tells but a small part of the work accomplished by Thompson
during those twenty-eight years, being confined to a general
account of his travels and of the people and things encountered
by him. But Thompson, besides being an excellent traveller,
was an exceedingly accurate and methodical surveyor, and his
original note-books are largely occupied with mathematical
records of his surveys and of the astronomical observations
by which he filled out and checked those surveys. At the
same time they include extensive meteorological data and
partial vocabularies of many of the Indian tribes among
whom he dwelt.

The main features of his geographical work are recorded
on the large map reproduced with this volume, but the minor
topographic details, with which his note-books are overflowing,
can only be appreciated by reference to the note-books them-
selves. In the Itinerary, which I have included as a second
part of the Introduction in this volume, a bald statement of
the journeys and surveys accomplished by Thompson has
been given in detail year by year, without any attempt at
recording the incidents of his journeys. A thorough under-
standing of this Itinerary will make his own account more
interesting and intelligible.

The reader will quickly see that Thompson was a man of
great natural ability and strong moral character. His school
education had ceased when he was only fourteen years of age,
but he had been taught to spell and write, for his early hand-
writing is beautifully distinct and regular, and his spelling is
remarkably good for the time and circumstances in which he
lived. In character he was bold and fearless of consequences,
and therefore he early assumed the leadership among his
associates. This was shown when the traders and clerks in
the Hudson’s Bay Company, under the jurisdiction of York
Factory, were smarting under the obloquy heaped on them
by Joseph Colen, their Chief, and were afraid to protest
against such treatment until Thompson arrived from the

=/
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PREFACE Xvii
interior to lead them, although he was probably the youngest
among them.

He was constantly occupied, either mentally or physically.
Inactivity was utterly repugnant to him, but his activity was
always directed to some definite and useful purpose. He
worked hard to perform his duty as he saw it, and when it
was accomplished he gave the product of his work freely to
others, for there was no trace of self-seeking or vainglory in
his nature.

The second part of Thompson’s great life-work was
performed when, as Astronomer to the International Boundary
Commission under the Treaty of Ghent, he surveyed the
boundary line between British North America (Canada) and
the United States from St. Regis, Quebec, where the 45th
parallel of latitude strikes the St. Lawrence river, to the
north-west angle of the Lake of the Woods. This task was
accomplished between 1816 and 1826, and is not dealt with in
this volume.

The Narrative is here printed just as it was written by
Thompson himself, except that for the convenience of the
reader the liberty has been taken of altering the punctua-
tion slightly and of introducing some capital letters. In the
manuscript as received by me, several of the chapters of
Part I had been written twice in somewhat different form,
and in each case the one that appeared to have most merit
has been printed. However, only one set of Contents was
prepared by Thompson for these chapters, and in the case
of Chapter XX it has been necessary to use the contents
of the chapter that has not been printed for the one that
has been printed.

This narrative remained in Thompson’s hands until his
death in 1857, after which it passed to one of his sons, who
sold it to the late Mr. Charles Lindsey of Toronto. Mr.
Lindsey intended to edit it, and made a partial use of it in
preparing an account of the “ Extent of Country which the
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North-West Company occupied ™ in his Investigation of the
Unsettled Boundaries of Ontario (pp. 225-45), but he found
himself constantly hampered by a want of personal knowledge
of the country described, and finally he decided not to proceed
with the publication of the book.

My interest in Thompson’s work began in 1883 and the
following years, when, as a Geologist on the staff of the
Geological Survey of Canada, I was travelling in or near the
Rocky Mountains, and was making maps on which to record
my geological investigations. In conducting these surveys
the number of places with names of unknown origin, and the
accuracy of the main features of the maps then in use, greatly
impressed me. In searching for the sources of this geo-
graphical information the late Mr. Andrew Russell, Assistant
Commissioner of Crown Lands for the province of Ontario,
advised me of the existence of Thompson’s map and note-
books in the possession of the Crown Lands Department of the
province of Ontario. After making such examination of these
note-books as was then }‘(lh.\'ibl(', at which timc, hnwcvcr,
[ was unable to find Volume XI, which contains many of the
notes of his surveys west of the Rocky Mountains, and
especially of his journeys to the mouth of the Columbia
river, I published a Brief Narrative of the Fourneys of David
Thompson in the Proceedings of the Canadian Institute,
Toronto, 3rd section, vol. vi, 1887-88, pp. 135-60.

After the publication of this paper, Mr. Charles Lindsey
wrote to me and told me of the existence of the Narrative here
published, and very kindly offered to allow me to inspect it.
Some years later I purchased it from him. Shortly after
purchasing it, I removed to Dawson in the Yukon Territory,
and it was not until my return to Toronto in 1906 that
it was possible for me to undertake seriously the study of
this journal which had been lying untouched for nearly
ten years.

Between the years 1883 and 1898, while engaged on the
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staff of the Geological Survey of Canada, it fell to my lot to
carry on explorations in canoes, on horseback, or on foot, over
many of the routes which had been surveyed and explorcd
by David Thompson a century before, to survey the rivers
that he had surveyed, to measure the portages on which he
had walked, to cross the plains and mountains on the trails
which he had travelled, to camp on his old camping grounds,
and to take astronomical observations on the same places
where he had taken them. Everywhere his work was found
to be of the very highest order, considering the means and
facilities at his disposal, and as my knowledge of his achieve-
ments widened, my admiration for this fur-trading geographer
increased, and in order to show my appreciation of the
splendid work which he did I decided to offer this narrative
to the public. My original intention was to abbreviate, and
partly rewrite it, in the hope of being able to reduce it to
somewhat more popular form, and with that object in view
my wife assisted me until it was almost ready for the printer.
Just at this time, however, the Council of the Champlain
Society learned of its existence, and offered to publish it in
its original form, and also to take the burden of reading and
revising proofs, preparing index, etc., off my hands. This
offer was accepted, and the present volume, with its wealth of
new information about Western America, is issued with the
hope that it may assist in confirming David Thompson in
his rightful place as one of the greatest geographers of the
world.

There is no portrait of Thompson in existence, but Mrs.
Shaw, his daughter, once handed me an old print of John
Bunyan, saying that the picture was as good a likeness of her
father as if it had actually been taken of him.

There is not even a monument marking the last resting-
place of this great geographer. It is not creditable to
Canadians, proud as we are of our country and its limitless
natural possibilities, that this pioneer who did so much
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without remuneration to render the country known to us
and others should remain neglected. The least that we
could do as a token of our respect for the man and his work
would be to erect a statue to him in some prominent place
in the capital of the Dominion.

In the notes and Introduction, in spelling the names of
Indian tribes, I have followed the Handbook of the Indians of
Canada, issued by the Commission of Conservation of the
Government of Canada, and in regard to geographic names
of natural features I have followed the decision of the Geo-
graphic Board of Canada, but in speaking of places occupied
by Thompson, and not since known by any other name, I
have used the spelling which he adopted. This will account
for such apparent discrepancies as Kootanae House, the
Kutenai Indians, and Kootenay river.

I wish to express my deep indebtedness to Sir Edmund
Walker, who has given his careful attention to every detail
in connection with the preparation of the book for the press,
and to Mr. W. S. Wallace, one of the editors of the publica-
tions of the Champlain Society, who has faithfully carried
out its engagements to me in correcting proofs, preparing
the index, and assisting in the revision of the manuscript of
the Introduction and notes.

While engaged in the preparation of the notes the
government of the province of Ontario, and Dr. Alexander
Fraser, the Provincial Archivist, kindly loaned me Thompson’s
original note-books, so that I have been able to examine them
carefully in such spare time as has been at my disposal.

In compiling the notes on the country west of the moun-
tains I have been especially fortunate in securing the assist-
ance of Mr. T. C. Elliott, of Walla Walla, Washington, U.S.A.,
who is intimately acquainted with the early history of the
north-western states and especially of the Columbia valley.
He was kind enough to visit me in Toronto, where we had
the pleasure of reading over Thompson’s original note-books

PPy g B e e W
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together. His notes throughout are signed with his initials,
T ke s

Mr. E. A. Preble, of the Biological Survey Department of
Agriculture, Washington, D.C., U.S.A., has very kindly added
notes on the animals and plants mentioned by Thompson,
thus greatly adding to the scientific value of the book. His
notes are signed with his initials, E. A. P.

I am also indebted to Mr. James White, Deputy Head of
the Commission of Conservation for Canada, of Ottawa, for
assistance, advice and notes, and also for permission to pub-
lish Thompson’s large map from a tracing which he had had
made, for it was found quite impossible to reproduce the old
faded yellow original by any mechanical process.

I also desire to thank Miss Shaw, Thompson’s grand-
daughter, Miss Elsie Day, Messrs. G. R. Ray, A. C. McNab,
J. Meyers, and others for kind assistance in supplying infor-
mation about Thompson or the country through which he
travelled.

J. B. TYRRELL.

I'ORONTO,
April 19, 1915,







INTRODUCTION

AVID THOMPSON, the author of this hitherto
unpublished manuscript, was born in the parish of
St. John the Evangelist, Westminster, England,
on April 30, 1770, and was baptized on May 20 of the same
year. The parish register gives the names of his parents as
“ David Thompson and Ann his wife,” though it gives no
information as to their antecedents or the time or place of
their marriage. On subsequent pages of the register, however,
it is recorded that another son, named John, was born to David
Thompson and Ann his wife on January 25, 1772, and was
baptized on February 16 of the same year. The next and
last record that has been discovered about the family is of
the death of David Thompson, doubtless the father, on
February 28, 1772. Opposite his name no burial fee is
entered, a fact which shows that he was buried at the expense
of the parish. Mrs. Shaw, one of Thompson’s daughters,
informed the writer that her father’s brother John, who was
a sea captain, had once visited her father in Montreal. She
also said that her grandparents came from Wales, and that
their family name was originally Ap-Thomas, but that it had
been changed to Thompson on going to London. In this
connection, it is interesting to notice that late in life the
speech of David Thompson the younger was remarked by an
observer to betray his Welsh origin.!
On April 29, 1777, when just seven years of age, David
Thompson entered the Grey Coat School, Westminster. This

v J. J. Bigsby, 7he Shoe and Canoe, London, 1850, vol. i. p. 113.
xxin
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interesting old school! is now, and has been since its re-
lrrgillliﬁ‘lli;)rl by the Endowed Schools Commission in 1873, a
charity school for girls. It may still be seen by the visitor,
some five minutes’ walk from Westminster Abbey : an old
red house, built in the Elizabethan manner, covered at the
back with grape-vine and Virginia creeper, and surrounded
by a large garden and playground. But in 1777 it was a
school devoted to the education of poor boys : its ¢ principall
de ignr ” was “ to educate poor children in the }\I'in('i}‘ll‘\ of
piety and virtue, and thereby lay a foundation for a sober
and Christian life.” The early training which David
Thompson received within the walls of this school coloured
his whole career, and marked him off in later life from the
dissolute traders and voyageurs among whom his lot was cast.

Some years ago the opportunity of visiting this school
presented itself, and Miss Day, the head mistress, kindly
allowed me the privilege of inspecting the old minute-book
of the meetings of the Board of Governors of the school, in
which are to be found the following entries relating to David
Thompson. Under the date of Tuesday, April 29, 1777, his
admission to the school is recorded :

“Abram Acworth, Esq. was this day pleased to present David

Thompson to be admitted

into this Hosp! on y¢ Foundation and y
Governors present being satisfy with y¢ said child’s settlement. Ordd

that he be admitted on bringing in the usual necessaries.”

Over six years later, at a quarterly meeting of the Board held
on Tuesday, December 30, 1783, the name of David Thompson
reappears in the minutes :

“The Master also reports that application was made by the Secre-
tary belonging to the Hudson’s Bay Company, to know, if this Charity
could furnish them with 4 boys against the month of May next, for

their settlements in America. The Master, by order of the Treas

For an account of the school, see a paper entitled An Old Westminster

FEndowment, by Miss Elsie Day, in the Jowrnal of Education, September,
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wrote a letter informing the Governor and Directors that there were
but two boys that had been taught navigation in the school, which
two boys they desire may be qualified for them, viz: Samuel John
McPherson and David Thompson.’

Samuel John McPherson was evidently averse to being sent
away to America, for he “elop® from this Hospital on the
7" Jan¥” following, and as he did not return he was ex-
pelled ; but David Thompson accepted the fate for which
the Governors of the school had destined him. In the
minutes of the quarterly meeting of the Board of Governors

y”

of the school, held on Tuesday, June 29, 1784, his apprentice-
ship to the Hudson’s Bay Company is recorded :
¢ David Thompson On the 20 May David
bound to the Secretary ['hompson, a mathematical Boy
of the Hudson’s Bay | belonging to the Hosp! was bound
Company for seven | to the Hudson’s Bay Company &
years & paid. the Trear then paid Mr Thos. | §
Hutchins, Corresponding Secretary
to the said Company, the sum of
five pounds for t.\king the said Boy
apprence for seven years.”

David Thompson was thus a pupil in the Grey Coat
School for seven years (1777-84). During this time his
mathematical master was one Thomas Adams, of whom
nothing further is known, and the sort of teaching which the
poor child received may be judged from the following list of
books, many of them then nearly a hundred years old, from
which he was taught :

Wallis, Mechanics - . published 1655
Wallis, 4 Treatise of ‘I/r,/vm . 5 1685
Thesaurus Geo graphicus . ; . - 1695
Leybourn, Dialling ! " 1682
L evbmun Mathematical /m!ttulwm » 1704
Gordon, Geography Anatomized : - 1716
Atkinson, Epitome of the Art of Navigation . * 1711
Newton, An ldea of Geography . ‘ : 5 1708

Barlow, A Survey of the Tide
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From such books as these, David Thompson received the
preparation for his life-work in surveying the northern forests
and plains of America.

David Thompson sailed from London in May, 1784, in
the Hudson’s Bay Company’s ship Prince Rupert, and arrived
at Churchill in the beginning of September. Here he took
up his quarters in the new trading establishment that had
just been built on the site which is still occupied by the
trading store of the Hudson’s Bay Company ; for Fort Prince
of Wales, the great stone fort five miles away at the mouth
of the river, had been taken and burned by the French two
years before. He spent the winter of 1784-85 under Samuel
Hearne, the traveller who, fifteen years before, had started
from Churchill on foot with a few Indians to discover and
explore a “mine” of copper near the Coppermine river,
and incidentally to set at rest the question of the existence or
non-existence of a practicable passage for ships around the
north coast of America from Europe to Asia. Although he
does not appear to have been imbued with any admiration
for Hearne’s character—for Thompson was a very devout man,
and Hearne an unbeliever—the intimate knowledge gained of
Hearne’s journeyings must have been more or less of an
inspiration to him throughout his after life.

After the arrival of the annual ship at Churchill in 1785,
Thompson was sent to York Factory, the journey being
accomplished on foot, along with two Indians, on the low
shore of Hudson Bay. This was his first experience of travel
in the North-West, and evidently the memory of it remained
clear and distinct in his mind. A growing boy, fifteen years
old, set down on the inhospitable shore of Hudson Bay in
the autumn of the year, without provisions, and with instruc-
tions to walk to another fur-trading station a hundred and
fifty miles away, was not likely to forget the journey.

York Factory, like Fort Prince of Wales, had been taken
and burned by the French in 1782, and as, unlike Fort Prince
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of Wales, it was built entirely of wood, the burning had com-
pletely destroyed it. When the fort was destroyed, Humphrey
Marten, the officer in charge for the Hudson’s Bay Company,
had been carried away prisoner by the French, but in the
following year, that is in 1783, he had returned and rebuilt
a trading house on the site of the one that had been burned,
half a mile below the position on which York Factory stands
to-day. By this time Marten had been in charge of York
Factory, or some other trading post of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, for twenty-four years, and had become so rough
and overbearing that life under him must have been anything
out agreeable. Edward Umfreville, who spent seven years
as a clerk under him before the destruction of York Factory,
says that he used to beat the Indians most cruelly, and thus
drive them away burning with revenge. He was respected
neither by the Indians, nor ““ by those who were so unfortu-
nate as to serve under him. His disposition was vindictive
and unsociable to the last degree. English, as well as Indians,
felt the weight of his oppressive temper, which diffused its
corroding effect to every object. Domestic happiness was a
stranger to his table, and his messmates lived a most unhappy
life, under the rod of this unrelenting taskmaster.”

Thompson arrived at York about September 13, and the
two Indians were rewarded for the care that they had taken
of him on the journey by a present of three gallons of brandy
and four pounds of tobacco. He now settled down at York
for a year, his principal companions, besides Marten, being
Joseph Colen, John Ballenden, Alfred Robinson, and John
Jennings. The accounts for the year are in his neat hand-
writing. Besides doing clerical work, he assisted in the trading
store, and at the same time was an indefatigable hunter, and
thus materially assisted in supplying his companions with
geese, ducks, and such other game as abounded in the vicinity.

' Edward Umfreville, 7%ke Present State of Hudson's Bay, London, 1790,
pp- 91-2.
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As shown in the Servants’ Accounts, his purchases from the
Company for the year amounted to [6, 125. 9d., but in contrast
with most of the other accounts, none of this was for brandy.

The year 1786 was a time of commotion among the em-
plovees of the Hudson’s Bay Company on the shore of the
Bay. Humphrey Marten had been recalled to England, and
Joseph Colen was appointed as Resident Chief at York in his
place. William Tomison, a Scotchman from Ronaldshay, had
been ¢ Chief Inland ” for some years, and had resigned, but
on Colen’s accession to command at York had withdrawn his
resignation and had decided to go back to the Saskatchewan,
with Robert Longmore' as principal lieutenant. Malcolm
Ross, who was afterwards closely associated with Thompson,
was being sent up the Churchill river from Churchill to
endeavour to open up a direct route from that post to Cumber-
land House on the Saskatchewan river. At the same time
more trading posts were being established on the Saskatchewan
river by the brigades from York itself, in order to compete
with the Canadian traders. The establishment of these posts
had been delayed first by the epidemic of smallpox in 1781,
and then by the destruction of Forts York and Churchill
(or Prince of Wales) in 1782.

On July 21, 1786, after having remained a year at York,
"Thompson was fitted out with a trunk, a handkerchief, shoes,
shirts, a gun, powder, and a tin pot or cup, and the next day
he, with forty-six other ““ Englishmen” in charge of Robert
Longmore, started inland up the Hayes river to establish
more trading posts on the Saskatchewan river, above Hudson’s

' Robert Longmore was a trader in the employ of the Hudson's Bay
Company for many years. He was in charge of the brigade of canoes with
which Thompson first went inland in 1786, and afterwards in 1799 was Master
at Swan River, with a salary of £70 a year. Samuel Hearne wrote of him in
1786, “ He possesses a very essential qualification, which is, that of being
universally beloved by the natives. To add to this, his long residence in those
parts [the Saskatchewan country], together with an invariable attention to the

Company’s interests, must long since have made him a competent judge of
their affairs in that quarter.”
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House, which appears to have been the most remote post of
the Hudson’s Bay Company occupied at that time. Tomison
remained behind at York Factory till August 30, when, with
two young men, Hugh Folster and Magnus Tate, and one
Indian, he followed the brigade with its loaded canoes to the
Saskatchewan. The party ascended the North Saskatchewan
river to a point on its northern bank, forty-two miles above
Battleford and twelve miles north of the present station of
Birling on the Canadian Northern Railway, where they cleared
the ground and built a trading post composed of one or more
log houses, probably surrounded by a wooden stockade. When
completed, they dignified this collection of huts with the name
of Manchester House.

Edward Umfreville, who had once been employed by the
Hudson’s Bay Company as a clerk or writer at York Factory,
but who was now in the employ of the North-West Company,
had been occupying a similar trading store for the past three
years at a point forty miles farther up the river, but as far as
we know there were no white men beyond him, and it was
not until three years later that Peter Pangman, one of the
partners of the North-West Company, ascended the Saskat-
chewan as far as Rocky Mountain House, so that young
Thompson had now reached almost to the very limit of the
country with which civilised men were familiar on the
Saskatchewan at that time. Far to the north and north-
west there were a couple of trading posts on the Churchill
and Athabaska rivers in charge of such men as Alexander
Mackenzie and Peter Pond, but to the south and west was a
great unknown wilderness inhabited only by the native
Indians.

[t was a time of strenuous opposition in the fur trade
between the English traders from Hudson Bay and the Scotch
traders with French employees from Montreal, and some of
these latter evidently came and settled near Manchester
House, for Thompson makes incidental mention in his journal
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of these traders who were opposed to his employers. The
Company was working hard to secure furs wherever they
might be found, and the Blackfeet and Piegan Indians who
roamed over the plains to the south brought quite a few
wolf skins to the traders, and with care it was hoped they
might be taught to catch beaver and some of the other more
valuable fur-bearing animals. It was therefore necessary to
send some one out among these Indians to gain their friend-
ship and to secure their trade, and Thompson and six others
were chosen for the enterprise. The party travelled south-
westward to the Bow river, probably to somewhere in the
vicinity of the present city of Calgary, where there was a
large camp of Piegan. Here, after sending some of his men
back to Manchester House, he settled down for the greater
part of the winter in the tent of an old Chief named Sauka-
mappee, and the friendship of this chief, though it did not
always prevent trouble, stood him in good stead many times
in his after life. Some of the stories and !mditiun\' of the
Indians which he obtained at the time form an interesting
part of the present book.

This was Thompson’s first introduction to the great
plains, and as he went to them so young, being then only
seventeen years old, he evidently got a thorough, j\'m}‘uuhcti'c
conception of the natural untainted life and habits of the
western Indians who wandered over them.

Some time during the following winter or spring he
returned to the trading post on the Saskatchewan river,
and later he descended the river for about one hundred and
twenty-five miles to an older trading post called Hudson’s
House, which had been built by Tomison some years before.
This post was situated a short distance above the present city
of Prince Albert, three or four miles below a place now known
as “ Yellow Banks,’ on the edge of a forest of spruce and pine.
The Blackfoot tribes of the plains would hardly be likely to
come to a place so far east and so completely surrounded by
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forest as this was, so that the Indians v hom he would meet
here would probably be Cree and Assiniboin.

The only thing we know about him during the following
summer is that in some way he had the misfortune to break
his right leg; and through improper setting, or for some
other reason, this accident caused him considerable discom-
fort for some years.

Towards the end of summer, he again continued down the
river, on this occasion as far as Cumberland House on Pine
[sland lake, a post that had been built by Samuel Hearne,
his former master at Fort Churchill, fifteen years before, with
the object of intercepting the Indians who were coming
down with their furs from the Athabaska and Churchill
river regions, and of preventing them, if possible, from dis-
posing of these furs to the Frobishers and the other traders
who came west from Montreal.

He was at this time nineteen years old. It is evident that
he had always been interested in surveying and in observing
and recording natural phenomena, so when he had settled
down for the winter he began to keep a careful meteorological
journal in which were noted the readings of the thermometer
three or four times a day, the direction and force of the wind,
and general remarks on the climate. During this same winter
he took also a series of astronomical observations, six being
meridian altitudes of the sun for latitude, and thirty-five
lunar distances for longitude. The results of the observations
place Cumberland House in north latitude §3° 56’ 44", and
west longitude 102° 13, a position almost identical with that
which it occupies to-day on the latest official maps. When
one considers the nautical almanacs that were available at that
time, this result is quite astonishing and puts to shame much
even of the good observing of the present day. At that time
there were very few other points on this whole continent of
America whose positions on the earth’s surface were as
accurately known as this remote trading post on the Saskat-
¢
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chewan river. On the maps of Canada its position has been
changed many times, but the latest surveys have brought it
back to the place to which it was assigned by this young
astronomer one hundred and twenty-five years ago.

Such was the beginning of his long career of geodetic
surveying which was to make him the greatest practical land
geographer that the world has produced. Very few men
have had the opportunity of exploring the half of a great new
continent, and no one else has ever seized the opportunity
as David Thompson did. For many thousands of miles, in
pursuit of my work when engaged as a geologist on the staff
of the Geological Survey of Canada between the years 1883
and 1898, it was my good fortune to travel over the same
routes that he had travelled a century before, and to take
observations on the sun and stars on the very spots where he
had observed ; and while my instruments may have been
better than his, his surveys and observations were invariably
found to have an accuracy that left little or nothing to be
desired.!

In the following spring, after having determined by
astronomical observations the position of his winter home, he
started with the fur brigade for York Factory and made a
survey of the Saskatchewan and Hayes rivers to that place,
a distance of seven hundred and fifty miles.

Later on in the summer, he again returned to Cumber-
land House, and spent the winter with Philip Turnor, a
surveyor in the employ of the Hudson’s Bay Company. With
this man as a tutor, and doubtless with the thought of some
of the difficulties in the work of the previous winter in his
mind, he devoted himself heart and soul to the study of
practical astronomy and surveying.

In the following spring he again descended to York, while

! In a letter dated 1817, Thompson states that a large ten-inch brass sextant
of Dolland’s, reading to the 15”, had been his constant companion for twenty-

eight years. He evidently obtained it about this time.
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his friend and teacher, Philip Turnor, started north-westward
by Frog Portage to Lake Athabaska.

After having thus spent four years in the Saskatchewan
country, he left it for a while, and remained for a year at
York Factory, where his time was largely occupied in taking
a long series of astronomical observations for latitude and
longitude, the results of which correctly placed the position
of the factory half a degree west of the location previously
determined by Turnor.

During the spring of 1788, the mouth of the Hayes river,
on the west bank of which York Factory was situated, became
blocked with broken ice, which caused the water to rise behind
it and flood the adjoining land. The water rose several feet
in the dwelling-house and did a large amount of damage to
the buildings and stores. In order to prevent a recurrence
of such a calamity, Colen moved the fort upstream about half
a mile to its present position, on a spot of higher and drier
ground. The process of moving occupied several years, and
was not completed until 1793, so that doubtless Thompson,
among other duties, assisted in building the Factory in its
present position.

South-west of York Factory, and at no great distance from
it, is the country called by Thompson the Muskrat country
It is situated on some of the western tributaries of Nelson
river that flow into that stream at Split lake, and in a general
way lies between the Churchill river to the north and the
Saskatchewan river to the south. Curiously enough this
region, though so near York Factory and so rich in fur-bearing
animals, had been occupied exclusively by the traders of the
North-West Company from Montreal. Even as early as 1780
Samuel Hearne wrote from Churchill with regard to these
traders and others acting under instructions from Peter Pond
on Athabaska river, “ The Canadians have found means to
intercept some of my best Northern Leaders. However, I
still live in hopes of getting a few [furs] from that quarter.”
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In 1792 Colen and his associates on the Council of the
Hudson’s Bay Company at York decided to make an effort to
wrest the trade of this country from the Canadians, and
accordingly they sent William Cook, Malcolm Ross, and David
Thompson to establish trading posts in the district. With
his appointment to a fur-trading post in the Muskrat country,
Thompson was thus placed in the front of the firing line in a
struggle in which his adversaries were not only the Canadian
traders of the North-West Company, who were the natural
antagonists of the Hudson’s Bay Company, but also the traders
of his own Company under the jurisdiction of Churchill and
not of York Factory; for Churchill and York, though both
trading posts of the Hudson’s Bay Company, sent their re-
ports in to the head office at London independently, and the
rivalry between them was such that it became occasionally
necessary for the Board of Directors to intervene.

In order to understand the conditions by which Thompson
was surrounded, it will be necessary to review briefly the con-
dition of the fur trade at York and Churchill at that time.
The traders from Montreal, who afterwards united into the
North-West Company, travelling in canoes through Lakes
Superior and Winnipeg, reached the upper portion of the
Churchill river in 1776, and built a house on the Athabaska
river, a short distance above Lake Athabaska, in 1778, from
which place they extended their trading posts westward
up Peace river and northward down the Mackenzie river.
Churchill and York, the trading posts of the Hudson’s Bay
Company on Hudson Bay, immediately felt the effect of this
invasion of the ‘ Canadians,” for the Indians had always
brought their furs to the posts on the Bay to trade for such
articles as they wanted, and now they were able to dispose of
them inland. Consequently, in 1774, the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany’s men went inland and built Cumberland House on the
Saskatchewan river, and two years later they went farther up
the same river and built Hudson’s House, from which place an
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outpost appears to have been established still farther up the
Saskatchewan at the Elbow. Here both the employees of the
Hudson’s Bay Company and the Canadians appear to have
lived in the winter of 1779-80; and here, in the spring of
1780, Cole, one of the Canadian traders, was killed in a quarrel
with the Indians, and all the other traders, no matter what
Company they were serving, were obliged to flee down the
river for safety. Immediately afterwards smallpox ravaged
the country, swept away great numbers of the Indians, and
disheartened the survivors. After the smallpox epidemic had
abated, York and Churchill Factories were destroyed by the
French, and all the furs contained in them were confiscated.
These disasters paralyzed the energies of the Hudson’s Bay
Company for a time, and it was not until 1786 that the party
under William T'omison, of which Thompson was a member,
ascended the Saskatchewan river past Cumberland Fouse and
built Manchester House 425 miles above it.

About the same time it had occurred to some one that it
should be possible to reach the Saskatchewan river more
easily from Churchill than from York by a direct route up
the Churchill river, and accordingly in the same year in which
‘Thompson left for the Saskatchewan, Malcolm Ross, who had
already been at Cumberland, was sent from York on July 27,
1786, to Churchill, with instructions to go up the Churchill
river to Cumberland House.

In regard to this expedition, Samuel Hearne, then in
charge of Churchill, wrote to Joseph Colen at York as follows,
under date of August 6, 1786 :

“ Malcolm Ross's experience in the interior parts of the country
willy I hope, render him perfect master of the business he is going
about. Since Malcolm’s arrival here five canoes of Nelson Indians
came to the Factory, two of which have been prevailed upon to carry
him and his companions to Cumberland House, where they will be
ready to prosecute the remainder of the Company’s orders in the
spring.”
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As will be seen later, Hearne himself had no confidence in
the successful issue of this expedition from a commercial point
of view.

The following summer Malcolm Ross had evidently
returned to York, for in a letter to Samuel Hearne, dated
York Factory, July 19, 1787, Joseph Colen wrote :

“Malcolm Ross tells me he had many difficulties to encounter
before he reached Cumberland House from Churchill, the water so
shoal as to prevent the navigation of small canoes.”

[n answer Hearne wrote :

“] am sorry to hear of the difficulties Malcolm Ross had to en-
counter with, tho’ from my own knowledge no less could be expected ;
this river a little distance from here is inaccessible for anything much

}

arger than a light canoe,”

[n the following year, 1788, Colen sent Robert Longmore
from York to Churchill to prosecute the discoveries from
Churchill inland. His party did not succeed in opening a
trade route to the Saskatchewan river, but it did succeed
in establishing, or arranging for the establishment of, trading
posts at several places up the Churchill river.

In 1789 the Board of Diiectors of the Hudson’s Bay
Company in London sent Philip Turnor from London to
Lake Athabaska in order to find out its exact location, and
after his return they kept instructing Colen and his associates
on the Council at York to send Ross and Thompson to that
country, but Colen seems to have taken a very perfunctory
interest in the enterprise, and to have been much more
interested in competing with the Company’s men from
Churchill for the trade of the country near the headwaters
of the Burntwood and Grass rivers in what Thompson calls
the Muskrat country.

In 1792 Ross and Thompson, instead of being sent to Lake
Athabaska, were, as stated above, despatched up the Nelson

river to winter at Sipiwesk lake. In the following spring
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'Thompson alone, without any assistance from York, endeca-
voured to explore a new route to the Athabaska country by
Reindeer lake, but being unable to obtain Indian canoemen
was obliged to turn back and return to York.

Later in the year 1793, he left York and, accompanied by
Malcolm Ross, went up to Cumberland House on the Saskat-
chewan river, and after remaining there three days continued
on to Buckingham House, where he spent the winter of 1793~
94. With regard to this journey the directors in London
wrote that they would expect much good to follow the expe-
dition of Ross and Thompson to the Athabas
also that the arrangements made by which William Cook was

ca country, and

to return in winter from Split lake, where he was in charge,
and accompany Ross and Thompson to the Athabaska country,
met with their “ full approbation.” At the same time they
wrote, expressing the hope that George Charles, who had gone
up the Churchill river from Fort Churchill, would  restore
a considerable part of the long lost trade to Churchill.”

But William Cook remained at Split lake all winter, and
while it is possible that Colen intended that Thompson
should proceed from Cumberland House to Lake Athabaska
instead of going to Buckingham House, there is no notice of
any such intention in Thompson’s journals, and it is impossible
to avoid the conclusion that Colen was guilty of duplicity,
and that while he had no interest in the exploration of the
more remote interior parts of the country, he endeavoured to
put the blame for his want of enterprise on other shoulders.
This opinion is strengthened by a statement in a letter from
the Board of Directors in London to the Council at York,
dated May 30, 1795, with reference to Peter Fidler, who was
Thompson’s fellow surveyor in the Hudson’s Bay Company,
though at a much lower salary. It is as follows :

“We observe that Mr. P. Fidler has been kept at the Factory for
two seasons past, but for the future we direct him to proceed inland on
discoveries.”
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When Thompson arrived at York Factory from the Saskat-
chewan river in the summer of 1794, Colen and his associates
at York wrote to England as follows :

“ Notwithstanding the steps pursued last fall to ensure the success
of the Athapascow Expedition, we are sorry to remark it was again set
aside at Cumberland House this Spring.  As these transactions happened
many hundred miles distance from us, and with much secrecy, we
cannot from our own knowledge inform your honours the real cause,
and it is from letter and hearsay we form our judgment, It, however,
appears surprising, for when Mr. Colen accompanied the men and boats
up Hill River, with trading goods, many volunteers offered their service
for the Athapascow ]‘:\;»mi!'mn, and said they were ready to have gone
from Cumberland House with Messrs. Ross and Thompson, but Mr.
Tomison refusing to pass his word for the advance of wages promised
by the Honourable Committee it of course stopt the Expedition in
question and the considerable loss of your honours. Indeed we find
this business involved in mystery, and as are many other transactions

nland. . . . We have already remarked on the overthrow of the

Athapascow Expedition this season. The repeated disappointments so
much disheartened Mr. Ross determined him to return to England had
not Mr. Thompson prevailed on him to pursue some other track into
the Athapascow country, for they declare it will be impossible to carry
it on from Cumberland as the Honourable Company’s affairs at present
stand, as every obstacle is thrown in the way to prevent its success. In
order to suppress similar obstructions Mr. Ross took men and one
canoe cargo of goods with him from Cumberland House and built a
house to the northward near to a station occupied by a Mr. T hompson,
1 Canadian Proprietor whose success of late years in collecting of furs
has been great. Mr. David Thompson has been fitted out with men
and three canoe cargoes from this place to supply Mr. Ross by pro-
ceeding up Nelson River track.”

It would thus appear that Ross had become thoroughly dis-
gusted with the obstructions put in the way of an expedition
into the Athabaska country either at York or by those in charge
on the Saskatchewan river, and had decided to go to England,
doubtless in order to be able to appeal directly to the Board

of Directors, but that Thompson had urged him to consent
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to remain in the country until they had definitely found out
whether the route by Reindeer lake was feasible as a trade
route or not. But Ross’s heart was not in this work of dis-
covery, and he would furnish no assistance for the exploration
of a new route when he believed that the old one followed
by the North-Westers was good enough.

It is difficult to understand some of the statements made
in the letter cited above. It is evident, however, that it was
Colen’s avowed intention that Ross and Thompson should
proceed from Cumberland House to the Athabaska country
by the route which had been travelled by the traders of the
North-West Company for a number of years, and by Philip
Turnor of the Hudson’s Bay Company in 1791, but that he
claimed that this had been frustrated by Tomison, the Chief
at Cumberland in charge of the inland trade, or by the insub-
ordination of the canoemen, and that Thompson was sent up
the Saskatchewan river instead.

In their answer to this letter, written in May, 1795, the
directors in London show their sympathy for David Thompson
by saying, “ We are perfectly satisfied with the conduct of
Messrs. David Thompson, Ross, and others,” and by requesting
that Thompson should be advised of their approbation. They
wrote also, ““ Obstacles are again, we perceive, thrown in the
way of the Athapascow Expedition, but we trust all difh-
culties which occur and hapede the Company’s success will
soon be removed.”

That Colen believed that he had shelved the Athabaska
question for a time is shown by the fact that he sent Ross,
Thompson, Cook, Tate, and Sinclair back into the Muskrat
country to oppose two Canadian traders named Robert
Thompson and McKay who had been cutting into the York
Factory trade for some years past. That winter Robert
Thompson, who had been for many years on the Churchill
and Nelson rivers, was killed in a quarrel with some Indians.
David Thompson spent the winter of 1794-95 at Reed lake,
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and in July, 1795, paid his last visit to York Factory. He had
been making surveys wherever he went, so that the amount
of geographical information that he had collected was very
large, but therc had been no attempt on the part of the
Company to help him push westward to the Athabaska
country. Nevertheless Colen and his Council at York wrote
to London as follows :

The steps pursued last season in
the exploring a new track towards the Athabasca country
we hope will meet your Honour’s approbation.” In return
the directors demanded to see the maps of the country which
1ad been explored.

But the end of this truculent quibbling was at hand.
Ross and Thompson left York for the Nelson river on July 18,
1795, and the Council wrote to London with reference to
Athabaska exploration that * Messrs. Ross and Thompson
were despatched from the factory with men in four large
canoes loaded with trading goods last July, and we hope to

a good account of their success next season ” ; but they
added a sentence which shows they were thinking only of the
trade in the Muskrat country itself, “ Should the track up
Seal River be found nearer and a better road, the whole of
that track will be surrendered up to Churchill.”

Ross and Thompson went directly to Fairford House and
Duck Portage respectively, where they built trading stores
and spent the following winter, being obliged to compete on
the one hand with traders from Canada and on the other with
traders in the employ of the Hudson’s Bay Company from
Churchill.

['he following summer, 1796, Ross went down to York
alone, while Thompson made a final and in this case successful
attempt to push north-westward through Deer and Wollaston
lakes to Lake Athabaska.

But how different was the outfit and assistance supplied
him from what he had a right to expect, considering the
anxiety shown by the directors of the Company in the success
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of his expedition. Instead of a proper supply of men, canoes,
and trading goods, he was obliged to engage two previously
untried Indians who knew nothing of such work; no canoe
was to be had, so that it was necessary for him to go into the
woods, collect birch bark, and make one; all he had was a
fish net and a small quantity of ammunition, except the
compass and sextant, which were his own private property.
So provided, he started out on a long exploring expedition
into a new country. The account of this expedition is given
in his own words on pages 133-53, so that we need not
repeat it here.

On his return from Lake Athabaska he built a trading
post on the west side of Reindeer lake, where he was later
joined by Malcolm Ross, his old companion, who brought

ith him fresh supplies, but at the same time he brought also
an order from Joseph Colen, the Resident Chief at York,
instructing him to stop surveying. Such an order, which he
must have felt to be contrary to the earnest wishes of the
directors of the Company, after the great personal exertions
and sacrifices which he had made to carry out those wishes,
cut him to the heart. Nevertheless the two men settled
down quietly to the routine of trade, and spent together
what proved to be one of the coldest winters ever known in
western Canada.

As his term of service had expired, Thompson now decided
to leave the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company. On Tues-
day, May 23, 1797, he therefore left the little cabin on Reindeer
lake which had been his home during the winter, and with it
the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company. “'This day,” runs
the entry in his journal, * left the service of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, and entered that of the Company of the Merchants
from Canada. May God Almighty prosper me.”

Thompson had been with the Hudson’s Bay Company for
thirteen years. During these years he had travelled in all
about nine thousand miles, and of this distance he had made
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careful surveys, checked by numerous astronomical observa-
tions. of three thousand five hundred miles. He had also
correctly determined by multiple observations for latitude
and lun';im\lc. the positions of eight widely separated places
in the interior of the continent, and of one (York Factory)
on Hudson Bay, so that his surveys extended between known
positions. In addition to his surveying work he had taken

and recorded regular observations on the climate and general
natural phenomena

The following letter, written after he reached the trading

he North-West Company, shows how keenly he felt

the opposition which Colen had shown to his surveying work.

poOst of i

“ MRr. CoLEN.

“SIR [ take this opportunity of returning you my most re-
spectful thanks for your loan of two guineas to my mother. I have
enclosed a bill to you for the above amount,

“My friends belonging to York inform me that you are very
desirous to find out who was the author of those letters that were wrote
to H. B. Co. and militated against you 1795. I will give you that
satisfaction. When I came down that year the other gentlemen were
waiting my arrival in order to assist them in drawing up their
rievances ; as you were then absent I accepted the office with some
hesitation, but as the letters were to be delivered to you on your
inding at York for your inspection, and that you might have time to
answer them, I considered you in a manner as present.—Those letters
were drawn up by me, assisted by my friend Dr. Thomas, and not
one half of the evils complained of were enumerated.

“You told Mr. Ross that when in England you were endeavouring
to serve those, who behind your back were trying to cut your throat.—
Before you went to England I had always a Letter and Books from the
Co., since that neither the one nor the other, and I have been put the
whole winter to the greatest inconvenience for want of a Nautical
Almanac.

“Many of us acknowledge with readiness that you have some good
qualities, and I had once the greatest respect for you ; I have some yet,
but . . . it is not my wish to say those things which I know you do
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not wish to hear. How is it, Sir, that everyone who has once wished
you well should turn to be indifferent to you, and even some to hate
you, altho’ they are constant in their other friendships,—-there must be
a defect somewhere,

“The fact is, that from your peculiar manner of conduct, you are
also one of those unfortunate men who will have many an acquaintance,
but never never a real friend.—Your humble Servant,

“D. TuomrsoN.”

But if the Hudson’s Bay Company did not need Thomp-
son’s services as a surveyor, the North-West Company, which
was controlled by men with much larger and more progressive
ideas, was anxious to obtain some accurate knowledge of the
extent and character of the country in which it was carrying
on its business. When he left the little trading post of the
Hudson’s Bay Company on the west shore of Reindeer lake
and walked down to the nearest post of the North-Westers,
about seventy-five miles farther south, Thompson felt sure of
a welcome from the Canadians. After staying at Fraser’s
House for about ten days, he proceeded to Grand Portage on
Lake Superior. On the way he met some of the members of
the North-West Company, among them Roderick Mackenzie,
a cousin of Sir Alexander Mackenzie, and the author of The
History of the Fur Trade which forms the Introduction to
Alexander Mackenzie’s Voyages, and Simon Fraser, who after-
wards descended the Fraser river. These men were hence-
forward to be his associates.

For the last three years during which Thompson had been
in the employ of the Hudson’s Bay Company he had been
receiving £60 a year, which was probably the largest salary
paid to any employee of his age at the time, but it is not
known on what terms he was engaged by the North-West
Company. His first work, however, was to consist of one
continuous surveying trip unhampered by any necessity for
looking after trade returns. His instructions were (1) to
determine the position of the 49th parallel of latitude, which
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by the Treaty of 1792, had been decided on as the boundary
line between the United States and British North America ;
(2) to visit the villages of the Mandan Indians on the Mis-
souri river ; (3) to search for fossil bones of large animals ;
(4) to determine the positions of the trading posts of the
North-West Company.

Starting from Grand Portage on Lake Superior, he turned
back into the western country by the ordinary trade route
down the Rainy and Winnipeg rivers and through Lakes
Winnipeg and Winnipegosis to Swan and Assiniboine rivers,
and down this latter stream to the mouth of the Souris river,
which he reached about the beginning of winter. From
there he struck southward across the plains to the Mandan
villages on the Missouri, back again to the Assiniboine, down
that river, up the Red river and across the head waters of
the Mississippi river to the site of the present city of
Duluth, and then around the south shore to Lake Superior
to Sault Ste. Marie and back by the north shore to Grand
Portage, where he arrived early in June, having been about
ten months accomplishing his journey. Since he had left
Grand Portage in the previous year, he had covered a total
of four thousand miles of survey through previously un-

irveyed territory, a record that has rarely been equalled.

The partners of the North-West Company seem to have
been very well satisfied with the work so far done by him, but
he was an able and experienced fur-trader as well as a surveyor,
and the North-West Company was a commercial concern
and needed furs, therefore they apparently decided not to
continue to employ Thompson exclusively at survey work,
but to engage him at his old business of trading for furs, with
the privilege of making surveys at the same time. This
arrangement was satisfactory to Thompson, and about the
middle of July he started west again, this time for Lake La
Biche at the headwaters of one of the branches of the
Athabaska river, where he spent the following winter.
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In the summer of 1799 he extended his surveys to the
Athabaska river and some of its tributaries, and from Methy
Portage, which is on the canoe route to Lake Athabaska, he
started on his way down the Churchill river to Grand Portage.
At Isle & la Crosse he stopped for a few days, and on June 10
married Charlotte Small, a half-breed girl fourteen years of
age. A memorandum in an old Bible belonging to Mrs. Shaw,
one of his daughters, states that Charlotte Small was born at
Isle & 1a Crosse on September 1, 1785. It is highly probable
that she was a daughter of Patrick Small, who was one of the
earliest traders on the Churchill river.

After the wedding, Thompson went eastward to Grand
Portage, probably taking his bride with him. To this place
drawing-paper had been sent from Montreal for his maps,
and with the precious paper in his possession he accompanied
J(rhl) McDonald of Garth, back to Fort George on the
Saskatchewan, which was situated close to Buckingham House
of the Hudson’s Bay Company, his old home of the winter
of 1793-4, where he wintered and drew his maps.*

On March 25 he was again on the move, for he then
crossed to the south side of the Saskatchewan, and started
overland for Fort Augustus, travelling along the north side

! Patrick Small was a native of Glengarry, and a nephew of Major-General
Small of the 42nd Highlanders. In 1786 7 he was in charge of the post at
Isle & la Crosse for the North-West Company. In 1790 he was one of the

partners in the North-West Company, owning two shares, or a one-tenth

interest in it He was a Roman Catholic in religion, and had married a ( hip-

pewa woman in the west, There was also another and younger man named

Patrick Small in the employ of the North-West and Hudson’s Bay Companies,
probably a brother of Mrs. Thompson; he married a daughter of James Hughes,
by whom he had nine children, and he died in 1846 at Carlton. His wife died
in Manitoba, and lies buried in the St. Boniface cemetery.

* In the list of partners and employees of the North-West Company for
this year, published by Masson in the * Reminiscences of Roderick Mackenzie,”
David Thompson’s name appears as an employee assigned to ‘‘ Upper Fort
des Prairie and Rocky Mountains” with a salary of 1200 G.P. Currency, which
was the same salary that was then being paid to Simon Fraser, Alexander
McKay, Hugh McGillis, and James Hughes. G.P. undoubtedly stands for
Grand Portage, but I have been unable to learn what was the unit of value.
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of the * Chain of Lakes” north of the Vermilion river, near
the north line of Township 54. On March 28 he reached
Fort Augustus, and on the 31st he left it for Rocky Mountain
House, which had been built the previous autumn. He
travelled southward to the east of Bear’s Hills, across two
branches of Battle river, down the Wolf’s trail, and westward
across Wolf Creek (Blind Man river), to a crossing of Clear-
water river, two miles above its mouth, and arrived at Rocky
Mountain House on April 7, crossing the river on the ice,
which was still strong.

The old house of the North-West Company was on the
north bank of the Saskatchewan on a beautiful wide level flat
a mile and a quarter above the mouth of the Clearwater
river After the union of the companies it continued to be
occupied for many years. It was strongly fortified on account
of the possible hostility of the Blackfeet who traded there,

and the ruins of these old fortifications were still standing
when I visited the }‘Ll\’c in 1886.

From here he had intended to cross southward to the
Red Deer river and descend it in a boat, but having been
lamed in some way, he sent four men, Chauvette, La Gassi,
Clement, and Jacco Cardinal, on this journey. As he records
the fact that they started from Rocky Mountain House, and
that a boat had been built for them beforehand, and as some
of them at all events are afterwards mentioned in his journal,
it seems probable that these men successfully descended the
Red Deer and South Saskatchewan rivers, being probably
the first white men to accomplish this journey.

The next two years were spent by Thompson at Rocky
Mountain House or in its vicinity, and in exploring the
country to the west of it as far as the foot of the Rocky
Mountains from the Bow river northward to the Saskat-
chewan. Then he moved to the Peace river, and made his
headquarters at the trading post at the Forks, which had been
built by Alexander Mackenzie in 1792, when preparing to
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make his journey westward to the Pacific. While there he
made a survey up the river to the last post occupied by the
traders, and when leaving the country he descended and
surveyed the river to its mouth in Lake Athabaska. After
leaving Peace river, he went back into the Muskrat country,
where he had previously spent four years while in the employ
of the Hudson’s Bay Company. Through the inattention and
carelessness of some of the partners of the North-West Com-
pany, and through the greater efficiency in management
shown by the Hudson’s Bay Company, the trade of this
district had been allowed to fall largely into the hands of the
latter Company.

In previous years, while working under the jurisdiction of
York Factory, Thompson had had to contend against the
traders from Churchill, as well as against the Canadian traders
of the North-West ('tllll}“lll'\'. On this occasion the Hudson’s
Bay traders from York had withdrawn, and had left the field
to those from Churchill who were now under the control of
Thompson’s old schoolmate, George Charles. At the same
time there was also a third interest struggling for the trade
in the X Y Company of Montreal.

Thompson brought with him three canoes loaded with
trading supplies, which he distributed among five different
trading posts from Cranberry lake on the south to Indian
lake on the north. He himself went almost directly to
Nelson House on the Churchill river, where George Charles,
governor of the Churchill district, now had his headquarters,
and from there he went a little farther down the river to a
place called Musquawegan (or Bear’s Backbone), where he
built a house and spent the winter. That summer Charles
had made a prisoner of Louis Dupleix of the North-West
Company for stealing furs from the Hudson’s Bay Company
and had sent him to Churchill, where he was to be tried. But
neither this incident, nor the hard conditions of the fur trade,
served to cause any serious disagreement between old friends.

d
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During thewinter theyextended to each other various civilities,
including the loan of books, and when Thompson was leaving
Churchill river in the spring of 1805, everything that he did
not need to take with him was left in the care of Charles in
the Hudson’s Bay Company’s store at Nelson House. The
two men had done their utmost to outwit each other in trade
for the benefit of their respective companies, but at the same
time they had remained neighbours and friends.

After rounding up the furs from Indian lake, Musqua
wegan, and Nelson House, which he calls ¢ the old pm{.” he
started for Cumberland with all hands, picking up the furs
from the post on Cranberry lake as he passed it. At Cumber-
land House, where he was welcomed by Hamilton, then in
charge, he baled his furs and sent them down to Kamini-
stikwia with Morrin and Carter, while he spent the summer
visiting his posts at Reindeer lake and river and at Cran-
berry lake.

In the autumn, with a new and larger supply of goods, he
started back into the same country. On the way he dis-
mantled the post on Cranberry lake, and passing the old
post in Reed lake, where he and Malcolm Ross had spent a
winter together, he decided on a place to build a house near
where an old house had stood about twenty years before, for
here fish were said to be most plentiful, and it was on fish
that he was obliged to rely almost entirely for food. He sent
Connelly on to Indian lake, Joseph Plante to Old Fort
(Nelson House), and Frangois Morrin to Pukkatowagan
(Setting) lake, while he himself, surrounded by his family,
spent the winter at the house which he had just built on the
shore of Reed lake.

The following spring, when all the men came in from his
three outposts, the returns were found to be small, and it was
probably with considerable relief that he handed over the
charge of the district to a partner named Wills and started
eastward for Kaministikwia.
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On November 5, 1804, the North-West and X Y Com-
panies had discontinued their expensive struggle for the furs
caught by the Indians and agreed to unite their forces, and
David Thompson’s name appears among the list of the partners
as having signed the agreement by attorney. As a conse-
quence of the strength thus gained by union, the North-West
Company decided to extend its trade into the country west
of the Rocky Mountains which is now covered by the
province of British Columbia and the states of Idaho, Wash-
ington, Oregon, and the western }n)rti«»n of Montana.

In 1805 Simon Fraser was sent up the Peace river to
establish posts at its head-waters and around the sources of
the Fraser river, in the country subsequently known as New
Caledonia, and in the following year Thompson was sent up
the Saskatchewan river to his old home at Rocky Mountain
House, to be ready to cross the mountains the following
year. An attempt to trade with the Indians west of the
Rocky Mountains made from this place in 1801 had been
futile, but renewed efforts were now determined on. On
the previous occasion Duncan McGillivray, who was
stationed at Rocky Mountain House, was probably Thompson’s
superior in the Company, and controlled the policy of ex-
ploration pursued from the uppermost trading post on the
Saskatchewan river, but now Thompson himself was in
charge and was to lead the trading parties through the
mountains.

During the winter great preparations were made for an
expedition westward, and John McDonald of Garth, who
was in charge at Fort de I’Isle on the Saskatchewan river,
came up to Rocky Mountain House twice to assist in the
arrangements, on one occasion in February going to the
mountains himself. Quesnel and Finan McDonald, who were
Thompson’s assistants, also went to the mountains and
freighted up some goods in advance. But everything was
done quietly, for the employees of the Hudson’s Bay Com-
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pany under a trader named J. P. Prudens were living in an
adjoining house, and were watching all their movements.

Having spent the winter of 1806-7 at Rocky Mountain
House, Thompson pushed westward, accompanied by his wife
and family, to the Columbia river, through what has since
been called the Howse Pass, though Joseph Howse, who was a
clerk in the employ of the Hudson’s Bay Company, did not
travel over it until it had been beaten by Thompson for two
years. For three years he travelled backwards and forwards
across the mountains through this pass, during which time he
was engaged in establishing numerous trading posts on the
Columbia river and its tributaries, in making surveys of
every mile travelled, and in taking astronomical observations
to supplement these surveys and to determine the positions
of the houses which he occupied.

While Thompson was thus extending the fur-trade of the
North-West Company into the country west of the Rocky
Mountains, his old employers had not forgotten him, and the
reports of his explorations were anxiously listened to by the
Governors of the Hudson’s Bay Company in their board-
room in London. In the spring of 1808, the Governors wrote
to the Council at York Factory asking how far west Thompson
had succeeded in going, and John McNab and his colleagues
on the Council sent answer that he had wintered across the
mountains the previous year.

That winter McNab and his Council determined, if
possible, to see just how far Thompson had gone, and con-
sequently in 1809 they sent Joseph Howse, a writer in their
employ, in default of some one better trained in exploratory
work, to go west to the Rocky Mountains and discover where
Thompson was going every year. After a short journey into
the mountains Howse returned with his report.

In 1810 Howse again went west, this time prepared with
a plentiful supply of trading goods, and ascending to the head-
waters of the Saskatchewan river, along the route followed
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by Thompson in previous years, he crossed the divide and
reached the Columbia river, which he ascended to its head,
and thence made his way to the Flathead river north of Flat-
head lake, where he spent the winter of 1810-11, not far
from the site of the present town of Kalispell in Montana.

But one winter of such trading, near the battle-ground of
the Piegan and Flathead Indians, was enough, and in the
spring of 1811 Howse and all the employees of the Hudson’s
Bay Company abandoned the Columbia valley to their rivals
of the North-West Company, and did not enter it again
until after the union of the two companies in 1821.

In going up the Saskatchewan river, Thompson had been
obliged to pass through the country of the Piegan Indians, who
were constantly at war with the Kutenai Indians on the west
side of the mountains, and naturally the Piegan objected to
a trade which supplied their enemies with knives, spears, guns,
powder, bullets, and many other articles which made them
much more formidable in battle than they had been before.
Even Thompson’s friendship with them could not outweigh
their objections to this trade, and they warned him that he
must stop taking supplies to their enemies, or they would be
obliged to kill him and all his party.

In 1810 they intercepted Thompson’s brigade in the
mountains and forced the men to fly for their lives back down
the river. But the Piegan were Indians of the plains and
not of the woods, and Thompson, who knew them thoroughly,
decided to outwit them for all time by establishing a route
so far to the north that they would not be able to reach or
interfere with it. He therefore descended the Saskatchewan
for a short distance to the site of an abandoned house which
had been known as “ Boggy Hall.” The season was already
late, for there had been just time enough to cross the moun-
tains by the usual route, and the Indians had caused him a
great deal of delay, but in spite of the terrors of a journey
over these mountains by an unknown pass so late in the year
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that it would probably extend into the heart of winter, he
started with a train of pack-horses north-westward through
the forest to the head of the Athabaska river, and, after
overcoming tremendous difficulties and enduring extreme
privations, he reached the Columbia river at the mouth of
the Canoe river, at a place now known as the Big Bend, on
January 26, 1811. It has often been stated that Thompson
was sent on a rush journey to the mouth of the Columbia
river to forestall the employees of the Pacific Fur Company
in building a trading post there, but in his journals there is
no intimation whatever that such was his errand. He was
perfectly well aware that the Pacific Fur Company was making
elaborate preparations to establish trading posts on the
Columbia river, but for several years he and his people had
occupied advantageous positions on that river and its tribu-
taries, and he felt that he was able to hold the trade. He
was extending the fur trade of the North-West Company
among the Indians west of the mountains, and was searching
out and surveying the best routes by which those Indians
could be reached and by which the furs obtained from them
could be transported to Montreal, and he travelled deliber-
ately and carefully with that object always in view. At the
same time he remembered how the North-West Company
had been turned out of Minnesota by the agents of the
American government, and he determined to avoid a similar
contingency here by publicly claiming for Great Britain the
country in which his posts were situated.

In the spring of 1811 he ascended the Columbia river as
usual and descended the Kootenay river to his old trading
posts, travelled by canoe and on horseback among these posts,
and then returned to the Columbia river, which he reached
at Ilthkoyape or Kettle Falls. From this place he descended
the stream to Fort Astoria at its mouth, where he landed on
July 15, 1811, and where he found Duncan McDougall,
an old partner of his, in charge for the Pacific Fur Company.
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After spending a few days at Astoria with McDougall,
he started back up the Columbia river to the mouth of Snake
river. After travelling backwards and forwards among his
trading posts until the autumn, he again reached Ilthkoyape
Falls. Here he built a canoe and ascended the river through
Arrow lakes, past the present site of Revelstoke, and up
through the Dalles des Morts, whose treacherous rapids and
whirlpools have been fatal to so many boatmen, to the Big
Bend, or Boat Encampment, and thus completed the survey
of the river from its source to its mouth. Portions of this
river have never been resurveyed since that time, so that
Thompson’s surveys still appear on every map of the
Columbia river that is published.

Thompson had now been more than twenty-eight years
in northern and western America, and his survey of the
Columbia had completed his preparations for the making of
the map of north-western America toward which he had been
working during these years. The winter of 1811-12 he spent
on Clark’s Fork and its tributaries, with headquarters at
Saleesh House, and in the spring of 1812 he recrossed the
mountains and set off down the Athabaska and Churchill
rivers for Montreal. He arrived in Montreal late in the
summer, after a long and arduous journey and a narrow
escape from the Americans, between whom and Great Britain
war had just been declared ; and never again did he visit the
scenes of his western exploits. At this point the narrative
which is here presented concludes.

Thompson took up his residence at Terrebonne, in the
province of Quebec, and immediately enlisted as an ensign in
the 2nd Battalion under Lieutenant-Colonel Roderick Mac-
kenzie, with his old companion Simon Fraser as one of his fellow
officers. He spent the two years 1813-14 in preparing his map
of western Canada for the North-West Company, on a scale
of about fifteen miles to an inch, from the observations and
surveys that he had made during the previous twenty-three
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ment of the Province of Ontario, and is reproduced on a some-
what reduced scale in the present volume, is entitled :

“Map of the North West Territory of the Province of Canada,
1792-1812, embracing region between Latitudes 45 and 56, and
Longitudes 84 and 124.

“ Map made for the North West Company in 1813-1814."

It is interesting to note that it is almost on the same
scale as the great international map of the world which is
now being prepared under the auspices of the governments
of the various civilized countries.

On February 10, 1814, he was registered in Terrebonne as
a land surveyor. From 1816 to 1826 he was engaged in sur-
veying and defining the boundary line, on the part of Great
Britain, between Canada and the United States. He was
employed in 1817 in the St. Lawrence, and thence proceeding
westward around the shores of the Great Lakes he reached
the north-west angle of the Lake of the Woods in 1825. In
1834 he surveyed Lake St. Francis on the St. Lawrence river ;
in 1837 he made a survey of the canoe route from Lake
Huron to the Ottawa river ; and a few years later he made a
survey of Lake St. Peter.

The last years of his life were spent by Thompson first at
Williamstown, Glengarry county, Ontario, and afterwards in
Longueuil, opposite Montreal. In Williamstown, he bought
the property of the Rev. John Bethune, the father of the
former Bishop of Toronto; and for a time he was in com-
fortable, if not indeed wealthy, circumstances. But towards
the end of his life he fell on evil days. A mortgage which
he held on the Presbyterian church in Williamstown, the
congregation proved unable to pay ; and Thompson deeded
to them the church and the grounds.! He set up his

This statement depends upon the authority of one of David Thompson’s
daughters, Mrs. W. R. Scott.
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sons ' in business, and they failed ; and in paying off their debts,
he impoverished himself. When he removed to Longueuil, he
was still able to make a comfortable living, until his eyesight
failed him. His position then became pathetic. He was so
poor that he had to sell his instruments and even to pawn his
coat to procure food for himself and his family. In one of
his note-books, he writes : ** Borrowed 2s. 64. from a friend.
Thank God for this relief.” And in another place he tells

! Thompson had seven sons and six daughters. In the family Bible there
are inscribed in Thompson’s own handwriting the following entries :

“ David Thompson, born in the Westminster Parish of St. John, April 3oth,
1770.

“Charlotte Small, wife of David Thompson, born September 1st, 1785, at
Isle a la Crosse, married to David Thompson, June 1oth, 1799.

“Fanny Thompson, born June 1oth, 1801. Rocky Mountain House.

‘ Samuel Thompson, born March sth, 1804. Peace River Forks.

“ Emma Thompson, born March, 1805. Reed Lake House.

‘ John Thompson, born August 25th, 1808. Boggy Hall, Saskatchewan.

‘ Joshua Thompson, born March 28th, 1811. Fort Augustus.

‘“ Henry Thompson, born July 3oth, 1813. Terrebonne Village.

“John Thompson, deceased January 11th, 1814, at 7 A.M. in the Village of
Terrebonne, buried in Montreal the 12th inst. No. 353. Aged 5 years and
near 5 months, a beautiful, promising boy.

“Emma Thompson, deceased Feb. 22nd, 1814, at 7.25 P.M. Aged 7 years
and near 11 months. Buried close touching her brother in Montreal. No 353.
An amiable, innocent girl, too good for this world.

“ Charlotte Thompson, born 7th July, 1815, at 11} A.M. Village of Terre-
bonne.

“ Elizabeth Thompson, born 25th April, 1817, at 8 p.M., at the Village of
Williamstown, River Raisin, Glengarry.

“William Thompson, born gth November, 1819, at the Village of Williams-
town, River Raisin, Glengarry.

“Thomas Thompson, born July 1oth, 1822, at 4 .M. Williamstown, Glen-
garry, Up. Canada.

“George Thompson, born 13th July, 1 A.M., 1824, Williamstown, Glengarry,
Up. Canada, died August 27th, 10} A.M. Buried August 28th, 1824, Aged
7 weeks.

“Mary Thompson, born April 2, 1827, at Williamstown, 12 p.M.  Glen-
garry, Up. Canada.

“Eliza Thompson, born March 4, 1829, at Williamstown, baptized by the
Rev. John Mackenzie, April 12, 1829,

“Henry Thompson, died 23 October, 1855, aged 42, buried in Mount Royal
Cemetery, Montreal.”
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of trying to sell to a gentleman his maps of Lake Superior
and his sketches of the Rocky Mountains. “ He would not
purchase, but loaned me $5.00. A good relief, for I had been
a week without a penny.”

Thompson died at Longueuil, on February 10, 1857, at the
ripe old age of nearly eighty-seven years. His wife survived
him by only three months ; she died on May 7 of the same
year; and (hcx both lie buried in Mount Rma] cemetery in
Montreal, without mark or monument to show their resting-
place

David Thompson was a man of somewhat singular appear-

ance. ‘‘ He was plainly dressed, quiet and observant,” wrote
the naturalist of the International Boundary Commission
with regard to his first meeting him in the year 1817.r “ His
figure was short and compact, and his black hair was worn
long all round, and cut square, as if by one stroke of the
shears, just above the eyebrows. His complexion was of the
gardener’s ruddy brown, while the expression of deeply
furrowed features was friendly and intelligent, but his cut-
short nose gave him an odd look. . . . I might have spared
this description of Mr. David Thompson by saying he greatly
resembled Curran, the Irish orator.” Dr. Bigsby conceived
a great admiration for his colleague. ‘ Never mind his
Bunyan-like face and cropped hair; he has a very powerful
mind, and a singular t.uult_\ of picture-making. He can
create a wilderness and people it with warring savages, or
climb the Rocky "lountains with you in a snow storm, so
clearly and palpably, that only shut your eyes and you hear
the crack of the rifle, or feel the snow-flakes on your cheeks
as he talk .”

One « f Thompson’s most striking characteristics was his
piety, the fruit of his early years in the Grey Coat School
in Westminster. The  thank Good Providence,” with which
he so frequently concludes the account of his expeditions,

' I. ]. Bigsby, The Shoe and Canoe, vol. i. pp. 113-14.
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was no mere formula, but the sincere thanksgiving of a devout
man.  “Our astronomer, Mr. Thompson,” wrote Dr.
Bigsby,! “ was a firm churchman; while most of our men
were Roman Catholics. Many a time have I seen these
uneducated Canadians most attentively and thankfully listen,
as they sat upon some bank of shingle, to Mr. Thompson,
while he read to them, in most extraordinarily pronounced
French, three chapters out of the Old Testament, and as
many out of the New, adding such explanations as seemed to
him suitable.”
sort, but there were few white men in the West in those early
days who bore so consistently as he did the white flower of a

Thompson’s piety was not of an obtrusive

blameless life.

Typical of him was his attitude towards the trading of
spirituous liquors to the Indians. He was a strong opponent
of the liquor traffic ; and while he was in charge of the western
posts no alcoholic liquors were allowed to be taken to them.
The years in which Thompson was in the West were perhaps
the period in which this debasing trade was at its worst. Rival
companies were vying with each other for the furs ; and cheap
spirits were regarded by the traders as the most profitable
sort of barter. Such, however, was not Thompson’s view.
He believed that the use of intoxicating liquor in trade was
a short-sighted policy ; and he gives in his own words an
amusing account of how he prevented the trade from spread-
ing during his time beyond the Rockies.

“] was obliged,” he says in his account of the expedition of 1808,
“to take two kegs of alcohol, overruled by my Partners (Messs Dond
Mc<Tavish and Jo McDonald [of] Gart[h]) for I had made it a law to
myself, that no alcohol should pass the Mountains in my company, and
thus be clear of the sad sight of drunkeness, and its many evils: but these
gentlemen insisted upon alcohol being the most profitable article that
could be taken for the indian trade. In this I knew they had mis-
calculated ; accordingly when we came to the defiles of the Mountains

1 1. J. Bigsby, The Shoe and Canoe, vol. ii. pp. 205-6.
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I placed the two Kegs of Alcohol on a vicious horse ; and by noon the
Kegs were empty, and in pieces, the Horse rubbing his load against
the Rocks to get rid of it ; I wrote to my partners what I had done ;
and that I would do the same to every Keg of Alcohol, and for the next
six years I had charge of the furr trade on the west side of the Moun-
tains, no further attempt was made to introduce spirituous Liquors.”

Thus for a few years at least Thompson kept the curse of
alcoholism from debasing the Indians of southern British
Columbia, Washington, and Idaho.

It is difficult for us at this time to appreciate to its full
extent the work which Thompson did for the furtherance of
geographical knowledge on the continent of North America.
It is necessary to go back a little and to review briefly what
was known of the geography of western Canada at the time
when Thompson landed on the shore of Hudson Bay. An
idea may be obtained of the geographical knowledge that
was prevalent in the latter half of the eighteenth century by
reference to page xxv, where the books which were used in
the Grey Coat School at the time are enumerated. It is
true that geographical knowledge and progress were just
beginning to pervade the thoughts of the educated people
throughout the world, but exploration, led by Captain James
Cook and a few others, was being largely confined to the
ocean rather than to the land. Moreover, the settlements in
eastern America had carried with them a knowledge of the
geography of the country westward as far as Lake Superior
and the valley of the Mississippi, but beyond these parts the
country was still entirely in the hands of the native Indians.
Away to the north, a mining fever had induced the Hudson’s
Bay Company to send a man inland from Hudson Bay to
investigate the report of an enormous copper deposit in the
vicinity of the Coppermine river, and this man, Samuel
Hearne, had made a sketch of the route which he followed.

In 1784, the year in which Thompson reached Hudson
Bay, the great map of the world accompanying the account
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of Cook’s third voyage was publi>hcd. and in that map, part
of which is reproduced in this volume, it will be seen that
almost the whole of north-western America, with the excep-
tion of that portion sketched by Hearne in his journey to the
Coppermine river, is left blank. This map represents the
very latest information in the possession of the British Govern-
ment and people, and, in fact, in the possession of the whole
civilized world, at that time.

Thompson had thus a large part of a new continent ready
for his work, and he must have recognised that rough sketches,
such as had undoubtedly been made by some of his com-
panions in the fur trade, were of little permanent value, and
that to make such a map as would be a credit to him and an
advantage to geographers in the world at large, he must first
carefully determine the positions of some of the principal
places or natural objects in the country. In fact, he recog-
nised the true importance of a great trigonometrical survey
of the country, with some places carefully located by observa-
tions for latitude and longitude, and then with connecting
surveys made in such ways as were possible to him between
those places. Thus, from the very first, he laid his plans for
a map of the country carefully and well.

In the prosecution of the fur trade Thompson travelled
more than §0,000 miles in canoes, on horseback, and on foot
through what was then an unmapped country, and no matter
what the difficulties or dangers of the journeys might be, he
never neglected his surveys. While a good deal of this dis-
tance was made up of trips over ground that he might have
been over before, advantage was ;1]\\';1)'5 taken to make re-
surveys and check the correctness or accuracy of previous
work. He always continued to occupy his spare time in the
winter, when he was not travelling, in taking observations and
determining with great care the positions of any places at
which he might be stopping.

He obtained a thorough knowledge of the topography of
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the whole of the country which he was able to visit. The
lengths of the rivers, the heights of the mountains, the extent
of the plains, were all alike investigated, and the results were
recorded by him. All the explorers who preceded him, and
most of those who followed him, were content to survey
individual lines of travel and to be able to place these lines
in approximately their correct positions on a map, but
Thompson’s ambition was to accomplish much greater results
than these, namely, to determine and delineate the physical
features of the whole of north-western America. Alexander
Mackenzie and Simon Fraser, two of the early explorers whose
work has received public recognition, devoted all their time
and energy during their exploring trips to the one object of
successfully accomplishing their explorations and surveys, and
after these explorations were completed they turned to other
work; but Thompson was not a spasmodic explorer; with him
surveying was his chief pleasure and life-work. During only
one year, when on his journey to the Mandan Indian villages
and to the head waters of the Mississippi river, was he able
to devote his whole time to surveying and exploring work.
During the rest of his life in the West he was merely taking
advantage of the positions in which he might be situated.
His busincss was the trading in furs, but he was in the middle
of unknown country, surrounded on all sides by pristine
wilderness waiting to be surveyed. In the intervals of his
trade, he was cxploring, surveying, and depicting by regular
methods on the map, the features of the country in which
he was living, so that ever afterwards anyone else would be
able to form an intelligent idea of it. The excellence and
greatness of his work is accounted for largely by this systematic
continuation of surveys, practically without a break, for
twenty-three years.

His surveys were not merely rough sketches sufficient to
give some idea of the general character of the country, but
were careful traverses made by a master in the art, short
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courses being taken with a magnetic compass, the variation
of which was constantly determined, distances being carefully
estimated by the time taken to travel them, and the whole
checked by numerous astronomical observations for latitude
and longitude.

His astronomical observations were made with the greatest
care, his latitudes being taken from the sun or any star or
planet which was conveniently situated at the time, while his
longitudes were usually determined by one or more observa-
tions for lunar distances. Geographers will readily appreciate
the excellence of this work by a glance at the following table
of longitudes chosen at random from the large number recorded
by him between the years 1789 and 1812.

Longitude by latest

Place Thompson's Longitude
Survey

York Factory . . 92’ 29’ 20’ 92° 27
Cumberland House . : . 102° 13’ 102° 16
Kootanae House . . 115° §1° 40" 116° 00’
Rocky Mountain House ‘ 114° 52’ 114° §7°
Fort Augustus . . . iy 1Y LT g o
Buckingham House . 110° 41’ 110° 45’
Peace River Forks . : . 1y 1y 4 117° 23’
McDonnell’s House . 99° 27’ 15" 99° 37’
Saleesh House . : Fig’ 83’ §1 s s’
Spokane House 1z° 27 117° 33

A reduced copy of the great map which he drew is pub-
lished at the end of the present volume, and by comparing
it with the Cook map opposite page Ix some little idea may
be gained of the magnitude of the work which Thompson,
almost single-handed, accomplished in the intervals of time
that he was able to spare from his work as a fur trader.

[t may seem strange that a man who has done such mag-
nificent work as was accomplished by this great geographer
should have received so little recognition. But recognition
is, or should be, founded on knowledge, and his geographical
work has remained almost unknown. The first and perhaps
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the chief reason which has contributed to the general ignor-
ance of Thompson’s work was the remarkable modesty and
single-mindedness of the man himself. Self-abasement had
doubtless been taught to him in the Grey Coat School, and
his lonely life in the West had emphasized this side of his
character. He never talked much, or boasted of his own
exploits, and his writing was confined almost entirely to his
note-books, in which he entered with perfect regularity the
details of his surveys and the incidents of trade.

[t is true that in his later years, when the competence
which he had accumulated in the West had disappeared, and
when he was scarcely able to get enough work to do to enable
him to provide food for his family, he wrote the account of
his life in the West which is here given; but it was not
published.!

He was an excellent story teller, but very retiring, and the
fact that his wife was a native of the West and, like other
natives, perhaps shy and diffident, doubtless kept him from
participating in the social life of Montreal. He was hardly
the sort of man who was likely to be in his element among
the rollicking, heavy-drinking North-Westers who made
Beaver Hall Club in Montreal their headquarters.

Moreover, during the time when he was in the employ
of the Hudson’s Bay Company, his note-books and maps
were turned over to the Company, and by them passed on to
Arrowsmith, the mapmaker, in London, who incorporated
them in the maps of British North America, and for this
information Arrowsmith gave the Hudson’s Bay Company
credit, but nothing was said of Thompson, the man who had
made the surveys. Therefore, his work was entirely unknown
to anyone outside of the Hudson’s Bay Company at that time ;

! Thompson’s daughter, Mrs. Shaw, is authority for the statement that
Washington Irving endeavoured to obtain the manuscript, but that the terms or
conditions which he offered, chiefly as regards acknowledgment, were not
satisfactory, and Thompson would not give it to him,
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and as to the Hudson’s Bay Company’s records themselves,
they are even yet practically closed to investigators.

After he had joined the North-West Company, he con-
tinued to hand over his sketches and the records of his surveys
to his associates, and when his great map was finally com-
pleted it was taken by them and hung on the walls of their
board-room in Fort William, where scarcely anyone but the
traders themselves was likely to see it. 'The information
contained in it was sent to Arrowsmith as before, but we look
in vain on any of his maps for recognition of Thompson or
his work. That some people of influence at the time recog-
nised his ability is certain, or this poor boy from a charity
school in London, who had educated himself as a surveyor
on the plains and mountains of the West, would not have been
appointed as astronomer for the British Government to run
the boundary line between the United States and British
North America. But the record of that survey was made on
maps and not in books. The people who study maps are few
compared to those who read books, and consequently, often
great maps may remain in manuscript unpublished when
even trivial books are published with profit and read with
enthusiasm.

[n addition to the reasons for non-recognition inherent in
the man himself, the fur trade of the country, which was its
only tangible asset at that time, became centred in the hands
of two great Companies, and after the union of these Com-
panies in 1821, in the Hudson’s Bay Company alone, which
became a virtual monopoly with headquarters in London.
Private enterprise was stifled, and the people of Canada, and
in fact of the whole of North America, lost touch with a country
in which they had no commercial interest and in the trade of
which they were not allowed to participate. Thus, while
thrilling accounts of adventure in north-western America,
such as Irving’s Astoria, or Ross’s Fur Hunters of the Far West,
might be read with interest, regardless of location, accounts

e
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of work done to promote a fuller knowledge of the country
were disregarded.

After Thompson left north-western Canada, the inspira-
tion for surveying that country died completely out, except
where it was connected with the exploration of the northern
shore of the continent of America, and the determination of
the possibility of a water passage from Europe to Asia to
the north of it; and when in 1857, forty-five years after
the termination of Thompson’s work, the Government of
Canada began to look westward and wanted a map of western
Canada, the very best that it could do was to republish
Thompson’s map of 1813, without, however, giving him
credit for it, except by a small note in one corner; and to
this day some parts of the maps of Canada published by the
Canadian Government, the railway companies, and others,
are taken from Thompson’s map.

Thompson’s maps and note-books are a lasting monument
to the work he accomplished for north-western America, and
while this monument has remained in obscurity up to the
present, the people, both of the east and west, will eventually
recognize its grandeur, and will do homage to the memory
of the man who designed and constructed it.




DAVID THOMPSON’S ITINERARY IN
NORTH-WESTERN AMERICA, 1785-1812

1785-1789

For the first five years after Thompson landed on the shores of
Hudson Bay, he spent his time chiefly at Churchill and York Factories,
and on the Saskatchewan river ; and during this period he appears to
have travelled about two thousand miles, though he had not yet begun
to make surveys of any of the routes which he followed. In 1785 he
made the journey from Churchill to York Factory along the shores of
Hudson Bay ; in 1786 he ascended the Hayes and Saskatchewan rivers
from York Factory past Cumberland and Hudson Houses to Manchester
House. From there he made a journey south-westward across the
great plains to a camp of the Piegan on the banks of Bow river, where
he spent a winter (1787-88 ?), returning to Manchester House in the
following year. About 1788 he seems to have returned to Hudson’s
House ; and from Hudson’s House he travelled in 1789 to Cumberland
House, in Pine Island lake, one of the expansions of the Saskatchewan
river, It was here, in the winter of 1789-qo, that ii= began his life-
work as a surveyor by taking a large number of astronomical observations.
By these observations he determined the exact position of Cumberland
House on the surface of the globe, so that no matter how hastily his
surveys of the surrounding country might be made, he had that as a
definite fixed position to which to refer.

1790

In the spring of 1790 he was ordered to accompany the fur brigade
to York Factory; and on June g he left Cumberland House, and
began the survey from there down the Saskatchewan river to its
mouth, which was reached on June 15. Thence he proceeded along
the north shore of Great Lake (Lake Winnipeg) through Playgreen

(Buscuscoggan) lake, and from there by the regular water route
Ixv
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through Holy (Oxford) lake, Trout river, Knee and Swampy lakes,
and Hayes river to York Factory. After staying a while at York
Factory he returned to Cumberland House, doubtless by the same
route (for he did not make another survey), and wintered there.

1791

In the summer of 1791 he again descended to York Factory, and
here he spent the following year.

On September 5, 1792, he left York Factory with two canoes,
descended Hayes river, rounded the point in Hudson Bay, and
ascended the Nelson river, making a survey of the route as he went
On September 28 he reached Split lake, and on September 30 the
“Saskatchewan River.”? A little farther up stream William Cook
with one of the canoes turned up Grass river to Chatham House on
Wintering lake, but Thompson with the other canoe kept on up the
main stream, and on October 8 arrived at a rocky point on the west
side of Sipiwesk lake, where he built a trading post.2 During the
winter he took no less than twenty-eight lunar observations for longi-
tude. However, this proved to be a poor place for either fish or
game, and on several occasions he was obliged to go to Chatham
House, which was only about thirty miles away, and seek provisions
from his friend William Cook.

1793

In the following spring, when the river was clear of ice, he started
from Secpaywisk House, and descended to the lower end of the lake,
' In applying the name “Saskatchewan River” to that portion of the
Ne¢

river above Split river, Thompson was doubtless following the usage

I g 8
of the natives and employees of the Hudson’s Bay Company of that time.
There

for believing that the name Saskatchewan was originally
apphed to that portion of the Nelson river which flows from Lake Winnipeg
to Split lake, rather than to the great river above Lake Winnipeg to which
the name is now applied.

* The place where “Seepaywisk House” appears to have stood is now
covered with a grove of poplars, with a forest of spruce in the background.
I'wo rocky points project into the lake and form a snug little harbour for
mall boat Looking towards the south-west, Sipiwesk lake, dotted with dark
green islands, extends away to the distant horizon.
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carried over Cross Portage, surveyed Susquagemow (Landing) lake,'
carried over Thicket Portage, and entered Chatham (Wintering) lake,
where, on a long point extending northward into the lake, the Com-
pany had a post. After three days spent here he resumed his journey,
first across the rest of Wintering lake, then over two portages, two-
thirds of a mile and a mile and a quarter long respectively, to McKay’s
(Paint) lake, now known as Manuminan or (Red) Paint lake, and
thence across into Pipe lake and up Weepiskow (Burntwood) river,
and through Wuskwatim and Burntwood lakes. From Burntwood
river he carried his canoe across Duck Portage into Missinipi
(Churchill) river, which he ascended for thirty-three miles, intending
to proceed to Reindeer lake. He was, however, unable to find the
Indians whom he expected to meet, and in latitude 55° 25" 20" N.,
longitude 102° 10" 49” W, he turned back and made his way down
the Burntwood and Nelson rivers to York Factory, where he arrived
on July 21.  During this journey he had discovered, and determined
the positions of, three settlements of the Canadian traders, kept respec-
tively by McKay, Baldwin, and White (Wabiscow), and he had found
a route which was short and easy compared to that used by the
Canadian traders by which to bring in supplies to oppose them. His
journal contains minute descriptions of all parts of this route, with the
lengths and positions of the portages, how to approach or depart from
them with canoes, how and where the rapids should be run, and so forth.

After stopping a few weeks at the headquarters of the Hudson’s
Bay Company on the shore of Hudson Bay, the energetic young sur-
veyor set off once more. By the Hayes river route he ascended again
to the Saskatchewan river, and arrived on October 5 at his old home
at Cumberland House. On the 8th he left Cumberland House,
and continued the ascent of the Saskatchewan. On the 15th he
reached the Forks, where he turned up the south branch, and after

2

three days’ travel he reached South Branch House,? situated somewhere

! The Cree name for this lake is Suskiskwegimew Sakahigan, translated as
Where-the-Sturgeon-put-their-heads-against-the-Rock lake. This is the lake
called by Jéremie, who was in charge of Fort Bourbon in 1714, Anisquaoui-
gamou, although the meaning given by him for the Indian word is incorrect.

* |t does not appear when this trading post was founded, but it was visited
by Thompson on October 18, 1793. On June 24, 1794, according to the
journal of Peter Fidler, who was at York Factory at the time, it was plundered
and burnt by the Fall Indians who had plundered Manchester House the
previous autumn. There were nine people in the fort at the time. Of these,
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near Gardepui’s Crossing, east of Duck lake. Here he took horses,
and reached Manchester House, his former home on the North
Saskatchewan, on October 28, and Buckingham House on October 31,
the latter situated on the north side of the North Saskatchewan, in
latitude 53°

2’7" N. In the immediate vicinity was a new post of
the North-West Company, called Fort George, which had been built
by Angus Shaw the previous year, and which was then in charge of
Angus Shaw and John McDonald of Garth.

While Thompson travelled on horseback, the boats with their
cargoes continued up the stream, but unfortunately the winter set in
carly that year, and they were caught in the ice near the site of the
present town of Battleford, and were obliged to transport the goods on
horseback the rest of the way to Buckingham House.

From Buckingham House T hompson rode out to the Beaver hills,
near where Fort Augustus was afterwards built, and returned to Buck-
ingham House on November 29. Here he spent the winter, keep-
ing, as usu:

1 meteorological register, taking observations for longitude
and latitude, and working out his former traverses by latitude and
Alt‘}’.lr[lll('.

1794

On May 16, 1794, he started down stream to York Factory.
The river from Buckingham House to the Forks had not yet been
surveyed, therefore he surveyed that portion of it, and continued on
making a resurvey of the rest of the river. Manchester House was
passed on the evening of May 18
what he calls the Lower Crossing, :

and on May 22 he reached
1 place which his observation for

three men, Magnus Annel, Hugh Brough, and William Fea, one woman and
two children were murdered ; two young women were carried away as slaves ;
and one man named Vandereil escaped by concealing himself in an old cellar,
and reached York Factory with the news of the massacre on August 11. The
North-West Company had a post about one thousand yards away, which the
Indians attacked, but from which they were beaten off with a loss of fourteen
killed and wounded. After this, however, the post was abandoned, and the
men went down the river to some place on the Saskatchewan below the Forks.
Later, in 1804, the post was rebuilt at a place six miles above its former site,
after the abandonment of Chesterfield House, which was at the Forks of the
Red Deer and Bow rivers still farther up the same river. Daniel Harmon
was at this post for the North-West Company in 1805, and Joseph Howse for
the Hudson’s Bay Company in 1806-7. Peter Fidler puts it in latitude 32° 53’
N., which would be near Gardepui’s Crossing.
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latitude places in Section 18, Tp. 46, Range 3, west of the Third
Principle Meridian, near the village of Silver Grove. From here
William Tomison, who was probably now in charge of this brigade of
canoes, rode over to South Branch House. Two places of the name
of Hudson’s House were then passed, the lower of the two being
Tomison’s old home.! On May 27 the mouth of the South Branch
was reached, and next day Thompson seems to have passed the site of
Fort 4 la Corne, which was not occupied at that time, without noticing
it ; for the first place he mentions is Isaac’s House, 38" of longitude
cast of the Forks, which would place it somewhere in Range 17 west
of the Second Meridian. Nine and three-quarter miles below it was
the Canadian post at the “Nepoin,” kept by Porter and McLeod.
Still lower down the river was “Hungry Hall,”” where Ross and
Thoburn had lived in 1792-93, doubtless at Tobin Rapids, which is
about fourteen miles above Sturgeon river.?

On June 2 he arrived at Cumberland House. But instead of
returning to the Saskatchewan by Tearing river, and proceeding
thence by the regular route through Lake Winnipeg to York Factory,
he turned north-eastward through his old trading ground, and paddled
through Namew or Sturgeon lake, up Goose river to Goose lake,
and thence into Athapapuskow lake. On the east side of this
lake he left the waters which flow southward to the Saskatchewan,
and crossed Cranberry Portage, a level portage of two thousand six
hundred and seventy-five paces, which, when visited by the writer
in the fall of 1896, was beautifully dry throughout its length., From

! These two houses, referred to respectively as Upper and Lower Hudson’s
House, are shown by Thompson’s survey to have been situated on the north-
west bank of the river about fifteen miles apart. The upper post was estab-
lished by Philip Turnor for the Hudson’s Bay Company, about 1776, as an
outpost from Cumberland House, and was then the uppermost settlement on the
Saskatchewan river. In the Introduction to Captain Cook’s 74ird Voyage,
it is stated, apparently on Turnor’s authority, to have been in latitude §3° o’
32” N. T'his agrees closely with Thompson's survey, and places it in
Section 32, Tp. 46, Range 3, west of the Third Meridian, about four miles
north of Silver Grove, Saskatchewan. Lower Hudson's House, which was
built at a later date, apparently by Tomison, was situated fifteen miles
farther down the river three or four miles below a place now known as Yellow
Banks, opposite the mouth of Steep Creek. Here Thompson had spent the
winter of 1788-89.

* Alexander Henry, ascending this river in 1808, speaks of “an old estab-
lishment, abandoned many years ago,” just above “ Grand” (Tobin) Rapids.
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the portage he crossed Cranberry lake, descended the Elbow river
to Ithenootosequan or Elbow lake, and thence went on down Grass
river, between barren, rocky hills, to Reed lake. Here he left Ross
to build a trading post, and himself continued down Crooked and
File rivers to Burntwood lake, noting on the way two places which
had been occupied respectively by the traders from Churchill and by
Robert Thompson during the previous winter. Thence he followed
his route of the previous spring down the Burntwood and Nelson
rivers to York Factory. He arrived at the latter place on July s,
and remained there twenty-one days. Then he turned back, and
travelling up Nelson and Grass rivers, reached Reed Lake House on
Reed lake on September 2. Here, in the midst of an excellent
country for fish, game, and fur-bearing animals, he spent the winter
of 1794-95, and during the intervals of an active fur trade, he took
forty-six lunar distance observations for longitude.

1795

This year, in company with Malcolm Ross, Thompson arrived at
York Factory on July 5 with three large and two small canoes. On
July 18, he and Ross left York Factory and ascended the Nelson river.
On September 6, they arrived at Duck Portage at the west end of Sisipuk
lake, which is one of the expansions of the Churchill river. Here
they decided to divide the goods they had brought for trade, Ross going
on with two large canoes and one small canoe to a point a mile below
the mouth of Reindeer river, where he built a house named by him
Fairford House. Thompson with four men built a trading post on the
south side of Duck Portage. His observations place it in latitude
55° 40" 30” N., and longitude 102° 7 37" W., a position practically
identical with that which it occupies on the most recent maps. He
had hardly got his house built when a Canadian arrived with six Indians
in a large canoe, and built a house thirty yards to the eastward.

1796
On January 12, 1796, George Charles with five men from Churchill
called with the ostensible object of seeing if it were possible to collect

some debts that were owed to them by the Indians, and when Charles
departed two days later for T'hree Point lake he left three men behind
for the winter.

Thus Thompson had not only to compete with the
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Canadians from Montreal, but he had also to compete in trade with
other employees of the Hudson’s Bay Company from Churchill, who
were not under the authority of the Council at York. The remainder
of the winter seems to have been rather uneventful, broken only by
visits from employees of the Company from Reed lake, Fairford
House, and Three Point lake.

In the spring Thompson first made a survey eastward to the
mouth of the Kississing river. Then, after returning to Duck
Portage House, he ascended and surveyed the Churchill river to
Fairford House, a mile below the mouth of Reindeer river. Here
he obtained, with difficulty, two Indian canoemen, and on June 10
started to make a survey northward through Reindeer and Wollaston
lakes, and down Black river to the east end of Lake Athabaska ; but
the account of this survey need not be repeated here, as it will be
found in full in Thompson’s own words on pages 133-53. That
autumn Thompson returned to Reindeer lake, and spent the winter
of 1796-97 with Malcolm Ross at a post which he called Bedford
House, on the west side of that lake,

1797

On May 28, 1797, having decided to sever his connection with
the Hudson’s Bay Company, Thompson arrived on foot at the house
of Alexander Fraser, at the head of the Reindeer river,! and took
employment with the North-West Company. On June 7, after
having been hospitably entertained by the North-West Company’s
agent, he set out for Cumberland House, and reached it on June 23.
After a stay of four days here, he set out once more, reached Lake
Winnipeg on June 28, and travelling by way of Winnipeg river,
arrived at Grand Portage, Lake Superior, on July 22, having as
usual made a survey of his route.

On August g he set out from Grand Portage on one of his most
remarkable journeys. In company with Hugh McGillis, he descended
Rainy river, passing a fort half a mile below the Falls on the 21st,
and went on through Rainy lake and Lake of the Woods, From this
lake he descended Winnipeg river, and on September 1 he reached

! No sign of this old trading post could be found when I passed through
the lake in 1894; but Thompson states that it was in latitude 56° 20" 22” N,,
which would place it on Big Island a little north of the present outpost of
the Hudson’s Bay Company, or on the mainland opposite this island.
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Lake Winnipeg. He crossed this lake, ascended the Dauphin river,
crossed Lake Manito (Manitoba), and reached Lake Winnipegosis
by way of the Meadow Portage. On September 17, being camped
a mile and a half north of the Little Dauphin (Mossy) river, the
party received provisions from Fort Dauphin, on or near Dauphin

lake.t  They then proceeded northward up the west shore of Lake

Fort Dauphin was one of the oldest trading posts in the North-West.

Its position was changed from time to time, although it was always in the
good hunting gre | in the vicinity of Dauphin lake. It was first built on
the Mossy river in the autumn of 1741, by Pierre, one of the sons of the
P e la Virendrye, who had travelled northward from Fort la Reine
Portage la Prairie), across Prairie Portage into Lake Manitoba, and thence
by Lake W nto Mossy river Bougainville states that it was
eighty 1} from 1 Reine on the river Minanghenachequeké, which is
the present | name for Mossy river Harmon, in his Journal, p. 52,
neak f “the est ent at the entrance of the River Dauphin, which
fa to the west ¢ f 1l Winnepegosi ke At that place a French
' TV T ed before the British obtained possession of Canada. He
remaine there but a rt tim In 1889, I found the cellars and ruins
of a p he east of the Mossy river, three-quarters
f a mile above moutl L narrow strip of grassy land between the forest
1 I'l vas probably b everal times ; but possibly
[ I e erected her 1s that of Pierre la Vérendrye Peter Pond,
0 appeat 1 een the first | An to occupy a fort of this name
ifter vas a ed by the , gives the location of the post
0 ple 1 t the n t angle of Lake Dauphin. (See
Peter | map of 1790, Can, Arch. Report, 1890, p. 53.) But I could find
no trace of the existenc I a house at that place
Vhen Thompson wa t the mouth of Mossy river in 1797, Fort Dauphin
evidently a fo post was not then, however,
\ ¢ f M er, for for the canoes to go from
Mead« rtage the 1 h a distance of thirteen miles,
thence ¢ post i ith of the river I'hompson
was never on | ) but t as lying east and west, and
the post of the t Ve ( v stream flowing into the
lal ithern « | ke lie ( est and south-east, and the
south-weste € [ a ese lakes were wnly spoken of by travellers
15 the outhern [ the error bein large part accounted for by the
considerable aria f e magnetic eced I'he large
into the south-west side of the 1s Valle wer; and in
house visited by Thompson's men in 1 must be identified
of an old post on the utl de of

and about two miles in a straight line bac

Ruins of another trading post of a later date, bel ing t

o the Hudson’s

Bay Company, exist in the poplar forest on the west side of the lake eight
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Winnipegosis. On September 19, McGillis left to go up the Red
Deer river, whereas Thompson stopped at the mouth of Shoal river.
He ascended this river, passed through Swan lake, and ascended
Swan river for four miles and three-quarters to Swan River House,
on the north bank of the stream, in latitude §2° 24" 5" N.!

Horses were then in common use in the Swan river valley, and

after resting a day at the post, Thompson and Cuthbert Grant
borrowed two horses from Thomas Swain of the Hudsons Bay
Company, and started up the valley on a trail which ran for most of
the distance along the north side of the river. On the second day
they crossed to the south side of Swan river, and rode six miles to
a house kept by one Belleau in a “hummock of pines”’ on the bank
of Snake Creck, almost on the present line of the Second Principal
Meridian, and about six miles north of Fort Pelly. From here he
turned southward, and continued his survey past the post of the
Hudson’s Bay Company at the Elbow of the Assiniboine river to the
house of Cuthbert Grant, which was situated in Tp. 28, Range 31,
south-west of the present village of Runnymede on the Canadian
Northern Railway.? Here he remained till October 14, when he
returned to Belleau’s House on Snake Creek, in order, if possible, to
obtain guides to take him up the Swan river, across the watershed
to Red Deer river, and thence around to the head waters of the
Assiniboine river. From this date to November 28 his journal was
lost, but he states, “I surveyed the Stone Indian [Assiniboine] River
upward, and its sources, and the Red Deer River and its sources, and
miles south of the mouth of Valley river. Alexander Murray is said to
have traded here in the late seventies I'he ruins of yet another house of the
Hudson’s Bay Company, which was only used as a winter post for a short
time in the seventies, is to be seen at the south-east angle of the lake.

As Harmon, who arrived here three years later, points out in his_fournal,
this post is twelve miles up the river from its mouth ; and this is where it is
placed on J. B. Tyrrell's map of North-Western Manitoba (1891), published by
the Geological Survey of Canada. The house was in a grove of poplar; and
half a mile farther west was the Dog Knoll, where the men used to move
the stores in times of flood. A couple of miles higher up the river, and
twenty-five paces back of it on the north side, where the banks are fifteen feet
high, is the position of a post of the Hudson’s Bay Company

* In 1890 the remains of an old establishment were to be seen in the south-
west quarter, Section 14, Tp. 28, R. 31, west of the First Meridian, five hundred
paces east of the bank of the river, and fifty paces from the foot of the side of

the valley, at the mouth of a dry ravine




Ixxiv.  DAVID THOMPSON'S NARRATIVE
from thence returned to the house of Mr. Cuthbert Grant, at the

Brooks, on the Stone Indian River,”” He gives in his journal, how-

it by latitude and departure which show his
course to have been from Belleau’s House to the Upper House on Red
Deer river, in latitude 527 47" 44" N'  From here he turned south-
westward, and continued his survey to the “Upper House on Stone
Indian River,” afterwards known as Alexandria, where Daniel Harmon
spent the years 1800-1805.2 From Alexandria he travelled down the
river to the Elbow, and thence to Cuthbert Grant’s House. From
there he continued southward to Thorburn’s House on the Qu’ Appelle
river, a few m les above its mnu[l\‘ in latitude 5 28 57 N., and
thence to McDonnell's House a mile and a half above the mouth of
the dour river,

ever, traverses worked ot

The winter had by this time set in, when travelling on the open

plains was unpleasant and dangerous, but Thompson was anxious to

find out the exact positions of those Indian villages on the Missouri
where the people lived by the cultivation of corn as well as by hunting
the buftalo. With this object in view, and with the hope also that
some of these Indians might be induced to establish a regular trade
with the North-West Company, he set out from McDonnell’s (Assini-

boine) House, on November 28, with nine men, a few horses, and

thirty dogs, and started south-westward across the plain. On Decem-
ber 7 he rea I Old Ash House on the Souris river, “settled
two years ago al bandoned

d the following spring”™ ; and here, having

been una procure a guide for the rest of the journey, he was

himself compelle

I d to assume the lead. By way of Turtle Mountain,
he struck across the plains until he again reached the Souris river,
I' ''s map sl 15¢ to have been on the north bank of the

Red Deer river It was probably opposite the mouth of the Etoimami river,
between three ir miles south of Hudson Bay Junction on the Canadian
Northern Railway, where the 1

uns of two old hot

ses were to be seen in 1889
1s Fort La Biche on Pond

gly placed on the Swan river. It wa

I'his post is probably the one referred to map of
1790, though there it 1s wron doubtless

Fort

one of the oldest trading posts south of the Saskatchewan river and west of
the Manitoba lake the only other posts designated on this map be

Dauphin on Lake Dauphin, and Fort Epinette on the Assiniboine river
I I I
* See Harmon's Journal, p.

1

59. Thompson’s map places this post
west side of the Assiniboine river in |

t on the

latitude 517 46" 58" N., which would place
it in Section 27, Tp. 32, R west of the Se
spent the winter of 1795-96 in

Bay

cond Meridian, Peter Fidler had

an adjoining house belonging to the Hudson’s
Company, which was called by him Charlton House
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which he followed up to its “bight™; thence he crossed the plains,
a distance of thirty-seven miles, to the Missouri river, reaching it on
December 29 at a point six miles above the upper of the Mandan
villages. At these villages, which were five in number, he remained
until January 1o, trying to induce the Indians to come north to
trade, but with very little success, as they were afraid of the Sioux.
While here, he wrote down a vocabulary of the Mandan language,
containing about three hundred and seventy-five words.

1798

He left the Mandan villages on January 10, 1798, but being
delayed by severe storms, did not reach the Souris river until
January 24, and he did not arrive at McDonnell’s House at the mouth
of Souris river until February 3. The account of this journey is
given in his own words on pages 209—42. At Souris River Post
he remained until February 26, making up his notes and plans, and
preparing himself for a longer trip, this time on foot, to connect the
waters of the Red and Mississippi rivers, and thence onward to
Lake Superior, a trip which his companions ridiculed as being im-
possible to accomplish before the advent of summer. On February 26,
however, he started out on foot with a dog team, and followed the
course of the Assiniboine eastward to its mouth, making as usual a
survey of his route; and passing on his way Pine Fort and Poplar
House, both of which had been abandoned, and some houses a little
below the Meadow Portage to Lake Manitoba. On March 7 he
reached the Forks of the Assiniboine and Red rivers, the site of the
present city of Winnipeg, though no mention is made of any habita
tion there at that time. ‘Lravelling on the ice, he turned up the
latter stream, and on the second day reached Chaboillez’s old house
of the North-West Company, a quarter of a mile up Rat Creek above
its mouth, in latitude 49° 33" 58" N., a few miles west of Niverville,
on the Emerson branch of the Canadian Pacific Railway.

On March 14 he crossed the boundary line into the United
States, and reached the house of Charles Chaboillez at the mouth
of Summerberry or Pembina river, in latitude 48° 58’ 29” N., on the
site of the present town of Pembina in North Dakota. After a week
spent here, he proceeded up Red river, passing the house of the
North-West Company kept by a trader named Roy, at the mouth of
Salt river, and then ascended Red Lake river to the mouth of Clear
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river, where there was a North-West Company’s house kept by

54 21" N., close to the present site of
He reached this house on March 24, and at once

Baptiste Cadotte, in latitude 47
Red Lake F

endeavoured to proceed eastward on foot, but was obliged to return

and wait for the breaking up of the ice, as “the snow thawing made
the open country like a lake of open water,” On April g he made
a fresh start from Cadotte’s House, this time in a canoe with three
men, He ascended Clear river for six days, carried across to Red
Lake river, and ascended Red Lake river to Red lake, which he
reached at a point in latitude 47° 58" 15" N,

The lake was still covered with ice, but after waiting for three days
he was able to force his canoe southward for two miles between the
ice and the shore to an old house which had been occupied by Cadotte
the previous winter, Here, farther progress by water being impos-
sible, he built a sled, and putting the canoe and all the baggage of the
party on it, he harnessed himself and men in front of it, and hauled
it for fifteen miles across the ice of the lake to a portage six miles in
length, which was crossed the following day to a small brook ; after
which he wound his way through small lakes and brooks, and walked
over short portages till, on April 27, he arrived at Thurtle lake, from
which flows “ Turtle Brook.” This lake was pronounced by Thomp-

be the source of the Mississippi. A generation later it was

son to
discovered that the Mississippi took its rise in Itasca lake, a few miles
farther south. But the two lakes are so near together that it may be
said that to this indefatigable, but hitherto almost unknown, geographer
belongs the virtual credit of discovering the head-waters of this great
river.

From Turtle lake Thompson descended Turtle Brook to Red
Cedar (Cass) lake, on which there was a North-West Company’s
house, kept by John Sayer, which he places in latitude " 27
56" N. and longitude 95° W. He remained here from April 29 to
May 3; then he again embarked and struck across to the Mississippi
river, down which he travelled through “ Winnipegoos” (Winnibi-
goshish) lake to the mouth of Sand Lake river. Here he left the
main stream of the Mississippi, and turned up Sand Lake river to
Sand lake (Sandy lake in Aitkin county), on which was a house
belonging to the North-West Company, a mile and a quarter east
from the head of the river, in latitude 46° 46’ 39" N. From this
house he crossed the lake to the mouth of Savannah Brook, which he

followed up to the Savannah Carrying Place, a deep bog four miles
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across, He crossed this portage to a small creek that flows into the
St. Louis river, and descended the latter stream to Fond du Lac

’

House, in latitude 46° 44" 2" N., three miles up the river from Lake
Superior. He reached this post on May 10, two months and eighteen
days after leaving the mouth of the Souris river. From here he
surveyed the south shore of Lake Superior; and on May 20 he
arrived at the Falls of Ste. Marie. On June 1 he left Sault Ste.
Marie in a light canoe with eleven men, in company with Messrs,
Mackenzie, McLeod, and Stuart, and reached Grand Portage on
June 7. The time was a busy one at this the central post of the
North-West Company, and in his journal Thompson gives a very in-
teresting account of the men who were almost daily arriving from, and
departing for, many widely separated posts throughout the west.

On July 14 he started once more for the interior with the
English (Churchill) river brigade, and after passing Fort Charlotte,
Rainy Lake House, and Rat Portage, he arrived at “ Winnipeg
House,” ! at the mouth of the Winnipeg river, on July 31. Having
travelled along the east shore of Lake Winnipeg, he reached the mouth
of the Saskatchewan on August g, and on August 18 Cumberland
House, where Peter Fidler was in charge at the English (Hudson’s
Bay Company) House, and Primo was in charge of the post of the
North-West Company. On August 19 he left here, his destination
being Lake La Biche, or Red Deer lake. Ascending the Sturgeon-
weir river, and passing through Amisk lake, he reached Missinipi
(Churchill) river by way of the Frog Portage on August 24,
ascended Churchill river to the mouth of the Rapid river where
there was a house occupied at the time by “Roy, a Canadian, all
alone,” and up this stream to Lake La Ronge, on which was the site
of an old post where Simon Fraser had wintered in l/‘r;g-r,{}, He
then returned to Churchill river, and a mile above the mouth of Rapid
river found a house on the north bank which the men of the Hudson’s
Bay Company had recently abandoned. He continued to ascend the

1 This house, called also Fort Alexander and Bas de la Riviére, is said
by Roderick Mackenzie to have been established in 1792 by Toussaint
Lesieur a few miles below and opposite the old French Fort Maurepas.
Gabriel Franchére, who passed the place in 1814, wrote : * This trading post
had more the air of a large and well-cultivated farm, than a fur traders’ factory ;
a neat and elegant mansion, built on a slight eminence, and surrounded with
barns, stables, storehouses, &c., and by fields of barley, peas, oats, and potatoes.”
I'he site is still occupied by the Hudson’s Bay Company.
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On September 6 he reached the “ new
fort of the North-West Company’s” ! at the southern end of the lake,
in latitude 56° 26" 15" N., three-quarters of a mi

e north-east of the old
settlement which had been visited by "T'urnor several years before,
Here he left goods for Alexander McKay, who was in charge of the
post, and on September 8 he began the ascent of Beaver river, and con-
tinued south to the trading post on Green lake, in latitude 54° 17" 9" N,,

on the east side of the lake, near its north end. At Green Lake

r, while he himself
took horses and struck across the country a little south of west to Fort
George, on the Saskatchewan river, close to the Hudson’s Bay Com-

pany’s post at Buckingham House, where he had wintered in 1793-94.
After a delay of three or

House he left his canoes to proceed up Beaver rive

tour days at this place, he turned north-

r river, which he reached at the mouth of Moose
54~ 22" 14" N.,whence with great difficulty he ascended
Beaver river and Red Deer Brook to Red Deer lake (Lake La Biche),
2 in latitude 54° 46

)
westward to Beave

Creek in

where he built a housc 32" N. At this house he

winter, trading with the Indians and taking astro-
nomical observations.

remained for the

1799
Some time between the middle and end of March 1799, he left
Lake La Biche for Fort Augustus, which at this time was situated on

the north bank of the North Saskatchewan river, a mile and a half
above the mouth of Sturgeon river, within the present settlement of
Fort Saskatchewan. This post he inf.nv(w in latitude 53° 44" 52" N.
and longitude 113° 11" W,, a mile east of its true position. It had
been built four or five years before in order to secure the trade with

the Blackfeet. After staying here about two weeks, he set out on
April 19, with three horses and five men, and travelling north-westward,
reached the Pembina river on the evening of the 21st, in latitude

I'he posit now occupied by the Hudson’s Bay ( ompany post of Isle
L la Crosse it the bottom of a little bay opening eastward near the south
end of the lake A\ Iittle farther north is the site of a former post of the
H Bay ( \ny ind two other sites, one of which is said to have
been o

by the North-West Company, are on the point still farther
On Thompson’s map the post of the North-West Company is marked
n the point north of t

the arm of the lake which stretches westward, toward
Buff but its exact position is not known

A post had previously been built by Ar

yus Shaw on this lake in 1789.
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54° 15" 4" N., near where it crosses the Fifth Meridian. Here a canoe
had been built for him ; so, sending back the horses, he started down
the river, and reached its mouth on Athabaska river on April 25.
He surveyed this stream down to the mouth of Lesser Slave Lake
river ; then he turned into this stream, and surveyed it up to Lesser
Slave lake; and having returned thence, he continued down the
Athabaska river to the new post at the mouth of the Clearwater, where
Fort McMurray now stands. On May 10, after remaining at this
post for a few days, he continued his survey, this time up the “ Methy
Portage ” (Clearwater) river, crossed the Methy Porta
scended the Churchill river through Buffalo

ge, and de-

ake to Isle 4 la Crosse
lake, which he reached on May 20. Thence he proceeded direct
to Grand Portage. From Grand Portage he accompanied John
McDonald of Garth westward up the Saskatchewan river to Fort
George, which was found to be in a ruinous condition 3 and here he
spent the winter.

1800

In the spring of 1800 Thompson made an expedition on horse-
back from Fort George to Fort Augustus, and thence to Rocky
Mountain House. On May 5 he embarked at Rocky Mountain
House on the North Saskatchewan river, and made a survey of it to
“The Elbow.” On May 7 he “found the English [Hudson’s Bay
Company] encamped for building™ at the mouth of a creek flowing
in from the right, which he calls Sturgeon Creek (Buck Lake Creek),
and on the same evening he reached W hite Mud House, where a clerk
named Hughes was in charge for the North-West Company. This
post was situated on the north bank in Section 30, Tp. 51, Range 2,
west of the Fifth Meridian. On May g he reached Fort Augustus,
and on May 12 Fort George, having passed a few miles above it what
he designates as “Isle of Scotland, North-West Company, 1800 and
1801,” apparently the island now known as Fort island, in Section 12,
I'p. 55, R. 8, west of the Fourth Meridian.

On May 18 he again left Fort George, and on May 20 passed
Umfreville’s old house, in Section 4, Tp. 53, R. 25, west of the Third
Meridian, where this trader had spent the winters of 1784-8. On
May 21 he passed Island House, a mile and a half above the mouth of
Birch Brook, near Manchester House of the Hudson’s Bay Company ;
and on May 22, Turtle River House, a mile and a half below the
mouth of Turtle Brook, evidently in Section 4, Tp. 46, R. 18, west
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of the Third Meridian. Alexander Henry the younger describes this

house as situated on a low bottom on the south side of the river. On
May 28 Thompson camped at the Forks, and on June 7 he arrived at
the mouth of the Saskatchewan. His note-books give no further record
of his procecdings that summer, but a summary in his own handwriting
states that he continued east to Grand Portage, and returned to Rocky
Mountain House, He adds that “Mr. Duncan McGillivray came

and wintered also, to prepare to cross the mountains,”
From Rocky Mountain House Thompson set out on horseback,
with five men and three pack-horses, on October 5. He travelled

up the Clearwater river, and over to the Red Deer river, which he
ascended till he reached the mouth of William Creek, a small brook
in latitude 51° 41”7 417 N,, longitude 114° 56" 40" W. There, in a
camp of Piegan Indians, he remained for a few days, and from there he
rode twenty-two miles west to the foot of the mountains to meet a band

i, consisting of twenty-six men and seven women, who had
crossed the mountain in the hope of being able to reach his trading

post,

I He returned at once with them, in order to encourage them to

proceed, for the Piegan did their utmost to hinder and annoy them.

When they were ready to return to their own country west of the
ountains, he sent La Gassi and Le Blanc along to spend the following
winter with them., The route which they took, in order to avoid the
Piegan, was up the north side of the Saskatchewan river. These
two men, La Gassi and Le Blane, were therefore in all probability the
first white men to cross the mountains at the head of the Saskatchewan
to the upper waters of

On November 17, accompanied by Duncan McGillivray, and
attended by four men, he set out on horscback along the trail up
Clearwater river, crossed Red Deer river, and reached Bow river at

he Columbia river,

a point opposite to where the town of Calgary now stands, in latitude
517 2" 56" N., longitude 113° 59’ W. From here he surveyed the
north-east side of the river down to a short distance below the bend,
where he crossed it and went on to the Spitchee or Highwood river,

which he reached two miles above its mouth, From here he turned

a little west of south, and reached a camp of the Pikenows, or Piegan,
in latitude 50° 35" 30" N, probably on Tongue Flag Creek. After
stopping here for a short time in order to establish friendly relations
with these Indians, he turned north-westward and again reached Bow

river at a point which he places in latitude 51° 13’ 57" N, longitude

114° 48 22" W, a short distance above the mouth of Ghost river,
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From here he followed the Bow river upwards, on its south bank for
three miles, and then fording the stream he followed the trail on its
north bank to the steep cliffs of the mountains near where the town
of Exshaw is now situated.! Thence he returned to his old camp on
the Bow river, and, crossing the stream, struck northward to Rocky
Mountain House, which he reached on December 3.

During the same year Duncan McGillivray made a traverse west-
ward from Rocky Mountain House, at first up the north side of the
North Saskatchewan river for eight miles, thence across country to
Brazeau river and up it to Brazeau lake, three miles beyond which
he “proceeded to cross the Chain of Mountains that separates the
sources of the North Branch (Brazeau) and the Athabaska River.”
Continuing still farther westward, he travelled four miles down a stream
flowing towards the west into Athabaska river, from which point he
returned to Rocky Mountain House. His traverse is carefully laid

down in Thompson’s note-book.
1801

During the winter of 1800-1801, Thompson remained at Rocky
Mountain House, trading with the Indians, working out old observa-
tions and taking new ones, although the last record to be found for
the winter is dated March 18.

In June Thompson made “a journey into the Rocky Mountains
by land,” which is to be found in his note-books worked out by
latitude and departure. Accompanied by Hughes and seven men
and an Indian guide, he followed the Saskatchewan up to a point
twenty-eight miles above Rocky Mountain House, measured in a
straight line. Here he left the main river and struck southward up the
valley of Sheep river to its source in one of the eastern ranges of the

Rocky Mountains. At this point it was found impossible to take the

Near this point, McGillivray killed and preserved a mountain sheep, which
ibout three years later formed the basis of three names—Owis canadensis
Shaw, Ovis cervina Desmarest, and “belier de montagne ” of Geoffroy (later
latinized as Owis montana by Cuvier). Although wild sheep had long been
known to inhabit North America, this specimen was the first to reach the
hands of systematic naturalists. Curiously enough, the two names first men-
tioned were published so nearly at the same time that the question of priority
has been the subject even within the past few years of considerable controversy.
I'hough the evidence is not absolutely conclusive, the name canadensis seems
best entitled to recognition. The important matter in the present connection,

(E.A. P

however, is the locality from which the type came.

——
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horses further; and, as the guide knew of no other pass, the party
returned to the Saskatchewan river. An effort was made to ascend
the stream in a canoe; but the river was in flood, and it proved
impossible to stem the current. ‘The attempt to cross the mountains
was therefore abandoned for the time; and the party returned to
Rocky Mountain House, where they arrived on June 30.

The remainder of the summer and the following winter were spent
at Rocky Mountain House ; but in August and September T hompson

made a trip to Fort Augustus and back on horseback.

1802

n May, 1802, he again descended the Saskatchewan river, anc
In May, 1802, | | led the Saskatcl s i
continued on to Lake Superior, this time to the mouth of the Kamini-
stikwia river at Fort William, to which place the headquarters of the
North-West Company had been moved the previous year. From Fort

illiam he returned westward to Lesser Slave lake, though by wha
\WVil I 1 t | I Sl lake, tl ht hat
"‘Utl'

not appear from his journals. Probably he ascended the
Saskatchewan, and crossed overland from Fort Augustus to Athabaska
river, as he had done in 1799. Between October 21 and November g
he ascended from the mouth of Lesser Slave Lake river to the house

on the side of Lesser Slave lake, which he places in latitude

55

36" N, on or near the site of the present trading post of the
Hudson's Bay Company. Thence he continued northward to a post
which he speaks of as the “ Forks of the Peace River,” ! a name which
still survives in a slightly changed form as Peace River Landing. He
D

places this post five miles above the mouth of Smcky river, in latitude

56° 8" 17" N, and longitude 117° 13" 14" W, ; at that time the variation

I
of the magnetic needle was 233° East,

1803

The year 1803 Thompson spent almost wholly at

Peace River
Forks. From January 18 to June

5 he kept a meteorological
journal at this post, jotting down at the same time many interesting

Company, who put up one hundred yards farther up the stream,

notes. On June 5 he notices the arrival of a canoe of the X Y

“where they are going to build.,” From June 5 to June 24 he

' This post had been built by Alexander Mackenzie ten years before, when
he was on his journey from Lake Athabaska to the Pacific ocean
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was hunting in the vicinity ; but on June 25 the meteorological
journal was resumed, and kept up regularly to December 11. Be-
tween this date and December 29, Thompson made a trip with
dogs to Lesser Slave lake and back.

1804

On February 29 he set off up the river on foot, with a team of

dogs to carry his provisions and baggage, and reached “ Rocky Moun-
tain House,” ' the most westerly post of the North-West Company at
that time, on March 6. This post he places in latitude 56° 12" 54" N.,
longitude 120° 38" W. After remaining here for two days, he once more
turned eastward, and retraced his steps down the river, and arrived at
Peace River Forks on March 13,

On March 15, probably accompanied by his wife and two chil-
dren, he started on the long journey to Fort William. He travelled
down the river on the ice to Horse Shoe House, in latitude 57° 8’ N, ;
here he remained from March 20 to April 30, until the ice should
break and clear out of the river ; then he continued his journey down
the river by canoe. On May 2 he passed a post of the North-West
Company, which he calls Fort Vermilion, though it was considerably
higher up the river than the present Fort Vermilion of the Hudson's
Bay Company. Below it the following places are recorded by him in
succession : “Old Fort du Tremble” ; “ Fort Liard, N. W. Co., Mr.
Fraser ” (not far from the site of the present Fort Vermilion); “ Fort, Mr.
Wi intzel, N. W, Co.” (five miles below the lower portion of Vermilion
Falls); and “ Grand Marais, N. W. Co., now deserted.” On May 12,
in company with a trader named Wentzel, he arrived at Athabaska
House, on the north shore of Lake Athabaska, in latitude 58° 42" 50"
N., on the site of the present Fort Chipewyan.? Here he remained
for three days; then he continued his survey across Lake Athabaska
and up Athabaska river. On May 17 he passed Peter Pond’s old

I'his post must not be confounded with Rocky Mountain House on the
Saskatchewan river, which was Thompson’s home for so many winters.

* The old fort which had been built by Roderick Mackenzie in 1788, where
Philip Turnor spent the winter of 1791-92, was on the south side of Lake
Athabaska in latitude 58" 38’ N., longitude 110" 264" W, about twenty-five miles
east of Fort Chipewyan, on the point marked Old Fort Point on J. B. Tyrrell's
map of Lake Athabaska. It was from this post that Alexander Mackenzie
tarted, in 1789 and 1792, on his journeys of discovery down the Mackenzie

river to the Arctic ocean, and up the Peace river and westward to the Pacific

e —
= =
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trading post on the bank of the river, where Pond, the first white trader
who had ventured so far west and north
1778

as this river, had wintered in
93 and on May 19 he reached the trading post at the mouth of

the Clearwater river. From here he proceeded along the route he
had already surveye

up Clearwater river, across the Methy Portage,
down the Churchill river to Frog Portage, and thence by Cumber-
land House to Fort William.

After a short stay at headquarters, he turned back toward the west.
| y
I'his time he travelled up the Kaministikwia river to Dog lake,

through this I.lk(‘, and up the Dog li\L'r, and across to Lac des Mille
Lacs, where

)

the North-West Company had a post to the right of two

islands in latitude 48° 48" 25” N,, and thence westward to Lake La

Croix and Rainy lake, and thence onward

by the usual route to
Cumberland House, where

1e arrived on September 8.

From Cumberland House he now turned aside to spend the winter

on his old trading ground in what he s the “ Muskrat Country.”
On September 10 he struck oft northward through Sturgeon, Goose,

Athapapuskow lakes to Cranberry Portage, which he crossed into
Cranberry lake. At the narrows in this lake he left men to build a
tradin

He himself continued on to Reed lake, ascended Little

| er, d portaged into File lake, whence he descended File
rive nto Bur od lake, and continued on to Missinipi (Churchill)
river, down which he travelled for a short distance to an old fort
(Nelson House), which he reached on October 1. After making

arrangements to provision this post, he continued on down the river,
and arrived at Musquawegan (Bear’s Backbone) Post on October 6

in latitude 56° 13" 7” N,, longitude 100° 25" 50” W. The exact loca-
tion of thi

’

post has never been determined, exce ptasiti

is shown on
I"hompson’s map, for white man is

wn to have visited this place
since his time. Her
with his old schoo

Thompson remained until the following

mate, George Charles, opposing him in the interest
of the Hudson’s Bay Company.

ocean. When Thomp passed it in 1804
1s the North-West Coi
of Fort Chipewyan at the t
Hudson’s Bay
Fidler in 1802,

by Peter
North-Westers

any's tradin post at th lake was first
was called Nottingham House, after the
had already been occupation of the country for t
occupied the post until 1806, when he abandoned it, as he had had no success
in trading with the Indian

wenty-four year Fidler
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1805

On May 27 and 28, 1805, he made a journey to the post at
the south end of (South) Indian lake and Churchill river, which he
atitude 56° 48" 20” N.  This place is about two hundred and

places in
fifty miles from Fort Churchill on Hudson Bay, and is the most north-
easterly point reached by Thompson while in the service of the North-
West Company. On June 1 he left Musquawegan, and travelled
upstream to the Forks of the Missinipi (Churchill), which he reached
on june 4, and thence he proceeded by Burntwood Portage, File river,
and Cranberry Portage to Cumberland House, where he arrived on
June 17. Here he learned for the first time that the North-West and
X Y Companies had united, by an agreement signed on November
s, 1804. He left Cumberland House on June 23, and returned to
the fort on Cranberry lake, where he arrived on June 27, and re-
mained until July 25. On this date he set out for Reindeer lake.
He carried over the Cranberry portage, passed through Athapapuskow
lake and river

y \I‘)\\”l‘: (;H'v\" iik(" .'Hhi \iV\‘ THEK‘A‘ (;H()~(' river to

)

Sturgeon-weir river, up which he turned to Beaver lake. Thence he
followed the regular route to Trade (Frog) Portage, descended the
Churchill river, and ascended Reindeer river to Reindeer lake,
where he arrived on August 4. Here he left Benjamin Frobisher to
build a house close to the old houses, and he himself returned to
Cumberland House, where he arrived on August 24. On August 12
he met Peter Fidler, of the Hudson’s Bay Company, going to Lake
Athabaska, but for some reason these old companions passed each other
without speaking. On September 10 he again started north to Cran-
berry Portage, and thence to Reed lake, where he had wintered in
1794-95, while in the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company. Here
he built a house some distance east of the old one which he had occu-
pied eleven years before, and remained for the winter quietly trading
furs and taking astronomical observations.

After Thompson completed his surveys of this “ Muskrat Country,”
no further information was obtained about it for nearly a century, and
when, in 1896, I travelled through it, the only map of any service
which was available was that drawn by David Thompson in 1813
from surveys made at this time.
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1806
On June 1¢

, 1806, he left this post in the Muskrat

country
never to return to ity ana

returned to Cumberland House, where he
['hence he proceeded at once to Fort William.
instructions to attempt once more to open trade
relations with the Indians west of the Rocky Mountains, and he at
once returned by way of Cumberland House, where Harmon met him

on September 11, to his old home at Rocky Mountain House, w here
he arrived on October

arrived on June 14.

Here he received

29. Here he remained trading with the
Indians throughout the following

g winter, and preparing for his journey
across the mountains in the following spring.

1807

On May 10, accompanied by his wife and family, Thompson
started from Rocky

t Mountain House to cross the mountains. Finan
a canoe with provisions up the Saskatchewan river,
vhile Thompson himself travelled on horseback on the north side of
the river. On Jun they reached Kootenay
on the north side of the river within the
56° 2" 6 N.; and on June

McDonald took

’lain, a wide, open flat
mountains, in latitude
6 they reached the Forks. They then

turned up the south branch of the stream ; but after ascending it for
three miles were obliged to stop, as they could take the
further. They remained here

canoes no
till June 25, when they started across
all their supplies with them on horses. At
5 they reached the height
51° 48" 27" N.! Thence they descended al

the mountains, packin

1 p.M. on June of land in latitude
ong the banks of a mountain
torrent (Blaeberry river) to “ Kootanie” (Columbia) river, which they

reached on June 30, in L

itude 517 25" 14" N,, longitude 116° §2’ 45
W., a mile or two north-west of Moberly station on the Canadian
Pacific Railway. Jaco Finlay had been across the mountains to this

place the year before, and had built a canoe and left it in what he sup-

['he pass by whicl

Thompson he
as Howse P

e crossed the mountains is now known

5, although Joseph Howse, a clerk of the Hudson's |

yay Company,
did not begin to use the pas

until 1809, two years after Thompson had made
his first trip over it I'he

eastern portion of the pass below the mouth of
Whirlpool River was examined by Dr. Hector in 1859, and described by him
in Z%e Journals, Deta ! Neports, and QObservations relat /

» Exploration

by Captain Pa

ser, L.ondon, 1863, pPp: 122-130
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posed to be a safe place for Thompson’s use when he should arrive,
but it was found to have been so badly broken in the meantime as to
be now utterly useless, He camped here, near the mouth of the
Blacberry, and the members of the party for several days devoted them-
selves to repacking their stuff and building canoes. On July 12, having
placed all the trading goods in canoes, they set out and ascended (not
descended) the Columbia river, and reached Lower Columbia lake
(now Lake Windermere) on July 18. At the south end of this lake
Thompson began to build in latitude 50° 31" 24" N. ; but finding the
place unsuitable, he moved on July 29 down the river to about a mile

’

from the lake, and built “ Kootanae House” on the west side of the
Columbia river, in latitude 50° 32" 15” N, longitude 115° 51" 40" W.,
variation 241° East. Here he remained for the rest of the year, trading
with the Kutenai Indians, and taking meteorological and astronomical
observations. With the chief of the Flatbow Indians for a guide he
made a trip for a few days down the banks of the Kootenay river.
He also carefully measured the heights of some of the neighbouring
mountains, from a measured base of 6,920 feet. Mount Nelson, to
the west of the fort, he found to be 7,223 feet above the surface of
the lake, which would give it a height of 9,900 feet above the sea—a

height 100 feet lower than that given on Dr. Dawson’s map of 1885,

1808

On April 20, 1808, Thompson sct out with canoes toward the
south, and the next day reached the portage to the “Flat Bow” or
“McGillivray’s” (Kootenay) river, which he calls “McGillivray’s
Portage.” From here he descended the “Flat Bow” (Kootenay)
river in a canoe, making a careful survey with a compass, checked
by latitudes. On April 24 he passed the mouth of the “Torrent”
(St. Mary’s) river, and on April 27 he reached the mouth of the
“Fine Meadow” (Tobacco) river in Montana. On May 6 he
reached the Kootenay Falls, and portaged past them, and two days
later he reached a camp of Flatheads and Kutenai in latitude
48° 42" 52" N, longitude 116° W, at or near Bonner’s Ferry in Idaho.
Having induced these Indians to promise to trade with him, he again
set off on May 13, and on the next day reached Flat Bow or
Kootenay lake at Kootenay Landing. From here he returned up
the river to the camp of the Flatheads, whence he took horses and
travelled in a north-easterly direction up “McDonald’s” (Moyie, or
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Choecoos, or Grand Quéte) river along the line of the Canadian
Pacific Railway ; and on May 18 he reached McGillivray’s (Kootenay)
river, about Fort Steele. He crossed the river, followed up the bank
across Wild Horse Creek and “ Lussier” (Sheep) river, and reached

Kootanae House on June 5.

From here, taking his family with him, he
continued northward

down the Columbia to the mouth of the Blae-
berry river, from which place he crossed the mountains with the furs
obtained during the year, and reached Kootenay Plain on June 22.
On this journey he and his party were obliged to kill and eat several
of their horses, as they were unable to obtain other provisions.

At Kootenay Plain, Thompson embarked in a canoe, and descended
the Saskatchewan. At Boggy Hall, he left his family ; but he himself
continued down the river as fast as possible, and on to Rainy lake
On his way he notes some places of interest in his note-books. The
first is Muskako Fort, four and a half hours below Wolf Brook,
doubtless at the bend in the river in Tp. 30, R. 6, west of the Fifth
Meridian, where “North-West Company ”
map. “OIld Island Fort,” three hours

is marked on his large
s and a half above Fort George

b
of his journey of 18

is the “Isle of Scotland” Fort George was
probably unoccupied at that time, having been abandoned in favour of
Fort Vermilion,' to which place the headquarters of the district had
been removed. T'wo days were spent at Fort Vermilion ; then on
July 3 the journey was resumed. On _Iui\

“burnt Fort de I'Isle,” his Island

)

t, Thompson passed
House of 1800 ; “the Crossing
Place,” probably near Fort Carlton; “Fort de Milieu,” probably the
same as his Upper Hudson House of 1794. Three hours and a half
after passing the Forks, he reached Fort St. Louis, near the site of the
present Fort a4 la Corne.

Three-quarters of an hour later he passed
the site of Fort a la

Corne, about four miles down the river, at the
extreme north-cast corner of the Hudson’

on the site of the old French Fort

Bay Company’s reserve,
|

> 2
des Prairies.®  On August 2,
! Fort Vermilion wa tuated, say Alexander Henry the younger, in
latitude 53" 51" 7” N., on the north side of the Saskatche

van river, “in a long
flat bottom of meado ectly oj ite the Vermili

lire pposite on River I'his post was
occupied by Alexander Henry the younger from 1808 to 1810, when it was
abandoned in favour of White Earth Fort. But before long it was again
occupied, for in 1814 Gabriel Franchére “found at this post some nir
persons, men, women, and children Francheére's Narrats

p. 319).
* There has been a good deal of confusion as to the position of these two

posts, arising doubtless from the interchange of names. The exact position

of Fort St. Louis of the North-West Company, which Alexander Henry states
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Thompson reached his destination at Rainy Lake House ; and two days
later he set out on his return journey westward. On August 18,
about Wicked Point, on the west shore of Lake Winnipeg, he was
joined by Alexander Henry, with canoes from Red River on the way
to Fort Vermilion, The two parties reached Cumberland House
on August 26 ; and on September 13 and 14 they reached Fort
Vermilion, Henry a day in advance of Thompson. On September 16,
Thompson’s canoes left for up the river; while he himself left
the next day on horseback, and arrived on September 23 at Fort
Augustus, On October 3 he arrived at Boggy Hall, where he
probably rejoined his family. Here, sending on the canoes, he took
men and horses, and set out for the height of land. On October g
he passed old Rocky Mountain House, and continued on up the river
until October 17, when sharp frosts prevented the canoes being
brought any further. Having therefore camped for a few days to
rearrange the packs, he set out with the pack-horses on October 22,
passed the Kootenay Plain on the 24th, and crossed the height of land
on the 27th. On October 31 he once more reached the Columbia
|

er. From here he sent the horses southward through the woods,

} ]

l 1 hoard that had been

while he ascended the river in a boat as far as

built beside the river the year before, in latitude 50° 53" 34" N., apparently
not far from the mouth of Spillimacheen river. From here he sent

Finan McDonald southward with the canoes, to establish a fort and

was abandoned it I Y not quite Al]"lw'u}r"‘ It wa ;v“.'l\ close to the
1

present store of the Hudson’s Bay Company I'he old French fort was at a

bend several miles farther down the river, about the north-east corner of the

Hudson’s Bay reserve In 1896, the old trails and marks where the stockades
had been were distinctly traceable ['he fort would appear to have been built
first by Legardeur de St. Pierre in 1753 ; and it was occupied by six men when

visited by Anthony Hendry of the Hudson’s Bay Company in May, 1755. In

August, 1772, the place was visited by Mathew Cocking, another employee of the

Company, and it was then found to be occupied by an Indian camp.

But in the winter of 1776, when the place was visited by Alexander Henry the

nes Finlay, who had a fort with an area of about

e enclosed 1 stockade, and from fifty to eighty men for its defence
fter the abandonment of Fort St. Louis by the North-West Company in 1805,
the location seems to have been unoccupied until about 1846, when the Hudson’s
Bay Company rebuilt on the site of the old French fort. In 1887, when in charge
of Philip Turner, the gr indson of either Philip or John Turnor, 1t was moved
three miles up the river to its present position. Dr. Elliott Coues, in his New
Lioht on the Earlier History of the Greater Northwest, New York, 1897, puts
the positions of both these posts too far up the river
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winter at the falls on the Kootenay river; while he himself went
on horseback to the old Kootanae

House, where he arrived on
November 1

), and where he spent the winter

trading with the
Kutenai Indians,

James McMillan was his assistant, and Jaco Finlay
was hunting in the vicinity.

1809

After the winter’s trade at Kootanae House was finished, on

April 17, 1809, Thompson removed a short distance down the river,

and camped till the 27th. He then descended the Columbia river in

a canoe, the horses being at the same time driven through the woods
to the Mountain Portage, and crossed the mountains to the Saskat-
chewan. At the Kootenay Plain, at which he arrived on June 18,
a canoe was built, and loaded with some of the furs which he had

obtained during the winter. In it he descended the river to Fort
Augustus,! where

he arrived on June 24, and was welcomed la)’ his
old friend James Hughes. On June 27, two canoes were sent east-
ward with his furs, but he himself remained at the fort until July 18.
On this date, having sent canoes up the Saskatchewan four

1 A!;l\\
before him, he set off on horseback towards the

mountains, Near
Wolf Creek, he caught up to and joined the canoes,
and sent back the horses as they had come,

he reached Kootenay Plain on August 2. Here he remained for a
! 3

the packs for the journey across the mountains,
and on August he started westward on horseback, Next day he
met Joseph Howse, a clerk of the Hudson’s Bay Company, who had

I'ravelling up the river,

few days, arranging
y

left Fort Edmonton on July 18 on an exploring trip, returning again
to the east. On August 11 he crossed the height of land, and two
i

days later he reached the Columbia. He ascended this river as far as
McGillivray's Portage, which he reached on August 20; then he
descended the Kootenay v:‘.u, and on August 29 he

Great Road of the Flatheads, where he had

reached the
come to the large camp
of these Indians in the spring of 1808, near Bonner’s Ferry.

Having obtai

ed horses from the Indians, he set out toward the

er 6, and reached Pend d'Oreille lake on September 8 ;

and the next day he arrived at the mouth of Clark’s Fork, where
)

south on Septeml

I'his was new Fort Augustus on the site of the present city of Edmonton

T'he old fort twenty miles farther down the river had been de

troyed by the
Blackfeet in 1807
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it empties into the lake. Here he found a large camp of Flatheads and
other Indians. On September 10 he found a spot on a peninsula on
the east side of this lake, a mile and a half from the mouth of the river, in
latitude 48° 11° 30" N, where he built a house, which he called Kullyspell
House. Here he remained for about two weeks, to see that building
operations were being pushed on as rapidly as possible. On Septem-
ber 27 he rode around the north side of the lake, and down the river
flowing from it to latitude 48° 51 N., and returned on October 6. On
October 11 he set off again on horseback, and travelled about sixty
miles in a south-easterly direction up the Saleesh river, called on his
map the Nemissoolatakoo river (Clark’s Fork). Turning aside from
this river near Thompson’s Prairie, he travelled first north-east and
then north-west, till he reached the Kootenay river above the falls,
where he met his clerk, McMillan, bringing the canoes loaded with
trading goods that had been left behind him on the Columbia river.
Here, sending the horses ahead of him, he embarked in one of the
canoes, descended to the Flathead Road, crossed over to Pend d’Oreille
lake, and arrived at Kullyspell House on October 30.

On November 2 he set off again on horseback up the river, and
a week later reached a point in latitude 47° 34" 35" N., near the present
station of Woodlin on the Northern Pacific Railway, where he built
a house which he called Saleesh House. The position of this house

is well described on p 118,

1810

In the spring of 1810 he made several expeditions in the vicinity
of Saleesh House. On February 23 he started out on horseback with
Mousseau, Lussier, Boulard, and two Indians to look for birch bark for
canoes. They travelled up the river for fifty miles, examining the

woods closely as they went, until they reached the great camp of the

Salish Indians, which was situated on the Flathead river, twenty

’

miles above its mouth, in latitude 47° 21" 14” N, and arrived back at
Saleesh House on March 6. From March 8 to March 14 he made
another journey to the Salish camp, and in this case he returned
down the river in a canoe which he had had built at the camp. And
from March 17 to March 25 he made a third journey to the same
camp, returning in this case also down the river in a canoe, while his
horses were sent in loaded with furs. On both trips down the river he

made a careful survey of it.
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After his return he engaged Jaco Finlay in his old capacity as clerk

and interpreter,

On April 6 he sent off Mousseau, Beaulieu, and several others with

ten packs of furs to Pend d’Oreille lake.

On April 19 he left Saleesh House and embarked in canoes down
the Saleesh river, and on the evening of Saturday the 21st he arrived
at Kullyspell House, where Finan McDonald had spent the winter.
Before leaving he sent McDonald up to Saleesh Hous. to spend the
summer,

While at Kullyspell House he decided to make a further investiga-
tion of the Pend d'Oreille river down to its junction with the
Columbia, in order to determine definitely whether it and the Columbia
could be used as a trade route to the east or not. Accordingly, on
April 24 he embarked in a canoe, crossed the lake and descended the
river to latitude 48° 51”7 N., twenty-two miles from its mouth, but as it
proved to be quite unnavigable he decided to return eastward up the
Kootenay river as before.

Mavy 1.

On May g he left Kullyspell House for the Kootenay river, and on
the 17th, accompanied by McMillan, he started up that river with his

ori

Returning he reached Kullyspell House on

gade of canoes, He reached McGillivray’s Portage on June 6

, and
thence descended the Columbia as far as Mountain Portage, where he
arrived on June 16, He then crossed to the Saskatchewan, and arrived

at the Forks in the mountains on Junc

19, having left the men to
follow him with the pack-horses.

Here he embarked in a canoe, and
proceeded down stream. On his way he passed the ruins of old Fort
Augustus ; and on the next day he reached White Earth House,!
where Alexander Henry was in charge for the North-West Company,
and a trader named Henry Hallett foi the Hudson’s Bay Company.
This house appears to have been at the mouth of White Earth river,
1 short distance below the present site of Victoria. On July 4 he
rcached Cumberland House, and on July 22 Rainy Lake House,

After loading four canoes with goods to trade, he again turned
westward, and on September 6 reached White

Earth House on the
Saskatchewan.

On September 11, having sent his four canoes on
ahead of him, he started on horseback for Fort Augustus, where he seems

to have left his family for the winter. Thence he rode up the valley of

! According to Henry, Thompson had his family with him when he passed
this house
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the Saskatchewan to the foot of the mountains, but as his canoes had
been intercepted and turned back by the Piegan, he was obliged to
return down the river, and find a new trail to the Columbia river
by Athabaska Pass at the head-waters of the Athabaska river.

Collecting his men, horses, and supplies at a point on the banks of
the Saskatchewan river about sixty miles below Rocky Mountain
House, where the North-West Company had had a trading post for a
couple of years, which they named Boggy Hall, he started westward
through the woods on an old footpath that had been used by the
Assiniboin Indians when going to their hunting grounds. Taking a
north-westerly course he reached the Athabaska river at the mouth of
a brook in about latitude 53° 28" N., a few miles below where the
Grand Trunk Pacific Railway now reaches it. The next day he
crossed the river and continued up along its bank to Brulé lake, to
an island on which was a deserted cabin previously built by some half-
breed or Indian hunters. As there was no food here for his horses,
he moved northward for five miles to a more favourable spot where
he camped and made snow-shoes and sleds for his journey across the
mountains.

On December 29 he set out with sleds and dogs, and also with four

horses to help them for a short distance,

1811

On January 6 he left the four horses somewhere about the mouth
of the Miette river, near where Yellowhead Pass turns off to the
west. He then crossed the height of land by Athabaska Pass
which was afterwards used for many years by the Hudson’s Bay
Company as their main line of travel from the Great Plains to the
valley of the Columbia river. Thence he descended Wood river
to the Columbia at the mouth of Canoe river. He reached it on
January 18, and continued up the Columbia, hauling the sleds, for
twelve miles. Here some of his men mutinied, and he was obliged to
return to the Canoe river, where he remained for the winter.

Having constructed a clinker-built canoe of cedar boards hewn from
trees in the surrounding forest, and sewed after the manner of a birch
canoe, as he had no nails with which to fasten it, he embarked on the
Columbia river on April 17.

Instead of descending, he ascended the river, which was new to him
as far as Blaeberry Creek, overcoming natural obstacles as he met
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them, and on May 14 he reached McGillivray's Portage at the head

of Upper Columbia lake. ["hence i

he descended the Kootenay
river to its south-castern bend, and having here obtained horses,
crossed to Saleesh House on Clark’s Fork, in Montana. Having built
a canoe, he descended Clark’s Fork, passed through Pend d’Oreille

lake, and continued down the river to the site of the present town

of Cusick in Washington. From here he travelled, with the aid of

thirteen horses, to Spokane House, ten miles north-west of the

present city of Spokane, where Finan McDonald was living at

t the
time. ‘This trading post is stated by Thompson to have been situated

on the east bank of Spokane river, a mile above the mouth of Little
Spokane river.  From Spokane House a ride of three days brought
him to Ilthkoyape (Kettle) Falls on the Columbia river.
difficulty in obtaining cedar boards with which to build a canoe, he set
out down the river on July 3, and on July 15, at 1 .M., he landed at
Fort Astoria, the newly built trading post of the Pacific Fur Company
at the mouth of the C

After some

olumbia river.

After spending a few days with McDougall, the trader in charge

at Astoria, Thompson started back up the Columbia. On July

he reached the Cascades, which he had difficulty in passing on account
of the hostility of the Indians, On August ¢ he reached the mouth
f Shawpatin (Snake) river, up which he struggled with the canoe
for ¢ =

5 miles till; on August 8, he reached the southern end of the
road leading to the Spokane river, in latitude 46° 36’ 13" N. Here he
laid up the canoe, and rode overland to Spokane House. Thence he
rode to Ilthkoyape Falls, and, having built a canoe there, ascended the
Columbia

river to Canoe river, thus completing the survey of the

whole river from its source to its mouth.

As there is lacking in Thompson’s manuscript a description of his
voyage up this part of the Columbia, and as it is important to complete
his record of the survey of the river, the following diary has been com-

piled from Thompson’s note-books :

Sept I'hompson’s party left Ilthkoyape Falls at 1 p.m.,
accompanied by cight canoes of Indians, and paddled upstream against

a strong cu t until 5.20 p.Mm.

)

y when they put up for the night.

September 3.—'T'he party embarked at 5.30 A.M. Shortly before
noon they reached, in latitude 48° 52” N., a port on the east bank
1,1 yards long.  All afternoon they paddled against a strong current,

and at night they camped five miles below the mouth of Pend d’Oreille
river.
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September 4.—They embarked at 5.50 A.M., and ascended a swift
current all day. They crossed the international boundary line, passed
the mouth of Peind d'Oreille river and the site of the present town of
Trail, and at 6,10 k.M. pitched camp at the mouth of Murphy Creek.
On the right the country was becoming rapidly more rocky

September 5.—T hey embarked at 5.50 A.M., and about noon reached
the mouth of the Kootenay river. Here the Indians who had been
accompanying them, left them. They camped for the night near the
site of the town of Castlegar.

September 6.—They set off at 5.40 A.M., and travelled up the river
till 3.15 p.M., when they camped for the night near the site of the
present village of Deer Park. The hills now came down close to the
river, those to the west being thickly covered with forest, but those to
the east being -ather bare and rocky. Tracks of rcindeer and the
black-tailed chevreuil were plentiful, but they hunted without success.

September 7.—They set off at 6 A.Mm., and travelled northward over
Lower Arrow lake against a head wind and high waves, and camped
at 6.20 p.M. on the shores of the lake in latitude 49° 44" N., about
three miles south of Edgewood.

September 8.—They set off at 5.38 A.m., passed through the Lower
Arrow lake, and camped on the bank of the river between the two
Arrow lakes, about the mouth of Mosquito Creek. ¢ The lake we
have passed has always current in the middle and very often from side
to side. The last half has a ledge of low wood and land with fine
shore on both sides; the middle steep, ugly rocks ; and the lower end
rocks and good shore by turns.”

September g.—They set off at 5.40 A.M,, and soon entered Upper
Arrow lake. Through this lake they pushed on northward, and
camped somewhere near the site of the hotel at Halcyon Hot Springs.

September 10.—~They set oft at 5.15 A.m., and early in the day
reached Arrowhead at the north end of the lake. Here they entered
the river, and, encountering a heavy current, were often obliged to
pole their canoe, or haul it against the stream with a line. Though
much delayed by rain, they travelled till 6 p.m.

September 11.—They embarked at 5.35 A.M., and ascended the
stream until § p.m., when they camped in latitude §51° 2” 13" N. at the
place to which Finan McDonald had ascended the river in a canoe a
few wecks before. This was about two miles above the present town
of Revelstoke, and one mile below the Little Dalles.

September 12.—They set off at 6 a.m., and ascended the stream
until 5.15 .M., when they camped for the night in latitude 51° 11” N,
“From early morning the Dalles very bad, all the rest is very strong
current and rapids. Came up with the line.”

September 13.—They set oft at 6.45 A.M., and camped at 5,30 P.M.
in latitude 51° 22" 30" N.

o
S5
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September 14,—They set off at 7.15 AM. At noon they were in
latitude 51° 30" N., two miles below the Dalles des Morts. In the
afternoon they ascended the Dalles des Morts, which were destined
to be the graveyard of the Columbia river in the early days of the
western fur-trade ; and the following is Thompson’s survey and de-
scription of these rapids : “N. 78 W. 1 [mile] N. 50 W. 1/8, N. 36 W,
2/3, W. 1/8, N. 35 W. &, all bad, N. 50 W. 1/8, N. 36 W, 2/3.
Strong rapid current, lined on the left, good to run, W. 1/8 strong
rapid, discharged all the heavy pieces and for 250 yards carried, lined
up the canoe on the left, having crossed—N. 30 W. { m. Beginning
of Co. A fall and rush of water. Discharged all for 150 yds. and
lined up, quite light, very dangerous to line down. The rest of Co.
strong Rapid Current. Lined the whole up loaded. On the right
end of Course a large rock between which and the shore lined and
handed. Here the canoes going down ought to bring up N. 40 W, §,
N. 10 E. 1/6, Strong Rapid, Course N. 30 W. 1, N. 45 W. §, N. 35
W.1, N. 50 W. 4, N. 6o W. }, N. 50 W. . Crossed over in middle
of Course and camped at 5.50 p.mM. Sight a large bold mountain on
the right. Still much snow on them. The river is very strong
Current, I suppose loaded canoes must line down much of the
Dalles.”

September 15.—They set oft at 5.15 A.M., and ascended a rapid
current, with dangerous rocky points all day. They camped for the
night on the bank of the stream in latitude 51° 45" N.

September 16.—They set off at 10 A.M., and first ascended a long
strong rapid, after which the current became more moderate,

September 17.—They set off at 6.30 A.M., and travelled till 6.30 p.m.
up a constant rapid stream to camp in latitude 52° 31° N,

September 18,—T'hey embarked at 7.15 A.mM,, and about noon
reached 'T'hompson’s old hut at the mouth of the Canoe river. They

had hoped to find some of their associates of the North-West Com-
pany from across the mountains waiting for them here with trading
supplies, but in this they were disappointed. Leaving behind them a
message written in the Iroquois language, they set oft up the Canoe
river, which was the route they expected their friends to use in coming
from the Athabaska river

Thompson ascended Canoe river for forty-eight miles, then returned
to its mouth. Part of the trading goods for the next year having been
brought across the mountains, he sent them down the river to Ilthkoy-
ape Falls; while he himself crossed the mountains to Henry’s House,
and returned with the rest of the goods to the falls. Thence he
walked to Spokane House, where he obtained horses, and returned to
the Columbia for the goods left at the canoe.
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He then rode southward to Spokane House, up the Spokane river
for twenty-five miles above the house, and northward to Pend d’Oreille
river at a point twelve miles below Pend d’Oreille lake, after which
he followed the trail along the north bank of this river upwards to
Saleesh House, where he arrived on November 19. It seems to have
been deserted, though Finan McDonald was trading with the Indians
in the vicinity. After rebuilding the house, he made a trip on horse-
back up the south branch for thirty miles, but finding no place more

suitable for a trading post than the one he was occupying, he returned.

1812

On February 15 he left Saleesh House with Finan McDonald,
Michel, and ten men in two canoes to go to the Salish Indians to
trade provisions. They went up to the Salish camp which was then
pitched on Flathead river, four miles below the mouth of Jocko Creek.
From here, on February 25, 26, and 27, he rode up the bank of Flat-
head river to Jocko Creek, up that creek, and over a defile to the
summit of what is now known as Jumbo Hill in the city of Missoula,
Montana, near the banks of Hell Gate river, which he called “ Courter’s
Branch.” Here he spent several hours making a sketch of the surround-
ing country, and tracing out the route by which Lewis and Clark had
travelled through it, after which he returned as quickly as possible
to the Salish camp. On March 1 he rode northward from the Salish
camp as far as the south end of Flathead lake, and returned to camp
the same day. The next day he, with his whole party, started back
for Saleesh House, where letters had just arrived from John McDonald
of Garth, who was spending the winter at Kootanae House.

On March 13 he left Saleesh House, and embarking in his canoe
started on his voyage to the east. Four days later he encamped at the
north end of the Skeetshoo road where he had reached the river in the

previous autumn. After a delay of four days McTavish met him with
horses and men, and took him south to Spokane House. Pushing on
from there he reached a place eight miles east of Ilthkoyape Falls where
he found cedar and some birch bark suitable for building canoes.
Here he stayed hard at work building canoes from March 31 to April 21,
on which latter date McTavish and McMillan arrived with all the furs
from Spokane House,

All was now ready, and on April 22 he bade good-bye to Ilthkoyape
Falls and, accompanied by McTavish, started with his brigade of six




xeviii  DAVID THOMPSON’S

NARRATIVE

canoes for Fort William, He reached the mouth of Canoe river on
May 5. On May 6 he set out on foot from the Boat Encampment at
the mouth of Canoe river on the journey which was to take him back
at last to civilization. Travelling eastward by Athabaska Pass, he
crossed the height of land on May 8, and on May 11 reached the
house of William Henry on the Athabaska river, in latitude 52° 55" 16”
N. On May 13 he started down the river ip a canoe. On May 20 he
reached the mouth of Lesser Slave river, up which he pushed to the
house at its head ; having returned thence, he continued down the
Athabaska to the Red Deer or La Biche river, which he reached on
May 25. He turned up this stream, and reached Red Deer lake, or
Lake La Biche, on May 2
lake, he descended the Beaver river to Isle & la Crosse, and continning
down Churchill river, reached Cumberland House on June 18.

Having crossed the portage from this

7*

Thence he continued eastward along the ordinary trade route through
Lake Winnipeg and up the Winnipeg and Rainy rivers to Lake
Superior, On August 12 he left Fort William, the western head-
quarters of the North-West Company, and continuing eastward, re-
surveyed the north shore of Lake Superior as far as Sault Ste. Marie,
which he reached on August 24. Thence he continued a

ong the
north shore of Lake Huron, up the French river and down the Ottawa
river, and arrived at Terrebonne, north of Montreal. Here he took
up his residence ; and although in the course of his survey of the
boundary line between the United States and Canada he travelled as
far west as the Lake of the Woods, he never returned to his old fields
of labour in the far West, or revisited any of his early homes on the
banks of the Saskatchewan or Columbia rivers.
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CHAPTER 1
JOIN HUDSON'S BAY COMPANY

Leave London on Hudson’s Bay Company’s Ship—Arrive at
Stromness—Early education—Set sail for Hudson’s Bay—
Fort Prince of Wales—M’" Samuel Hearne /If.' at
Churchill—Tame Polar Bear at the Factory—Musketoes,
Sand Flies, and Midgeuks—Companions at the Factory—
Arrival of George Charles—DMeans of obtaining a Surveyor
by Hudsow’s Bay Company.

N the month of May 1784 at the Port of London, I
embarked in the ship Prince Rupert belonging to the
Hudson’s Bay Company, as apprentice and clerk to

the said company, bound for Churchill Factory, on the west
side of the bay. None of the Officers or Men had their stock
of liquor on board from the high price of those articles. On
the third morning at dawn of day, we perceived a dutch
lugger about half a mile from us. A boat was directly lowered,
and the gunner a tall handsome young man, stepped into her
with four men, they were soon on board of the lugger, a
case of gin was produced, a glass tasted; approved, the
dutchman was in a hurry, as he said a Revenue Cutter was
cruising near hand, and he must luff off ; a Guinea was paid,

the case locked, put into the boat, and was soon placed in
3
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the steerage cabin of our ship. The case was of half inch
boards tacked together, and daubed red, on opening it there
were nine square bottles of common glass, each was full with
the corks cut close to the neck of the bottle, except one with
a long cork, the one which the gunner had tasted, it was
taken out a glass handed round and each praised it; but the
carpenter who was an old cruiser wished to taste some of the
other bottles, a cork was drawn, a glass filled, the colour had
a fine look, it was tasted, spit out and declared to be sea water,
all the others were found to be the same.

The gunner who had thus paid a guinea for three half
pints of gin, the contents of the bottle, got into a fighting
humour, but to no purpose, the dutchman was luffing off in
fine style. The next morning about sun rise, the hills of
Scotland lying blue in the western horizon, to the east of us
about two miles, we saw a boat with six men coming from
the deep sea fishing. The wind was light, and they soon came
alongside. 'They were fine manly hardy looking men, they were
sitting up to their knees in fish, for the boat was full of the
various kinds they had caught; Our Captain bought some
fine halibut and skate fish from them, for which they would
not take money, but old rope in exchange to make fettels
for their creels, these words I did not understand until the
Boatswain, who was a Scotchman told me it was to make
rope handles to their baskets and buckets. Our captain
pleased with his bargain, told me to give them a hat full of
biscuit. Umbrella’s were not in those days, but our broad
brimmed hats served for both purposes. Pleased with the
ruddy looks of them, I filled my hat as full as it could hold,
and had to carry it by the edges of the brim. As I passed
by the Captain I heard him give me a hearty curse, and saying
I’ll never send him for biscuit again; but the boat’s crew
were so pleased they told me to hand down a bucket, which
they filled with fresh caught herrings, a great relief from
salt meat,
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On the sixth day about nine pM. we anchored in the
harbour of Stromness, where the three ships bound for
Hudsons Bay had to wait for final instructions and sailing
orders, as there were no telegraphs in those [days] we were
delayed three weeks. Until this Voyage I had passed my life
near to Westminster Abbey, the last seven year in the grey
coat school on royal foundation. This school was formerly
something of a Monastery and belonged to Westminster
Abbey from which it was taken at the suppression of the
monastic order, but not finally settled until the reign of
Queen Anne. It is still held of the Dean and Chapter of
the Abbey by the Tenure of paying a peper corn to the said
Dean and Chapter on a certain day, which the Governors
annually pay.

During the year our holidays at different times were
about eighteen to twenty days, the greatest part of which I
spent in this venerable Abbey and it’s cloisters, reading the
monumental inscriptions and [as] often as possible [in] Henry
the seventh chapel. My strolls were to London Bridge,
Chelsea, and Vauxhall and §’ James’s Park. Books in those
days were scarce and dear and most of the scholars got the
loan of such books as his parents could lend him. Those
which pleased us most were the Tales of the Genii, the
Persian, and Arabian Tales, with Robinson Crusoe and
Gullivers Travels : these gave us many subjects for discussion
and how each would behave on various occasions.

With such an account of the several regions of the Earth
and on such credible authority, I conceived myself to have
knowledge to say something of any place I might come to,
and the blue hills of Scotland were so distant as to leave to
imagination to paint them as she pleased. When I woke in
the morning and went upon deck, I could not help staring
to see if [what] was before me was reality for I had never
read of such a place. And at length exclaimed I see no trees,
to which a Sailor answered No no, people here do not spoil
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their clothes by climbing up trees. One of the first objects
that drew my attention were several kelp kilns for burning
sea weed into a kind of potash. The sea weeds were collected
by a number of Men and Women their legs appeared red
and swelled. The sea weeds were collected into baskets, the
rope handles of which were passed round their breasts, each
helped up the load for one another, and as they carried it
over rough rocky shore left by the ebb tide to the kilns, the
sea water streamed down their backs.

The smoke of the fires of these kilns was as black as that of
a coal fire. One day our Captain had invited the other
captains and some gentlemen from the Island to dine with
him, a little before the time the wind changed, and the smoke
of five of the kilns came direct on our ship turning day into
night, the Boatswain was ordered to go and make them put
out their kilns, which they refused to do; upon which he
threatened to send cannon balls among them to smash their
kilns, but the sturdy fellows replied, You may as well take
our lives as our means, we will not put them out. Finding
threats would not do, he enquired how much they gained a
day : they said, when the kilns burn well they gained ten-
pence ; upon which he gave to each one shilling; the kilns
were then soon put out, the smoke cleared away and
we again saw daylight. T could not help comparing this
hard, wet labour for tenpence a day where not even a
whistle was heard, with the merry songs of the ploughboys
in England.

This place was to me a new world, nothing reminded me
of Westminster Abbey, and my strolls to Vauxhall, Spring
Gardens and other places, where all was beauty to the eye,
and verdure to the feet; here all was rock with very little
soil, everywhere loose stones that hurt my feet; not a tree
to be seen. I sadly missed the old Oaks, under whose shade
I sat, and played. I could not conceive by what means the
people lived ; they appeared comfortable, and their low dark
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houses, with a peat fire, the smoke of which escaped by a
small hole, contained all they required.

They carried on a considerable contraband trade with
Holland ; which from the very high duties on Liquors and
other articles gave them a profitable trade. None of the
officers and crews of the three Ships had provided themselves
with liquors for the voyage, as they knew these things could
be procured here cheaper and better than in London. One
afternoon, taking a walk with one of the petty officers, we
entered a low dark house. It was three or four minutes before
we could perceive the gudeman, who in his homespun blue
coat was sitting alone by his turf fire; my companion en-
quired how times went, and if he had an anker keg of comfort
for a cold voyage ; he said of late the Revenue Cutters had
been very active, and stocks low ; but he could accomm ydate
him. The price was soon settled, and the gin found a place
in the ship. And thus it will always be with high duties
The Kirk was on the shore of the Harbor, the Minister wa
the Reverend Mr. Falkner, a gentleman remarkable for a fine
powerful voice and using plain language adapted to the
education of his flock, he appeared to be much respected.
Altho’ many of his congregation came several miles over a
rough country, yet his Kirk of a Sunday was filled ; every
man woman and child came with their blue stockings and
thick soled shoes neatly folded under their arms. Sitting
down on the stones near the church they were put on their
feet, and thus [they] entered the Kirk; on coming out the
shoes and stockings were taken off, folded and placed under
the arms and thus [they] returned home: their behaviour
was remarkably good, grave yet cheerfull with respect for each
other, and kind attention to the women and children. In
those days there was no Telegraph ; it took three weeks to
send letters to London and receive an answer for sailing
orders. We now held our course over the western ocean ;
and near the islands of America saw several icebergs, and
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Hudson’s Straits were so full of ice, as to require the time of
near a month to pass them; this being effected the three
ships separated, one for Albany and Moose Factories, another
for York Factory, and the third for Churchill Factory at
which last place we arrived in the beginning of September
1784.

Hudson’s Bay, including Jame’s Bay, may be said to be
an inland sea, connected to the Atlantic Ocean by Hudson’s
Straits : it is in the form of a Horse Shoe ; and in Latitude
extends from §2 degrees to 60 degrees north, and from
70 dt'j,:l«'w to l)_; Ll('L’I'(‘\”‘ west of Greenwich in the nnrthum
part; and covers an area of about 192,770 square statute
miles.! On it’s west side it receives Seal, Churchill, the
Kissiskatchewan,® Hayes, Severn, Albany, and Moose Rivers ;
on the east side Ruperts and several other Rivers, the names
of which are unknown as they come from barren, desolate,
countries. From Seal River leading south to Churchill River,
about thirty six miles, the country is of granite rock, along
the Bay shore of which is a narrow strip of marsh land, appar-
ently the alluvial of Seal River. The granitic rocks which
bounds the sea coast from far to the northward have their
southern termination at Churchill River; in Latitude 58°. 47’
North Longitude 94°. 3* West, then forms a retiring line from
the sea shore; for 150 miles to the Kissiskatchewan River,
up which the first granite is found at the distance of one
hundred and thirty five miles, being the borders of the most
eastern Lakes ; and this distance appears to be wholly alluvial ;
and to be of much the same width all along the Bay side :

! Hudson Bay extends from latitude 51° 10’ N. at the south end of
James Bay to latitude 64° N. and from longitude 77° 30’ E. to 94° 30’ E.,
and has a total area of about 500,000 square miles

* It is interesting to note that Thompson constantly speaks of the
Nelson river as the Kissiskatchewan river, though I am unable to learn
that this name was used for it by the Indians. Among the Cree Indians
who live on its banks, the Nelson river is called Powinigow or Powinini-

gow, which probably means ‘‘ the Rapid Strangers’ river.”
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these alluvials especially of the Kissiskatchewan and Hayes’s
Rivers have high steep banks of earth and gravel intermixed,
from ten to forty feet; the gravel and small stones are all
rounded by the action of water ; the Rivers passing through
this alluvial have a very rapid current with several Falls.
Churchill River where it enters the Sea, is an noble stream
of about one and a half mile in width ; on the south side it
is bounded by a low point of rock and sand ; on the north
side by a low neck of sand with rock appearing through it;
at the extremity of which the Point is about an acre in width,
on which was erected about the year 1745 a regular, well
constructed Fort of Granite:' having about thirty cannon of
six to eighteen pound shot. There was no approach to it but
by the narrow isthmus of sand. 'The water was too shoal for
three fourths of a mile to the middle of the River for Ships,
and this was the only place a ship could come to. (It was at
this Fort that M* Wales the Astronomer observed the Transit
of Venus over the Sun in 1769).> In the war with the United
States, and with France; in the year 1782 the celebrated
Navigator De la Peyrouse® was sent from France, with one
Ship of seventy four Guns, and two Frigates to take and
destroy the Forts of the Hudson’s Bay Company. In the
month of August these vessels anchored in the Bay, about

! For a description and plan of Fort Prince of Wales, which is here
referred to, and an account of its capture by Admiral de la Pérouse, see
Samuel Hearne's Journey, edited by J. B. Tyrrell, The Champlain Society,
loronto, 1911, pp. 6, 7, 21-2.

? William Wales was one of the ablest astronomers and mathema-
ticians of his day. With Joseph Dymond he spent a year at Churchill
between August g, 1768, and \v[w\unln-l 7, 1769, for the purpose of ob-
serving the transit of Venus over the sun on June 3, 1769. His obser-
vatory was situated on the top of the wall of the south-east bastion of
Fort Prince of Wales, within the parapet

3 Admiral de la Pérouse was not only one of the most famous admirals
of the French Navy, but he was also one of France's greatest geographers.
\fter destroying Forts York and Churchill on Hudson Bay in 1782, he started
on a voyage round the world, and was last heard from in 1788 from Botany

e oo
bay.
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four miles north of the Fort; and the next day sent a boat
well manned, to sound the River; at this time the Fort was

under the command of the well known traveller M* Samuel

Hearne ;' who had been in the naval service. He allowed the

french Boat to sound the River to their satisfaction ; without
firing a single shot at them ; from this conduct Admiral De

la Peyrouse judged what kind of a Commander of the Fort
he had to contend with ; accordingly next day, on the narrow
isthmus of sand and rock of a full mile in length which leads to

the Fort, he landed four hundred men, who marched direct
on the Fort with only small arms. The men in the Fort
begged of M Hearne to allow them to mow down the
French Troops with the heavy guns loaded with grape shot,

which he absolutely refused; and as they approached he
ordered the gates to be opened, and went out to meet them,
and surrendered at discretion; all the goods, stores, with

a large quantity of valuable Furrs fell into their hands. T'he

Fort was destroyed and burnt; but the stone walls of the

Fort were of such solid masonry [that] the fire scarcely injured
them. The french Commander declared, that had his sound-
ing Boat been fired at, he would not have thought of attacking
such a strong Fort so late in the season, when there was not
time for a regular siege. M® Hearne was received with cold

politeness, and looked upon with contempt by the french
Officers. (Note. M Samuel Hearne was a handsome man

ix feet in height, of a ruddy complexion and remarkably
enjoying good health; as soon as the Hudson’
Bay Company could do without his ser

vices they dismissed
him for cowardice. Under him I served my first year. It
was customary of a Sunday for a Sermon to be read to the

Men, which was done in his room, the only comfortable one
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in the Factory ; one Sunday, after the service, M* Jefferson
the reader and myself staid a few minutes on orders, he then
took Voltaire’s Dictionary, and said to us, here is my belief,
and I have no other. In the Autumn of 1785 he returned
to England, became a member of the Bucks Club and in two
years was buried :) The present Factory* is about five miles
1bove the Fort, in a small Bay formed by a ledge of rocks
which closes on the river about five hundred yards below the
Factory, above which for seven miles is an extensive marsh
to the lower rapids of the River. The Factory is supplied

once a year with goods and provisions, by a Ship which

arrives on the last days of August, or early in September, and
in about ten days is ready for her homeward voyage; the

erity of the climate requiring all possible dispatch. The
cold weather now comes rapidly on, but as there was no
['hermometer, we could only judge of the intensity of the
cold by our sensations, and it’s action on the land and water.
On the fifteenth day of November this great and deep River
was frozen over from side to side, and although the Spring
ides of New and full Moon rose ten to twelve feet above
the ordinary level, no impression was made on the ice, it kept
firm, and it was the middle of June the following year when
the ice broke up and gave us the pleasant sight of water.
About the middle of October the Marshes and Swamps are
frozen over, and the Snow lies on the ground; for about
two months the Factory yard, enclosed by stockades of twelve
feet in height, was kept clear of snow, but in the latter end
of December a north east snow storm of three days con

tinuance drifted the snow to the height of the stockades and

Jefferson w econd in command at Churchill during the latter part

of Samuel Hearne’s régime ; and after Hearne’s departure he was for a
year or two in command of the post.

» Churchill Factory is still situated in the place where it was when

[hompson lived in it in 1785. For a description of it and its surroundings,

[. B. Tyrrell, Report on the Dubawnt, Kazan, a» i Fevguson Rivers,

Ottawa, 1897, pp. 93-8
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over them, and filled the whole yard to the depth of six to
ten feet, which could not be cleared, and through which
avenues had to be cut and cleared of about four feet in width ;
and thus remained till late in April, when a gradual thaw
cleared the snow away. From the end of October to the
end of April every step we walk is in Snow Shoes. The
Natives walk with ease and activity, and also many of us:
but some find them a sad incumbrance, their feet become
sore and their ankles sprained ; with many a tumble in the
snow from which it is sometimes difficult to rise. In the open
season in the months of July and August, Salmon® from two

]

to five pounds tht are plentiful ; two nets each of thirty

19

Wi
fathoms in length by five feet in height maintain the Factory
from three to four days in the week. 'This fish is not
found south of Churchill River. Peculiar to Churchill is a
large species of Hare,® it dwells among the rocks, it’s nest is
better than other Hares, it’s skin stronger, the fur long and
very soft, of a beautiful white : twenty two were caught,
their skins sent to London and readily bought by the Barbers.
The country, soil, and climate in which we live, have always
a powerful effect upon the state of society, and the movements
and comforts of every individual, he must conform himself
to the circumstances under which he is placed, and as such
we lived and conducted ourselves in this extreme cold climate.
All our movements more, or less, were for self-preservation :
All the wood that could be collected for fuel, gave us only
one fire in the morning, and another in the evening.? 'The rest

2 Lepus arvcticus canus Preble
I'he house in which Thompson lived at Churchill in the winter of
ubtl

e been but recently built, for the old dwelling-house

at Fort Prince
the Hudson's Bay Company had only begun the construction of a new

1784-85 had

of Wales had been burned in 1782, and the employees of

trading post in the fall of 1783, when they had been allowed to go back
to Hudson Bay In the hurry of building, Hearne and those with him
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of the day, if bad weather, we had to walk in the guard room
with our heavy coats of dressed Beaver ; but when the weather
was tolerable we passed the day in shooting Grouse.! The
interior of the walls of the House were covered with rime to
the thickness of four inches, pieces of which often broke off,
to prevent which we wetted the whole extent, and made it
a coat of ice, after which it remained firm, and added to the
warmth of the House, for the cold is so intense, that every-
thing in a manner is shivered by it, continually the Rocks
are split with a sound like the report of a gun. Everywhere
the rocks are fractured from the well known effects of freezing
water. This is very well for winter, but in the summer season
the Rocks are also fractured; although more than half of
their surface is covered with Ponds and rills of water, I could
not believe that water thawing could produce this effect ; but
in the month of July I was sitting on a rock to shoot Curlews *
as they passed, when a large rock not ten yards from me
split, I went to it, the fracture was about an inch in width.
In looking down it, about ten feet from the surface, was a
bed of solid ice, the surface of which appeared damp as if
beginning to thaw ; a few days after another large Rock split
close to me, by the fracture, at the depth of about twenty
feet was a bed of ice in the same state: these rocks are not
isolated, they are part of an immense extent to the westward
and northward, every where with innumerable fractures ;
among these rocks are narrow vallies of rolled granite pebbles,
now twenty to fifty feet above the level of the sea; which
was once the beach of the sea: has the land been elevated, or
the sea retired; who can tell what has »assed in ancient

times. By the early part of October all the birds of passage
appear to have neglected to lay in a sufficient supply of firewood for the
winter., With well-built houses and plenty of fuel men can be as warm
in winter at Churchill as in any other part of Canada

! Lagopus albus (Gmelin), and L. rupestris (Gmelin), both described

from Hudson Bay specimens. [E. A, P.]
* Numenius borealis (Forster), and N. hudsonicus Latham. [E. A, P.]
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have left us for milder climes, and winter commences, the pools
of water are frozen over and ice [is] on the river side. The
polar Bear' now makes his appearance, and prowls about until
the ice at the sea shore is extended to a considerable distance ;
when he leaves to prey on the Seal, his favourite food : during
his stay he is for plunder and every kind of mischief, but not
willing to fight for it. Only one accident happened, it was
in November the snow about eighteen inches deep. A she
Bear prowling about came near to one of the grouse hunters,
his gun snaped and in turning about to get away he fell, fortu-
nately on his back, the Bear now came and hooked one of her
fore paws in one of his snow shoes, and dragged him along
for her cubs; sadly frightened, after a short distance he re-
covered himself, pricked and primed his gun, and sent the
load of shot like a ball into her belly ; she fell with a growl,
and left him. He lost no time in getting up, and running
away as fast as snow shoes would permit him.

The polar, or white, Bear, when taken young is easily
tamed ; In the early part of July the whaling boat in chase
of the Beluga® came up with a she bear and her two cubs ;
the bear and one of her cubs were killed ; the other, a male,
was kept, brought to the factory and tamed. At first he had
to be carefully protected from the dogs, but he soon increased
in size and strength to be a full match for them, and the
blows of his fore feet kept them at a distance. This Bruin
continued to grow, and his many tricks made him a favourite,
especially with the sailors, who often wrestled with him, and
his growing strength gave them a cornish hug. In the
severity of winter when spruce beer could not be kept from
freezing each mess of four men get a quart of molasses instead
of beer, of which Bruin was fond as well as grog, and
every Saturday used to accompany the men to the steward’s
shed when the rations were served to them, the steward

' Thalarctos maritimus (Phipps) E.A. P
* Delphinapterus catodon (Linn.). [E. A. P
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always gave him some on one of his fore paws, which he licked
into his mouth. On one of these days the steward and
Bruin had quarreled and as punishment he got no molasses :
he sat very quietly while the steward was putting all to
rights, but seeing him ready to shut the door, made a dash
at the hogshead of molasses, and thrusting his head and neck
to the shoulders, into it, to the utter dismay of the steward,
he carried off a large gallon on his shaggy hair; he walked
to the middle of the yard, sat down, and then first with one
paw, then the other, brought the molasses into his mouth
until he had cleaned all that part of his coat, all the time
deliciously smacking his lips. Whatever quarrels the steward
and the bear had afterwards, the latter always got his ration
of molasses. On Saturday the sailors had an allowance of
rum, and frequently bought some for the week, and on that
night Bruin was sure to find his way into the guard room ;
one night having tasted some grog, he came to a sailor with
whom he was accustomed to wrestle, and who was drinking
too freely, and was treated by him so liberally that he got
drunk, knocked the sailor down and took possession of his
bed; at fisty cuffs he knew the bear would beat him and
being determined to have his bed he shot the bear. This is
the fate of almost every Bear that is tamed when grown to
their strength. ‘This animal affects a northern climate and
is found only on the sea side, and the mouths of large rivers
but not beyond the ascent of the tide, and keeping the line
of the sea coasts appear more numerous than they really are.
Some of the males grow to a large size, I have measured a skin
when stretched to a frame to dry, ten and a half feet in
length. 'The fore paw of one of them kept at Churchill weighed
in the scales thirty two pounds, a decent paw to shake hands
with, the claws are [sharp ?] but only about three inches in
length, the flesh is so fat and oily that a considerable quantity
is collected for the lamps, and other purposes. The skin is
loose and when taken off appears capable of covering a much
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larger animal ; he swims with ease and swiftness, and requires
a good boat with four men to come up with him. Although
the white bear is found along the coasts inhabited by the
Esquimaux yet very few of the skins of this animal are traded
from, or seen with, them. For the white bear though seldom
he attacks a man, yet when attacked will fight hard for his life,
and as he is, what the Indians call Seepnak (strong of life) he
is very rarely killed by a single ball ; much less with an arrow
that cannot break a bone; hence they must be unwilling to
attack him.

The Nahathaway Indians are all armed with guns, and are
good shots, but they only attack this species of Bear when
they are two together, and one after the other keep a steady
fire on him, but a ball in the brain or heart is directly fatal.

(he Esquimaux are a people with whom we are very
little acquainted, although in a manner surrounding us, they
live wholly on the sea coast, which they possess from the
gulph of the §8' Lawrence, round the shores of Labrador to
Hudsons Straits, these Straits and adjacent Islands, to Hudson’s
Bay, part of it’s east shores; but on the west side of this
Bay, only north of Churchill River, thence northward and
westward to the Coppermine River; thence to the M°Kenzie
and westward to l\\ CJ}‘L‘, the east side of H('ll['i!lg.\ Strait.
Along this immense line of sea coast they appear to have
restricted themselves to the sea shores,! their Canoes give them
free access to ascend the Rivers, yet they never do, every part
they frequent is wholly destitute of growing Trees, their
whole dependence for fuel and other purposes is on drift
wood, of which, fortunately there is plenty. The whole is a

! In a general way, this statement that the Eskimo live exclusively

on the sea coast is correct Nevertheless, while exploring the Kazan
river, which flows into Chesterfield Inlet, in 1894, I encountered a tribe

of Eskimo who live on its banks and rarely visit the salt water ['hey
subsist chiefly on the meat of the caribou, which they kill with their spears
in great numbers, and from the skins of the caribou they make their

clothing and the coverings for their kayaks or small canoes,
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dreary, monotonous coast of Rock and Moss without Hills
or Mountains to the M¢Kenzie River, thence westward the
Mountains are near the shore.

[n the latter end of February and the months of
March and April, from the mouth of the River seaward for
everal miles the Seals are numerous, and have many holes in
the ice through which they come up: how these holes are
made in the apparent solid ice, I never could divine; to
look into them, they appear like so many wells of a round
orm, with sides of smooth solid ice and their size seldom
large enough to admit two seals to pass together.

The Seals' do not come up on the ice before nine or ten
in the morning as the weather may be, and go down between
two and three in the afternoon; they are always on the
watch, scarce a minute passes without some one lifting hi
head, to see if any danger is near from the Bear or Man,
ipparently their only enemies. Three of us several times
made an attempt to kill one, or more; but to no purpose,
however wounded they had always life enough to fall into
the ice hole and we lost them ; and I have not heard of any
Seal being killed on the spot by a Ball. The Esquimaux
who live to the northward of us kill these animals for food
and clothing in a quiet and sure manner: the Hunter is
armed with a Lance headed with Bone or Iron, the latter
always preferred : the handle of which, sometimes is the
length of twenty yards (measured) made of pieces of drift
larch wood, neatly fitted to each other, bound together with
sinew, the handle is shortened, or lengthened, as occasion
may require. The Esquimaux Hunter in the evening, when
the Seals are gone to the sea, examines their holes, the places
where they lie, and having selected the hole, best adapted to

! Three species of seal are common on the coast of Hudson Bay near
Fort Churchill: the Rough or Ringed Seal, Phoca hispida Schreber ;
the Common or Harbour Seal, Phoca vitulina Linn.; and the Bearded
Seal, Evignathus barbatus (Erxleben). [E. A, P.]

——r— i ———— .
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his purpose, early in the morning before the seals come up,
goes to the ice hole he has selected, on the south side of
which he places his Lance, the handle directed northward,
the point of the Lance close to the hole, for the seals lie on
the north side of the ice hole, and directing his Lance to the
spot [where] the Seals have been lying, having firmly laid the
| helve of his lance, he retires to the end of it, and there hides
; himself behind some broken ice, which if he does not find
to his purpose, he brings pieces of ice to make the shelter he
requires. Lying flat on his belly he awaits with patience the
coming up of the Seals; the first Seal takes his place at the
north edge of the hole, this is also the direction in which the
Lance is laid ; the other seals, two, or three more, are close
on each side, or behind ; if the Seal is not in the direct line
of the Lance, which is sometimes the case, he gently twists
the handle of the Lance until it is directly opposite to the
heart of the Seal; still he waits with patience until the Seal
appears asleep ; when with all his skill and strength he drives
the Lance across the hole (I\c‘ll' three feet) into the l\l)xi} of
the Seal, which, finding itself wounded, and trying to throw
itself into the ice hole, which the handle of the lance prevents,
only aids the wound ; the hunter keeps the handle firm, and
goes on hands and knees to near the hole, where he quietly
waits the death of the seal; he then drags the seal from the
hole, takes out his lance and carefully washes the blood from
it. When the hunter shows himself all the seals for some
distance around dive into the ice ]Nlh‘\ and do not come up
for several minutes; this gives time to the Esquimaux to
place his lance at another hole, and await the seals return,
| and thus he sometimes kills two of them in one day but this
is not often, as the weather is frequently stormy and cloudy.
The Esquimaux are of a square, plump make, few of them
exceed five feet eight inches in height, the general stature is
below this size, and the women are in proportion to the men,
their features though broad are not unpleasing, with a ten-
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dency to ruddy, they appear cheerful and contented, they are
supple active and strong ; from the land, in the open season,
they have berries, and a few rein-deer, but it is to the sea they
look for their subsistence: the sea birds, the seal, morse,
beluga, and the whale; living on these oily foods, they are
supposed not to be clean, but the fact is, they are as cleanly
as people living as they do, and without soap can be expected

[to be], all their cooking utensils are in good order. In summer

part of them dwell in tents made of the dressed skins of the
reindeer, these are pitched on the gravel banks, and kept
very neat, they make no fire in them to prevent [them]
being soiled with smoke, which is made near the tent. The
salmon and meat of the reindeer they cure by smoke of drift
wood of which they have plenty. They are very industrious
and ingenious, being for eight months of the year exposed
to the glare of the snow, their eyes become weak ; at the age
of forty years almost every man has an impaired sight. The
eyesight of the women is less injured at this age. They
make neat goggles of wood with a narrow slit, which are
placed on the eyes, to lessen the light. They all use Darts,
Lances, Bows and Arrows, as weapons of defence, and for
hunting ; their Darts and Lances are made of drift Larch
wood, headed with bone of the leg of the Rein Deer,! or a
piece of iron, the latter preferred, and the length of the Dart
is proportioned to it’s intended use—for Birds, the Seal, the
Beluga,® Whale? or the Morse ;* to the Dart or Lance for the
three latter, a large bladder made of sealskins, and blown full
of air is attached by a strong line of neatly twisted sinew.
['his not only shews the place of the wounded animal but soon
tires him, [so] that he becomes an easy prey, though some-
times with risque to the Hunter and Canoe. The Morse is

Rangifer arcticus (Richardson). [E. A, P.]
2 Delphinapterus catodon (Linn,). [E. A. P.]
' Bal@na mysticetus (Linn.). [E. A. P.]

* The Walrus, Odob@nus rosmarus (Linn.). [E. A. P.]
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the animal most dreaded, and he is allowed to worry himself
to death before they approach him. Whale Bone is part of
their trade, but whether they procure it by attacking the
Whale as they do the Morse or it is the spoils of those thrown
ashore, is somewhat uncertain. They are dextrous in throw-
ing the dart, although their Canoes allow only the motion of
the upper part of their bodies, and seldom miss a sea bird at
thirty yards distance. 'Their Bows and Arrows are employed
on the Rein Deer, Wolf and Fox, they draw the Arrow well
and sure, whatever they make displays a neatness and ingenuity
that would do honor to a first rate european workman if he
had no other tools than those poor people have. All along
the sea coast where the Esquimaux are found, there are no
standing woods of any kind, the whole country is rock and
moss, the drift wood is what they wholly depend on for
every purpose for which wood is required, and fortunately it
is plentiful ; brought down by the rivers from the interior
countries, and thrown ashore by the waves and tides of the
ea; their country everywhere exhibits Rocks, Ponds, and
\Moss, a hundred miles has not ground for a garden, even if
the climate allowed it; their cloathing is much the same
everywhere, made of Rein Deer leather and Seal skins, both
men and women wear boots, which come to the knee, the
foot is made of Morse skin, the upper part of seal skin with
the hair off, the whole so neatly sewed together as to be
perfectly water tight : these boots are much sought after by
the people of the Factories, to walk with in the marshes,
where our boots cannot stand the water. ‘They are worth six
shillings p* pair, (at Quebec three dollars) and with care last
two years, of open seasons. Their kettles are made of black,
or dark grey marble, of various sizes, some will hold four to
six gallons, they are of an oblong form, shallow in proportion
to their size, this shape serves for fish as well as flesh, they do
not put them on the fire, the victuals in them is cooked by
means of hot stones to make the water boil, to keep it boiling
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by the same means requires very little trouble; the kettles
are kept clean and in good order, polished both in the inside
and outside; they set a high value on them but prefer a
brass kettle, as lichter and more useful. Their canoes are
made of sealskins sewed together, and held to a proper shape
by gunwales, and ribs made of drift Larch, and sometimes
whalebones added ; they are very sharp at both ends and no
wider in the middle than to admit a man ; their length from
twelve to sixteen feet, they are decked with seal skins so as to
prevent any water getting into the canoe, the place to admit
the man is strengthened by a broad hoop of wood, to the upper
part of which is sewed a sealskin made to draw around the
man like a purse, this the Esquimaux tichtens round his waist
so that only the upper part of the body is exposed to the
waves and weather ; they urge along their canoes with great
wiftness, by a paddle having a blade at both ends ; the handle
is in the middle. FEarly habit has rendered him expert in
balancing himself on the waves of the sea in these sharp canoes
called kaijack. I never saw a european who could balance
himself in these canoes for three minutes. Their weapons for
killing sea birds, seals &c. are placed on the deck of the canoe,
quite at hand, secured by small cords of sinew. For the
removal of their families they have canoes of about thirty
feet in length by six feet in breadth called oomiaks, made of
seal skin, the gunwales and ribs of larch wood, and whale-
bone ; these are paddled by the women and steered by an
old man. Their Bows are made of the Larch found on the
beach, they are from 3% to five feet in length, made of three
pieces of wood of equal lengths, and morticed into each other,
at the back of each joint, or mortice, is a piece of Morse tooth
neatly made to fit the Bow, of nine inches long, a quarter of
an inch thick, on each side thinned to an edge: the back of
the Bow is a groove of half an inch in depth, leaving the sides
for an inch thick along the groove ; this is filled with twisted,
or plaited sinew, running alternately from end to end of the

e e S
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Bow, each layer secured by cross sinews. In undoing a large
Bow, about four hundred fathoms of this sinew line was
measured : their arrows are twenty eight to thirty inches
long headed with bone, or iron; but being made of Larch,
for want of better wood, which occasions them to be too large
in proportion to their weight, and lessens their velocity ; yet
uch is the strength of their Bows, they pierce a Rein Deer
at one hundred and twenty yards: almost all their weapons
are barbed. When the winter moderates sufficiently to allow
them to travel, they use a large sled made of two runners of
[Larch, each runner is six to seven feet long, six to eight
inches deep, and four inches wide, each turning up at the
fore part, the runners are fastened together by bars of wood
let into the upper side of each runner, on these they lay,

and with cords, secure all their baggage, utensils, and pro-
visions ; the men to the number of six, or eight, harness them-
elves to the sled and march from campment to campment in
quest of animals for food and clothing : the women carry
their children, and light things, and sometimes assist the men.
As soon as mild weather comes on, [so] that they can dwell
in tents, they willingly leave their earthy, or snow huts, and
live in tents made of the dressed leather of the Rein Deer,
which are pitched on clean gravel: they rarely allow a fire
to be made in them as it would soil the leather, but for all
purposes make a fire without. When they lie down at night,
they have their particular blankets made of Rein Deer or
Seal skins, beside which, a large coverlet made of the same
material extends all round each half of the tent and covers
everyone, generally there are two families to each tent.

[n their conduct to each other they are sociable, friendly,
and of a cheerful temper. But we are not sufficiently
acquainted with their language to say much more; in their
traffic with us they are honest and friendly. ‘They are not of
the race of the north american Indians, but of european
descent. Nothing can oblige an Indian to work at anything




JOIN HUDSON’'S BAY COMPANY 2

but stern necessity ; whereas the Esquimaux is naturally
industrious, very ingenious, fond of the comforts of life so far
as they can attain them, always cheerful, and even gay; it
is true that in the morning, when he is about to embark in
his shell of a Canoe, to face the waves of the sea, and the
powerful animals he has to contend with, for food and cloth-
ing for himself and family, he is for many minutes very
serious, because he is a man of reflection, knows the dangers
to which he is exposed, but steps into his canoe, and bravely
goes through the toil and dangers of the day.

The steady enemy of the Seal is the Polar Bear. How
this awkward animal catches the watchful Seal, I could not
imagine. The Esquimaux say, he prowls about examining the
ice holes of the Seals and finding one close to high broken ice
there hides himself, and when the Seals are ba.iing in the
Sun and half asleep, he springs upon them, seizes one, which
he hugs to death, and as fast as possible, with his teeth cuts
the back sinews of the neck, the Seal is then powerless and
Bruin feasts on him at his leisure. Few Porpoises' are seen,
but the Beluga, a small species of white Whale, are very
numerous from the latter end of May to the beginning of
September, their average length is about fifteen feet, and
[they] are covered with fat from three to five inches in thick-
ness, which yields an oil superior to that of the black whale.
This Summer the Company had a Boat and six Men employed
for the taking of the Beluga, the Boat was of light construc-
tion and painted white, which is the color of this fish, and
as experience has proved the color best adapted to them as
they often, in a manner, touch the Boat; while they avoid
Boats of any other color, those taken were all struck with the
Harpoon, and often held the Boat in play from three to five
miles before they were killed by the Lance, towing the Boat

' Phocana phocena (Linn.) is common in Baffin’s Bay and about
the mouth of Hudson Strait, but apparently has not been detected on

the west shore of Hudson Bay. [E.A.P.




24 DAVID THOMPSON’S

NARRATIVE

at the rate of five miles an hour; when struck they dive to
the bottom with such force as sometimes to strike the harpoon
out of them, and thus many escape; in some of those killed
[ have seen the harpoon much bent. Their young are of a

blueish color, and in the month of July weigh about one

hundred and twenty pounds, they are struck with a strong
| boat hook ['he Beluga in chase of the Salmon sometimes
runs himself ashore, especially up large Brooks and Creeks

If it 1s ebb tide he stands every chance of remaining and be-

ing the prey of Gulls and the Polar Bear. The produce
of this summers fishing, was three tuns of oil, which could
not pay the expenses. There is scarce a doubt but strong

Nets well anchored would take very many and be profitable

to the Company.!

1 1 .
After passing a long gloomy, and most severe winter, it

will naturally be thought with what delicht we enjoy the
Spring, and Summer; of the former we know nothing but
the melting of the snow and the ice becoming dangerous :
Summer such as it is, comes at once, and with it myriads of
tormenting Musketoes ; the air is thick with them, there is
no cessation day nor night of suffering from them. Smoke
is no relief, they can stand more smoke than we can, and

smoke cannot be carried about with us. The narrow windows

were so crowded with them, they trod each other to death in
uch numbers, we had to sweey

them out twice a day; a

chance cold northeast gale of wind was a grateful relief, and

[we] were thankful for the cold weather that put an end to our
sufferings. The Musketoe Bill, when viewed through a good

microscope, is of a curious formation, composed of two dis-

tinct pieces ; the upper is three sided, of a black color, and
sharp-pointed, under which is a round white tube, like clear

! For many years the White Whale or Beluga has been taken in some

numbers by means of a net stretched across the mouth of some natural

basin, which, being raised after entrance of a school, imprisons the animals
until the falling tide leaves them helpless E.A. P)
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glass, the mouth inverted inwards ; with the upper part the
skin is perforated, it is then drawn back, and the clear tube
applied to the wound, and the blood sucked through it into
the body, till it is full ; thus their bite are two distinct opera-
tions, but so quickly done as to feel as only one; different
Persons feel them in a different manner; some are swelled,
even bloated, with intolerable itching ; others feel only the
smart of the minute wounds; Oil 15 the only remedy and
that frequently applied; the Natives rub themselves with
Sturgeon Oil, which is found to be far more effective than
any other oil. All animals suffer from them, almost to mad
ness, even the well feathered Birds suffer about the eyes and
neck The cold nights of N‘}\lﬂul‘.'l‘ are the first, and most
teady relief A question has often been asked to which no
satisfactory answer has ever been given . where, .1Il\i %:H,\. \1
they pass the winter, for on their first appearance they are
all full grown, and the young brood does not come torward
until July. The opinion of the Natives, as well as many of
ourselves, is, that they pass the winter at the bottom of ponds
of water, for when these ponds are free of ice, they appear
covered with gnats in a weak state; and two, or three days
after the Musketoes are on us in full force. This theory may
do very well for the low countries, where except the bare
rock, the whole surface may be said to be wet, and more, or
less, covered with water, but will not do for the extensive
high and dry Plains, where, when the warm season comes on,
they start up in myriads a veritable full grown plague. We
must conclude that wherever they find themselves when the
frost sets in, there they shelter themselves from the winter,
be the country wet or dry ; and this theory appears probable,
for all those countries where they were in myriads, and which
are now under cultivation by the plough, are in a manner
clear of them, and also the Cities and Towns of Canada.
But in America there always has been, and will be Woods,
Swamps, and rough ground, not fit for the plough, but
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dmirably adapted to produce Musketoes, and the Cows
turned out to graze, when they return to be milked bring
with them more than enough to plague the farmer. In
September the Sand Fly, and Midgeuks, are numerous, the
latter insinuates itself all over the body; the skin becomes
heated with itching ; these cease at sun set, but remain until

the season becomes cold. October puts an end to all these

1 curious fact [that] the farther to the north-

rd, the more, and more, numerous are all those flies, but

While these insects are so numerous they are a terrour to
every creature on dry lands if swamps may be so called, the
dogs howl, roll themselves on the ground, or hide themselves
in the water; the Fox seems always in a fichting humour ;
he barks, snaps on all sides, and however hungry and ready to
g0 a birdsnesting, of which he is fond, is fairly driven to seek
helter in his hole \ sailor finding swearing of no use, tried
what Tar could do, and covered his face with it, but the

usketoes stuck to it in such numbers as to blind him, and
the tickling of their wings were worse than their bites; in

t Oil is the only remedy. I was fortunate in passing my
time in the company of three gentlemen the officers of the
actory, M' Jefferson the deputy governor, M* Prince the
captain of the Sloop, that annually traded with the Esquimaux
1 M* Hodge

to the northward, anc
books which they freely lent to me, among them were several

the Surgeon ;' they had

on history and on animated nature, these were what I paid
most attention to as the most instructive. Writing paper
there was none but what was in the hands of the Governor,
and a few sheets among the officers. On my complaining
111.11 [ should lose my w rilill:' for want ot }‘I"uli\ e, M Hmrnc

accustomed to keep a surgeon or

I The Hudson's Bay Comp:
doctor at each of its most important trading posts on Hudson Bay. As
a rule these surgeons were young men who remained only a few years in
the service.
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employed me a few days on his manuscript entitled “A
journey to the North,”' and at another time I copied an
[nvoice.

[t had been the custom for many years, when the governors
of the factory required a clerk, to send to the school in which
| was educated to procure a Scholar who had a mathematical
education to send out as Clerk, and, to save expenses, he
\ bound apprentice to them for seven years. To learn

hat ; for all I had seen in their service neither writing nor
reading was required. and my only business was to amuse
myself, in winter growling at the cold ; and in the open season
hooting Gulls, Ducks, Plover and Curlews, and quarelling
with Musketoes and Sand flies.

The Hudsons Bay Company annually send out three Ship
Factories, which generally arrive at their respective
he latter end of August or the early part of September,
and this vear (1785) the Ship arrived as usual. When the
Captain landed, I was surprised to see with him M* John
Charles,? a school fellow and of the same a;

e as myself, whom

book pul d later, and ree vy f
H r the ¢ p of D John D f
1 1 tl 1 Joun from Py f Wa I
vt vort Jcean, and wa publish¢ vith int s
by t Champlain S t n 191 [t describes Hear:
ot from Fort P1 ¢ of W at the mouth of the Chur
» the Coppermine river, in the y between 1769 and 17
Thompson here refers to George Charle who came to Churchill in
1785, Geor Charles was in training for the Company at the Grey Coat
hool at the time of Thompson’s departure from it In the minutes of
the Grey Coat School under date of June 29, 1785, *“ The Master reports
that there but one boy in the School, viz. George Charles, who is under

nstruction for the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company by order of the
[reasurer at the desire and request of his uncle, Mr. John Allen, Coach-
maker, of Petty France, Westminster.” On May 20, 1
who was then about fifteen years of age, was bound to the Hudson’'s Bay

785, young Charles,
Company, and the Grey Coat School paid the Company five pounds, and
four pounds more ““in lieu of instruments.” George Charles remained at
Churchill, or at the trading posts up the Churchill river, for a number of
years, at least until the winter of 1805, but it does not appear that he ever
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I had left to be bound out to a trade. I enquired of him
what had made him change his mind, he informed me that
shortly after my departure, from what he could learn some
maps drawn by the fur traders of Canada had been seen by M
Dalrymple,' which showed the rivers and lakes for many
hundred miles to the westward of Hudsons Bay. That he
A}‘i‘litd to the k'«rﬁ}'.mj. to send out a gentieman \\CH
qualified to survey the interior country, all which they

promised to do, and have [a] gentleman fit for that purpose

1 e any surve of the interior country I'he work of making a survey
far west as Lake Athabaska was afterward gned to Philip Turnor
John Charles, with whose name Thompson appears to have confused
( rge Char W an who was born in the I h of St
Margaret, Westminster year 1785, and who entered CIrvice
of the Hudson Bay Compan ibout 1799 In 1815-16 he was at
N 1 H ( 1 1d in 1820 he 1S In u of N
( 1 h it Indiar In 1821, at the
) H n's B 1 North-West ( ies, he was a chief

fact ith resid e at the same place Later he was at Isle a la Crosse
n charge of t English river district, and in 1833, when Sir George Back
n exploring expedition down the Great Fish river to the
A 1 f \thabaska district He retired
from acti n Corn in 1842 R. M. Ballantyne, in 1}
Hudson's Bay, Edinburgh, 1848, gives an interesting sketch of hi appear-

ance and character under the name of Carle
Alexander Dalrymple

vas Hydrographer to the Admiralty from 179

until a few weeks before his death in 1808

He was born in Scot on July 24, 1737, and when fifteen years of age

to India 1n the rvice of the East India Co

npany For twenty-
ears he remained in the East then he returned to England, and

luring the next ten years he published a number of books and paper
chiefly relating to geography and travel [owards the end of this time he
appointed Hydrographer to the East India Company He criti

cized Hearne's geographical work on his journey to the Coppermine
river ind he seems

to have been largely instrumental in having Philip
lurnor sent out to determine the extent and correct position of Lake
Athabaska. It is difficult, however, to understand Thompson’s reference
to him in the text It is hardly likely that any map drawn by the Cana-
dian fur-traders had been seen by him before 1785. It

s generally
issumed that the map made by Peter Pond, in or about the year 1785,
which showed Lake Athabaska much too far west and too near the Pacific
ocean, is the one which incited Dalrymple to urge fuller surveys of that
lake and its vicinity
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to go out with their ships next year; they accordingly sent
to the School to have one ready. As he was the only one
of age, he was placed in the mathematical school, run quickly
over his studies, for which he had no wish to learn, for three
days, for a few minutes each day, taught to handle Hadley’s
quadrant, and bring down the Sun to a chalk mark on the
wall [and] his education was complete, and pronounced fit for
the duties he had to perform ; he was very much disappointed

he could not return. Hudson’s Bay, is

at all he saw, but
certainly a country that Sinbad the Sailor never saw, as he

makes no mention of Musketoes.




CHAPTER 11

LIFE AT A TRADING POST ON HUDSON'S BAY

Orders to

ut for York Factory—Packet Indians—Leave
West shore of Hudsow’s Bay—Meet several

Polar Bears—Indian superstitions regarding Polar Bears

Chure

Cross Nelson River and arrive at York Factory—Great
M arsh—Shooting wild Geese—Southward migration of Geese
Ovrder f the Manit Cranes and Bitterns—Life at
York Factory—Ship arrives and leaves—Winter sets in
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ARLY in September the annual Ship arrived, and
orders were sent for me to LI“k(‘L'\l xlil‘ull'. to York

Factory, a distance of one hundred and fifty mile

to the southward.! The Hudson’s Bay Company had estab-

lished a very useful line of communication between their

several Factories by means of what were called, Packet Indians,

these were each of two Indian men, who left each Factory

with letters to arrive at the next Factory about the expected

time of the arrival of the Ship at such Factory, and thus the

safe arrival of these annual Ships, and the state of the Factories

! Thompson was at this time fifteen years of age

30




LIFE AT A TRADING POST 31

became known to each other, and assistance was given where
required. The Boat from Churchill Factory crossed the
River with the two Packet Indians and myself to Cape
Churchill, and landed us without any Provisions, and only
one blanket to cover me at night ; for we had to carry every-
thing : it was a very fine day; but unfortunately a gallon
of very strong Grog was given to these Indians, who as usual,
as soon as they landed, began drinking, and were soon drunk
and the day lost; we slept on the ground each in his single
blanket, the dew was heavy : Early in the morning we set off
and continued our march to sunset, without breakfast or
dinner ; the Indians now shot one Goose' and three stock
Ducks.? We came t
the night with plenty of drift wood for fuel ; the three Duck
were soon picked, stuck on a stick to roast at the fire ; mean

time the Goose was picked, and put to roast [lach of us had

) something like a dry spot, and stopped for

a Duck, and the Goose among us three. Our march all day
had been on the marshy beach of the Bay, which made it
fatigueing ; and directly after supper, each wrapped himsel
in his blanket and slept soundly on the ground: the banl
of the Brooks were the only kind of dry ground. The inci
d&‘lll 01 every ‘{‘l,\ WeEre SO muc || l}n‘ same Ill‘ll | »]Lt“ \]l.ll*.(‘
one story of the whole: on the evening of the sixth day we
‘lrri\ul at I‘i*i'l\‘\ltllk‘\\;lll Ri\t‘l'. a }‘HH. \]\'k‘]‘. stream Ol
two miles in width ; we put up on the bank of a Brook, where
my companions had laid up a Canoe, but the wind blowing
fresh we could not proceed. Our line of march had con
stantly been along the Bay side, at high water mark, alway
wet and muddy, tiresome walking and very dull; on the
left hand was the sea, which when the tide was in appeared
deep, but the Ebb retired to such a distance, that the Sea
was not visible and showed an immense surface of Mud with
innumerable boulders of rock, from one to five or seven tons

! Probably Branta canadensis hutchinsi (Rich.). [E. A, P.]
* Mallard, Anas platyrhynchos Linn. [E. A, P.]
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weight, the greatest part were lodged at about half tide,
where the greatest part of the drift ice remains on the shore ;
as Seal River, north of Churchill River, is the most southern

where the shore is of Rock, the whole of these lWLlHCI\‘

}‘ll\k‘
ust have come with the ice from the northward of that
River, for south of it, and of Churchill River all is alluvial ;

this evidently shows a strong set of the north sea into Hudson’s

Bay on it’s west side, returning by the east side into Hudson’s
Straits ; for these boulders are found on the west side shores
to the most southern part of the Bay. On our right hand
was an immense extent of alluvial in marsh, morass, and
numerous ponds of water, which furnished water to many

nall Brooks ; the woods, such as they are, were out of sight.
Everv dav we passed from twelve to fifteen Polar Bears,
lying on the marsh, a short distance from the shore, they were
from three to five together, their heads close to each other,
and their bodies lying as radii from a centre. I enquired of
the Indians if the Polar Bears always lay in that form, they
aid, it was the common manner in which they lie. As we
passed them, one, or two would lift up their heads and look
at us, but never rose to molest us. 'The indian rule is to
walk past them with a steady step without seeming to notice
them. On the sixth day we had a deep Brook to cross, and
on the opposite side of the ford was a large Polar Bear feasting
on a Beluga, we boldly took the ford thinking the bear would
go away, but when [we \\('R‘l about half way across, he lifted

is head, placed his fore paws on the Beluga, and uttering a
oud growl, showed to us such a sett of teeth as made u
turn up the stream, and for fifty yards wade up to our middle
before we could cross; during this time the Bear eyed us,
orowling like a Mastiff Dog. During the time we were
waiting [for] the wind to calm, I had an opportunity of seeing
the Indian superstition on the Polar Bear; on one of these
days we noticed a Polar Bear prowling about in the ebb tide,
the Indians set off to kill it as the skin could be taken to the
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Factory in the Canoe ; when the Bear was shot, before they
could skin him and cut off his head, the tide was coming in,
which put them in danger, they left the skin to float ashore,
and seizing the head, each man having hold of an ear, with
their utmost speed in the mud brought the head to land,
the tide was up to their knees when they reached the shore ;
on the first grass they laid down the head, with the nose to
the sea, which they made red with ochre; then made a
peech to the Manito of the Bears, that he would be kind to
them as they had performed all his orders, had brought the
head of the Bear ashore, and placed it with it’s nose to the
ea, begging him to make the skin float ashore, which, at the
Factory would sell for three pints of Brandy; the Manito
had no intention that they should get drunk, the skin did
not float ashore and was lost. In the afternoon of the third
day the wind calmed, the Indians told me at Noon that we
had staid there too long, that they would now sing and calm
the wind, for their song had great power ; they sung for about
half an hour; and then said to me, you see the wind is
calming, such is the power of our song. I was hurt at their
pretensions and replied ; you see the Ducks, the Plover and
other Birds, follow the ebb tide, they know the wind is calming
without your song : if you possess such power why did you
not sing on the first day of our being here. 'They gave no
answer, it is a sad weakness of the human character, and [one]
which is con tantly found, more, or less, in the lower orders
of thinly populated countries; they all possess, if we may
credit them, some superhuman power. The Ebb tide had
now retired about one and a half mile from us. Near sunset,
each of us cut a bundle of small willows, and with the Canoe
and paddles, carried them about a mile, when we laid the
Canoe down, spread the willows on the mud, and laid down
to await the return of the tide; as soon as it reached us, we
got into the canoe, and proceeded up the Kisiskatchewan
River for several miles, then crossed to the south shore and
o
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landed at a path® of four miles in length through woods of
small pines, on low, wet, marsh ground to York Factory,
thank good Providence.?

[ now return to the great marsh along which we travelled.
The aquatic fowl in the seasons of spring and autumn are
very numerous. They seem to confine themselves to a belt
of these great marshes, of about two miles in width from the
seashore, and this belt is mostly covered with small ponds ;
and the intervals have much short tender grass, which serves
for food, the interior of the marsh has too much moss. Of
these fowls the wild geese are the most numerous and the
most valuable, and of these the grey goose,® of which there
are four species, and the brent goose,* a lesser species of the
gray goose, it’s feathers are darker and it’s cry different. Of
the Snow Geese ® there are three varieties, the least of which
is of a blueish color,® they are all somewhat less than the gray
geese, but of richer meat. It may be remarked that of wild
fowl, the darker the feather, the ligchter the color of the
meat ; and the whiter the feather, the darker the meat, as
the Snow Goose and the Swan &c. The shooting of the wild
Geese, (or as it is called, the hunt) is of great importance to
the Factories not only for present fresh meat, but also
[because it] forms a supply of Provisions for a great part of
the winter ; the gray geese are the first to arrive in the early

I'his path or track is still used in crossing from the Nelson to the
Hayes river at York Factory, but the land is so wet and boggy that it is
always avoided when it is possible to go round the point of marsh be-
tween the two rivers in canoes

* Thompson arrived at York Factory about September 15, and on
that date the following entry was made in the books of the Company :
‘“ Gave as a gratuity to the two Indians, for the care they have taken of
David Thompson,

“brandy 3 gals 16 MB.
“tobacco 4 1bs. 4 MB.”
' Branta canadensis (Linn.). [E. A. P.]
¢ Probably Branta c. hutchinsi (Richardson). [E. A, P.
Chen h. nivalis (Forster). [E. A. P
Probably Blue Goose, Chen carulescens (Linn.).
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part of May; the Snow geese arrive about ten days after.
About ten of the best shots of the men of the Factory, with
several Indians, are now sent to the marshes to shoot them.
For this purpose each man has always two guns, each makes
what is called a Stand, this is composed of drift wood and
pine branches, about three feet high, six feet in diameter,
and half round in form, to shelter himself from the weather
and the view of the geese; each Stand is about 120 yards
from the other, or more, and forms a line on the usual passage
of the geese, [which is] always near the sea shore; two, or
three, parties are formed, as circumstances may direct ; each
hunter has about ten mock geese, which are sticks made and
painted to resemble the head and neck of the gray goose,
to which is added a piece of canvas for a body. They are
placed about twenty yards from the Stands, with their beak
to windward : the position in which the geese feed. When
the geese first arrive, they readily answer to the call of the
Hunter. The Indians imitate them so well that they would
alight among the mock geese, if the shots of the hunter did
not prevent them. The geese are all shot on the wing ; they
are too shy, and the marsh too level, to be approached. Some
good shots, in the spring hunt, kill from 70 to go geese, but
the general average is from 40 to 50 geese p° man, as the
season may be. The Snow Goose is very unsteady on the
wing, now high, now low, they are hard to hit, they seldom
answer to our call, but the Indians imitate them well ; for
the spring, they answer the call, but do not notice it in
autumn ; for the table, the Snow Goose is the richest bird
that flies. 'T'he feathers of the geese are taken care of and
sent to London, where they command a ready sale. The
feathers of four grey geese, and of five Snow geese weigh one
pound. The duration of their stay depends much on the
weather ; a month at the most, and seldom less than three
weeks. The flight of the geese is from daylight to about
8 am. and from § pm. to dusk. By the end of May, or the




36 DAVID

THOMPSON'S NARRATIVE

first week in June, the geese have all left us for their breeding
places, much farther to the northward. In the spring several
of the Geese are found with wild rice in their crops.! The
wild rice grows in abundance to the south westward; the
nearest place to York Factory are the small Lakes at the
mouth of the River Winipeg, distant about 420 miles. When
M" Wales was at Fort Churchill in 1769 to observe the
transit of Venus over the Sun,* from curiosity he several
times took angles of the swiftnes of the wild geese and found
that in a steady gale of wind, their flight before it was sixty
miles an hour. When shooting at them going before a gale
of wind, at the distance of 40 to 50 yards, the aim is taken
two or three inches before his beak. When going against the
wind, at the insertion of the neck. In the middle of July
-L'\H.l] 1\"tn‘r of a \\'[_‘, ]‘tl",'«‘ ~]«‘x l« ot :IIL'_\ g00se .\I‘!‘i\(‘\,l
from the southward, they have a deep harsh note, and are
called Gronkers, by others Barren Geese,® from its being sup-
}‘w(‘d 11.('\ never ].l\ eges, |? S0, lll\\\' 1 (hi\ Spec it‘ "I‘u['.l"
gated, they very seldom alight in our marshes; but as they
fly low a few of them are shot. Their meat is like that of
lllc common gray goose. | «iu not I‘cmcm'.u‘l ‘L‘L‘i”L’ l]lc -
geese in autumn. In the spring all the geese, ducks and other
fowls come from the southward ; in autumn they all come
from the northward. Their first arrival is in the early part
of September, and their stay about three weeks. They keep
arriving, night and day, and our solitary marshes become
covered with noisy, animated life. The same mode of shoot-
ing them, is now as in the spring, but they do not answer the
call so well, and the average number each man may kill is
from 25 to 30 geese for the season. The geese salted of the

! In 1895, while exploring the country east of Lake Winnipeg, I found
wild rice growing in some of the small streams as far north as latitude
53°, or only 350 miles south-west of York Factory

* See note on p. 9.

3 Probably barren individuals of the Canada Goose, Branta cana-
densis (Linn.). [E. A. P.]
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spring hunt, are better than those of autumn; they are
fatter, and more firm, those salted in Autumn are only be-
ginning to be fat, which, with young geese, in this state, make
poor salted food. In autumn, the last three days of the geese
appear to be wholly given in cleaning and adjusting every
feather of every part, instead of feeding at pleasure every-
where ; the Manito of the geese, ducks and other fowls had
given his orders, they collect, and form flocks of, from 40 to
60, or more; and seem to have leaders ; the Manito of the
aquatic fowl has now given his orders for their departure to
milder climates; his presence sees the setting in of winter,
and the freezing of the ponds &c. The leaders of the flock
have now a deep note. The order is given, and flock after
flock, in innumerable numbers, rise. Their flicht is of a
regular form, making an angle of about 25 degrees ; the two
sides of the angle are unequal, that side next to the sea being
more than twice the length of the side next to the land;
where I have counted 30 geese on one side, the short side
has only ten to twelve, and so in proportion ; the point of
the angle is a single goose, which leads the flock ; when tired
of opening the air, [it] falls into the rear of the short line,
and the goose next on the long, or sea, line, takes his place,
and thus in succession. Thus in two, or three days, these
extensive marshes, swarming with noisy life, become silent,
and wholly deserted ; except when wounded, no instance has
ever been known of geese, or ducks, being found in frozen
ponds, or Lakes. The Swan is sometimes frozen in, and loses
his life.

The different species of Geese on the east side of the
[Rocky] Mountains pass the winter in the mild climate of the
Floridas, the mouths of the Mississippe, and around the
Gulph of Mexico, from these shores the wild Geese and Swans
proceed to the northward as far as the Latitude of 67 to 69
north, where they have the benefit of the Sun’s light and heat
for the twenty four hours for incubation, and rarely breed
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under twenty hours of Sunlight. These wild birds proceed,
through the pathless air, from where they winter to where
they breed, a distance of about two thousand seven hundred
miles, in a straight line; and from the place of breeding to
the mouths of the Mississippe, and adjacent shores the same
distance. The question arises, by what means do the wild
geese make such long journeys with such precision of place ;
| the wise, and learned, civilized man answers, by Instinct, but
' what is Instinct: a property of mind that has never been
defined. The Indian believes the geese are directed by the
Manito, who has the care of them. Which of the two is
right.

The Frogs' now cease to croak ; for they must also prepare
for winter. A few Cranes® frequent these marshes, as also a
few Bitterns.® They pass the whole of the open season in
pairs, yet their eggs are never, or very rarely found, they are
so well hid in the rushes of quagmires which cannot be ap-
proached. The Bittern arrives and departs in pairs mostly
in the night, it is a bird of slow wing, easy to be killed. The
Cranes arrive, and depart in flocks of thirty to fifty, their
flight is an angle of full thirty degrees, both sides [of which]
are nearly equal ; I have never seen the leader quit his place.
They are good eating, fleshy, but not fat. They make the
best of broth: the ducks and lesser birds arrive and depart
in flocks, but in no regular order.

The society and occupations of the Factories along the
shores of Hudson’s Bay are so much alike, that the description
of one Factory may serve for all the others. I shall describe
York Factory, being the principal Factory and in point of
commerce worth all the other Factories.* The establishment

! Rana cantabrigensis lativeis Cope. [E, A, P.]
* Grus canadensis (Linn.). (E. A, P.]
\ ' Botaurus lentiginosus (Montagu). [E. A. P.)
* York Factory is situated on the top of a cliff of clay thirty feet high,
on the west bank of the Hayes river, five miles above its mouth. Oppo-
site to it the water in the river is from ten to twenty feet in depth, quite




YORK FACTORY AT THE MOUTH HAYES RIVER, MANITOBA

(Photograph : ]. B







LIFE AT A TRADING POST 39

was composed of a Resident, an Assistant, with one, or two
clerks, a Steward and about forty men, over whom there was
a foreman. The Ship for the Factory arrives generally about
the latter end of August, sometimes later, this depends on
their passage through Hudson’s Straits, which in some years

sufficiently deep for small ships or sloops of moderate draught, but at
the mouth of the river are extensive flats over which it is difficult to pass,
except at high tide, and over which the sea-going ships that bring the
supplies from England to York Factory do not attempt to cross.

At the present time the Factory consists of a series of buildings ar-
ranged around a quadrangle, some of which are large stores or warehouses,
while others are residences for the masters and employees engaged there.
The present buildings, or more probably smaller ones which preceded
them, were erected by Joseph Colen in 1789 and the following years, the
central ‘ depot " having been built some time in the early part of last
century.

Old York Fort was situated about half a mile below the present fort
on the same side of the river, and it was to this fort that Thompson
came when he arrived from Churchill in 1785. Previous to that time it
had been occupied by the English and French alternately for about a
hundred years, until 1782, when it was taken by the French under Admiral
de la Pérouse, and was burned to the ground, and the English inhabi-
tants were carried captive to France.

In the following year it was rebuilt by the Hudson’s Bay Company,
and from that time was occupied for several years; but in the spring of
1788 the ground on which it stood was flooded to a depth of several feet,
and Joseph Colen, who was in charge at the time, determined that he
would move it to a higher situation. Accordingly, shortly afterwards, he
commenced to build the fort on its present site, and by 1792 the moving
was completed, and the men with their goods and supplies were all at
the new fort.

Until the building of the Canadian Pacific Railway across the cone
tinent in 1885, the trading goods for the whole of the interior of the
western country from Hudson Bay to the Rocky Mountains, and even
beyond these mountains, were brought here from England, whence they
were distributed by canoes or boats throughout the interior country, and
the same boats which took the supplies into the country brought back to
York Factory loads of furs which were carried to England and were dis-
posed of in the markets of London.

Since the building of the Canadian Pacific Railway, over which trading
goods and furs can be easily carried in and out of the country, the im-
portance of York Factory as a centre of distribution has greatly decreased,
until now it is merely a distributing point for a few small fur-trading stations
within a radius of a few hundred miles that as yet have no easier and
more rapid mode of access to the civilized world.

—
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is sadly blocked up with ice ; the Ship anchors in the mouth
of the River, about five miles below the Factory, the whole
attention of all hands is turned with unloading, and reloading
of the Ship ; the time of doing which, depends on the weather,
and takes from ten to fifteen days. The ship having sailed
for London, this may be called the beginning of our year.
The regular occupations of the Factory now commence ;
eight or ten of the best shots among us, among which are sure
to be the clerks, with the few indians that may be near, are
sent off to the marshes to shoot geese, ducks, cranes &c for
the present supply of the Factory, and to be salted for the
winter. Axes are put in order, Boats got ready with Pro-
visions, and about twenty men sent up the River to the
nearest forests to cut down pine trees, branch them, lop off
the heads, and carry them on their shoulders to the great
wood pile, near the river bank ; the trees are so small that a
man generally carries two, or three, to the wood pile. When
the quantity required for fuel, is thus cut and piled, the wood
is taken by a large sledge drawn by the men to a bay of the
River, where rafts can be made and floated to the Factory,
which is completed in April, but not floated to the Factory
until June and July. Accounts, Books, grouse shooting &c
employ the time of those at the Factory. Winter soon sets
in ; the geese hunters return, and out of them are formed two
parties of three or four men, each for grouse shooting, snare-
ing hares &c. Fach party has a canvas tent, like a soldier’s
bell tent with the top cut off to let the smoke out. Fowling
pieces, ammunition, fish hooks and lines, steel traps and three
weeks of salted provisions, with our bedding of blankets &c
completes our equipment. The shore ice of the River is
now frozen to the width of half a mile, or more ; the current
of the River has much drift ice, it is time for the hunters to
be off, the boats are ready, and we are placed on the ice, with
four flat sleds, and a fine large Newfoundland Dog; the
Boats return and we are left to our exertions. Our party
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consisted of four men and an indian woman. We loaded the
sleds with the tent, our baggage and some provisions, leaving
the rest for another trip, each of us hauled about seventy
pounds and the fine dog 100 pounds weight. We proceeded
to a large Brook, called French Creek,! up which we went
about a mile to where the Pines of the forest were of some
size and clean growth; the tent poles were now cut, and
placed to form a circular area of about 12 to 14 feet diameter
and 12 feet in heighth; the door poles are the strongest,
about these poles we wrapped our tents, the fire place is in
the centre, and our beds of pine branches, with a Log next
to the fire. Our furniture [was] a three gallon brass kettle,
with a lesser one for water, two, or three tin dishes, spoons &c.
A Hoard is next made of Logs well notched into each other
of about eight feet in length, six feet wide at the bottom,
five feet in height, and the top narrowed to two feet covered
with Logs to secure our provisions and game from the
carnivorous animals. Our occupations were angling of Trout,*
snareing of Hares,® shooting white Grouse,* trapping of
Martens,® Foxes ® and Wolverines.” Our enemy the Polar Bear,
was prowling about, the sea not being sufficiently frozen to
allow him to catch Seals.

By the latter end of November we had procured sufficient
game to load three flat sleds, for the Factory, hauled by two of
us and our Dog. To arrive at the Factory took us the whole
of the day The same evening W™ Budge, a fine handsome
man, John Mellam, and the indian woman were frying pork

! French Creek is below and on the opposite side of Hayes river from
York Factory, and is seven miles distant from it in a direct line. Its
Indian name is Notawatowi Sipi, meaning ‘‘ The Creek-from-which-you-
fetch-the-people.”

* Cristivomer namaycush (Walbaum). [E. A, P.]

3 Lepus americanus Erxleben. [E. A. P.]

¢ Ptarmigan, Lagopus albus and L. rupestris. [E. A. P.]

& Martes americana abieticola (Preble). [E. A. P.]
.

Alopex lagopus innuitus (Merriam). [E. A. P.]
" Gulo luscus (Linn.). [E. A. P.]
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and grouse for supper, [when] the smell attracted a Polar
Bear, who marched to the Tent, and around it, his heavy
tread was heard, and no more cooking thought of. As usual
in the evening, the fowling pieces were being washed and
cleaned, and were then not fit for use, but there was a loaded
musquet. At length Bruin found the door, and thrust in his
head and neck, the Tent Poles prevented further entrance,
Budge climbed up the tent poles and left Mellam and his
indian woman to fight the Bear, the former snatched up the
Musket, it snapped ; seizing it by the muzzle he broke off the
stock on the head of the Bear, and then with hearty blows
applied the barrel and lock to his head ; the indian woman
caught up her axe on the other side of the door, and in like
manner struck Bruin on the head, such an incessant storm of
blows, [as] made him withdraw himself; he went to the
Hoard and began to tear it in pieces, for the game; a fowling
piece was quickly dried, loaded with twe balls, and fired into
him, the wound was mortal, he went a few paces and fell,
with a dreadful growl. Budge now wanted to descend from
the smoky top of the Tent, but the Woman with her axe in
her hand (2% 1bs) heaped wood on the fire, and threatened to
brain him if he came down. He begged hard for his life, she
was determined, fortunately Mellam snatched the axe from
her, but she never forgave him, for the indian woman pardons
Man for everything but want of courage, this is her sole
support and protection, there are no laws to defend her,
The next morning on examining the head of the Bear, the
skin was much bruised and cut, but the bone had not a mark
on it. We had two steel traps of double springs, with strong
iron teeth, weighing each seventy pounds, and five feet in
length, for Wolves' and Wolverines : one of these was baited
with a Grouse, and placed on the ice at the mouth of the
brook, a Polar Bear took the bait, the iron teeth closed on his
head, he went about half [a] mile and then laid down; the

! Canis occidentalis Richardson. [E. A, P.]
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next morning we traced the Bear, he rose up, a curious looking
figure with a trap of five feet across his nose, he went directly
for the sea, and we respectfully followed ; our guns had only
small shot ; when arrived at the edge of the ice, Bruin made
a halt, and no doubt thought such a trap across his nose
would be an impediment to swimming, and catching Seals,
wisely determined to get rid of it, turning round and looking
at us, he bent his head and the trap on the ice, and placing
his heavy fore paws on each of the springs, he loosened himself
from the trap, and looking at us with an air of contempt,
dashed into the sea, and swam away. We got the trap, but
his heavy paws had broken one of the springs and rendered
the trap useless. The other hunting party about three miles
to the eastward of us had also the visit of a Polar Bear; one
evening from the smell of fried pork and grouse, he came to
the tent, marched round, and round it, but found no entrance,
his heavy tread warned the inmates to be on their guard.
The bear reared himself up on the tent, he placed the claws
of his fore paws through the canvas, the man opposite ready
with his gun, guided by his paws, fired and mortally wounded
him; but in falling the Bear brought down the tent and
tent poles, under which, with the bear were three men and
one woman, whom, the Bear in the agonies of death, sadly
kicked about, until relieved by the man who had shot the
Bear, the tent was drawn over his head, and he was free.

I must return to our occupations ; of the speckled Trout*
we caught about ten dozen of two to three pounds weight,
through holes in the ice of the brook, they were readily
caught with a common hook and line, baited with the heart of
a Grouse; as the cold increased and the thickness of the ice,
the Trout went to deeper water, where we could not find
them. The Hares, when they go to feed, which is mostly
in the night time, keep a regular path in the snow, across
which a hedge is thrown of pine trees of close branches, but

I Cristivomey namaycush (Walbaum). [E. A.P.]
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cut away at the path; a long pole is tied to a tree, in such a
manner that the butt end shall overbalance the upper end
and the weight of a hare; to this end the snare of brass wire
is tied by a piece of strong twine, this end of the pole is tied
to the tree laid across the path, by a slip knot, and the snare
suspended at four inches above the snow. The Hare comes
bounding along, enters the snare, the slip knot is undone, the
top of the pole is free, the butt end by it’s weight descends,
and Puss is suspended by the snare about six to eight feet
above the surface of the snow. This height is required to
prevent them being taken by Foxes and Martens. The other
Hares that follow this path, have for the night a free passage ;
but the next day the snare is reset, until no more can be
caught ; where the Hares are plenty, hedges of pine trees,
with their branches extend 200 yards, or more, in length ;
on a fine Moonlight night the Hares move about freely, and
from eighteen to twenty [are] caught in a night, but in bad
weather, three, or four, or none; the average may be six to
eight p' night : of all furrs the furr of the hare is the warmest,
we place pieces of it in our mittens, the skin is too thin for any
other purpose. When the cold becomes very severe, we leave
off snareing until February or March, as the Hares lie still.
There are two species of white Grouse, the Rock! and the
Willow, the former is a lesser species with a black stripe round
the upper eyelid, and feeds among the rocks. The willow
Grouse® has a red stripe round the upper eyelid, 15 a finer
bird than the rock grouse, and one fifth larger: they are
both well feathere! to the very toe nails ; all their feathers are
double, lie close on each other, two in one quill, or socket,
and appear as one feather; the under side of the foot have
hard, rough, elastic feathers like bristles. The white Grouse,
in the very early part of winter, arrive in small flocks of ten
to twenty, but as the winter advances and the cold increases,

! Lagopus rupestris (Gmelin). [E. A, P.]

? Lagopus albus (Gmelin). [E \; y
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they become more plentiful, and form flocks of fifty to one
hundred ; they live on the buds of the willows, which cover
the ground between the sea shore and the pine forests; on
the south side of Hayes’s River, there is a strip of alluvial
formed by a few bold Brooks of half, to one mile in width,
and about ten miles in length, next to impassable in summer
for marsh and water, where they feed ; they are shot on the
ground as they feed: at first each man may average ten
grouse p° day; but by the beginning of December they
become numerous, and the average of each man may be
about twenty p° day. Fach grouse weighs two pounds,
forming a good load to walk with in snow shoes ; and at length
to carry to the tent; when the feathers are taken off, the
bowels taken out, and in this state [they are] put into the
hoard to freeze, and thus taken to the Factory; they now
average one pound each, and the feathers of twenty grouse
weigh one pound. At night the Grouse, each singly, burrows
in the snow, and when the cold is intense, do the same in the
middle of the day. However intense the cold, even to
85 degrees below the freezing point, I never knew any to
perish with cold, when not wounded ; the same of all other
birds, kind Providence has admirably adapted them to the
climate.

After the bitter cold of December and January is passed,
they congregate in large flocks. Each man now bags from
thirty to forty grouse p* day, but as this is a Load too heavy
to hunt with, part is buried in the Snow and only taken up
when going to the Tent. 'I'he weather now allowing us to
load our guns; for in the intense cold, the shot is no sooner
fired than our hands are in our large mittens; we walk and
pick up the bird, then get the powder in, and walk again